
 

 
1 

Committee Administrator 
Carole Oliphant 

E-Mail: coliphant@middevon.gov.uk 
 
 
PLEASE NOTE:  this meeting will take place at Phoenix House, but members of the 
Public and Press can and should attend via Zoom only. Please do not attend Phoenix 
House without prior agreement. The attached Protocol for Hybrid Meetings explains 
how this will work. 
 
Join Zoom Meeting  
 
https://zoom.us/j/94538112887?pwd=OGtJMU1wSjg5VGM0RzlocFl2UXpmQT09  
Meeting ID: 945 3811 2887  
Passcode: 447225  
One tap mobile  
08002605801,,94538112887#,,,,*447225# The United Kingdom Toll-free  
08003582817,,94538112887#,,,,*447225# The United Kingdom Toll-free  
Dial by your location  
        0 800 260 5801 The United Kingdom Toll-free  
        0 800 358 2817 The United Kingdom Toll-free  
        0 800 031 5717 The United Kingdom Toll-free  
Meeting ID: 945 3811 2887  
Passcode: 447225  
 
 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
A MEETING of the PLANNING COMMITTEE will be held in the Phoenix Chamber, 
Phoenix House, Tiverton on Wednesday, 8 September 2021 at 2.15 pm 
 

The next special meeting of the Committee will take place on Wednesday, 22 
September 2021 at 2.15 pm in the Phoenix Chamber, Phoenix House, 
Tiverton 

 
STEPHEN WALFORD 
Chief Executive 
31 August 2021 
 
Councillors: Mrs F J Colthorpe (Chairman), G Barnell, E J Berry, S J Clist, L J Cruwys, 
Mrs C P Daw, R J Dolley, C J Eginton, P J Heal, F W Letch and B G J Warren 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

https://zoom.us/j/94538112887?pwd=OGtJMU1wSjg5VGM0RzlocFl2UXpmQT09


 

 
2 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 

MEMBERS ARE REMINDED OF THE NEED TO MAKE DECLARATIONS 
OF INTEREST PRIOR TO ANY DISCUSSION WHICH MAY TAKE PLACE 

 
1   APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS   

To receive any apologies for absence and notices of appointment of 
substitute. 
 

2   HYBRID MEETING PROTOCOL  (Pages 5 - 12) 
Members to note the Hybrid Meetings Protocol. 
 

3   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   
To receive any questions relating to items on the Agenda from members 
of the public and replies thereto. 
 
Note: A maximum of 30 minutes is allowed for this item. 
 

4   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT   
Councillors are reminded of the requirement to declare any interest, 
including the type of interest, and reason for that interest at each item. 
 

5   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 13 - 46) 
Members to consider whether to approve the minutes as a correct 
record of the meeting held on 18th August 2021. 
 
Members to reconsider the minutes of the meeting of 14 July 2021. 
 

6   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS   
  To receive any announcements the Chairman may wish to make.   

 
7   DEFERRALS FROM THE PLANS LIST   

To report any items appearing in the Plans List which have been 
deferred.  
 

8   THE PLANS LIST  (Pages 47 - 172) 
To consider the planning applications contained in the list. 
 

9   MAJOR APPLICATIONS WITH NO DECISION  (Pages 173 - 174) 
List attached for consideration of major applications and potential site 
visits. 
 

10   APPEAL DECISIONS  (Pages 175 - 176) 
To receive for information a list of recent appeal decisions.  
 

11   PLANNING PERFORMANCE  (Pages 177 - 184) 
To receive a report of the Interim Development Management Manager 
presenting Planning and Building Control performance. 
 

 



 

 
3 

Covid-19 and meetings  
 
From 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold formal meetings in person. 
However, the Council is also required to follow government guidance about safety 
during the pandemic. The Council will enable all people to continue to participate in 
meetings via Zoom.  
 
You are strongly encouraged to participate via Zoom to keep everyone safe - there is 
limited capacity in meeting rooms if safety requirements are to be met. There are 
restrictions and conditions which apply to those in the building and the use of the 
building. You must not attend a meeting at Phoenix House without complying with the 
requirements in the new protocol for meetings. You must follow any directions you are 
given.  
 
Please read the new meeting protocol which is available here: Hybrid Protocol - August 
2021.pdf (middevon.gov.uk) 
 
If you want to ask a question or speak, email your full name to 
Committee@middevon.gov.uk by no later than 4pm on the day before the meeting. This 
will ensure that your name is on the list to speak and will help us ensure that you are not 
missed – as you can imagine, it is easier to see and manage public speaking when 
everyone is physically present in the same room. Notification in this way will ensure the 
meeting runs as smoothly as possible. 
 
If you would like a copy of the Agenda in another format (for example in large print) 
please contact Carole Oliphant on: 
E-Mail: coliphant@middevon.gov.uk 
 
Public Wi-Fi is available in all meeting rooms. 
 
 

https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/documents/s22788/Hybrid%20Protocol%20-%20August%202021.pdf
https://democracy.middevon.gov.uk/documents/s22788/Hybrid%20Protocol%20-%20August%202021.pdf
mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk
mailto:coliphant@middevon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1  

Mid Devon District Council – Hybrid Meeting Protocol 
 

1. Introduction 
 

Remote meetings via Zoom have been used during the Covid-19 pandemic in 
accordance with the temporary legislation. That legislation ceases to apply from 
7 May 2021. However, Covid-19 legislation and guidance continues in place and 
this places specific requirements for meetings in relation to health and safety, risk 
assessments and related matters. 

 
The Council has therefore put in place temporary arrangements which will enable 
meetings to take place in compliance with legislation, whilst providing alternative 
participation opportunities to maintain a Covid-19 safe environment. All are asked 
to remember that the Council’s offices at Phoenix House are not just meeting 
rooms – they are the place of employment for many and there are implications 
beyond just how the meetings are held. 

 
The arrangements set out in this Protocol will apply to meetings from 7 May 2021 
until further notice. At the date of this Protocol, it is expected that arrangements 
may change later this year – because the Government may change the law, the 
Covid- 19 pandemic may have further receded and/or the Council makes 
alternative arrangements. 

 
2. Hybrid arrangements – how will they work? 

 

(a) Members (councillors) entitled to vote 
 

All Members entitled to vote in a meeting must be present in the same room – if 
they are to be classed as ‘present’ (count towards the quorum) and to cast a vote. 
If a Member entitled to vote is not in the room, they may still participate via Zoom 
(see below), but they will not be present (quorum) nor be able to vote. 

 
(b) Other Members, Officers and the Public 

 
The Council will use Zoom to enable all other Members, officers and the Public to 
attend and participate in meetings safely. Zoom will be enabled in all public 
meetings. Those attending the meeting physically will be able to see and hear 
Zoom participants via the existing large TV/monitor screens in the meeting rooms. 

The primary objective is to ensure that meetings can continue as safely as possible 
and that the rights of Members and the Public are not diminished simply because 
the meeting is being held through a mix of online and face-to-face means. The 
Chairman will retain control and discretion over the conduct of the meeting and the 
Zoom host will provide administrative support to facilitate the meeting. 
 

Please note that, exceptionally, meeting arrangements may change – in response 
to legislation, court decisions, or risk. This may include a meeting being 
postponed, or the hybrid arrangements changing or being withdrawn. We ask that 
you check the arrangements in advance of joining or attending the meeting. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



2  

Those on Zoom will be able to hear Members in the room and see them – although 
this will be a whole room view and there will be no zooming in on individual 
members. It is essential therefore those Members present in the room use the 
microphones at all times and identify themselves before speaking. 

 
There will be some Officers in the room – the Committee Administrator, the Zoom 
host and, at times, an additional support officer. There may also be a meeting room 
host to manage the safety of the meeting. All other Officers should use Zoom, 
unless they are specifically invited into the room by the Chairman of the meeting. 

 
3. Zoom 

 
Zoom is the system the Council will be using for those attending Hybrid meetings 
remotely. It has functionality for audio, video, and screen sharing and you do not 
need to be a member of the Council or have a Zoom account to join a Zoom 
meeting. 

 
4. Access to documents 

 
Member Services will publish the agenda and reports for committee meetings on 
the Council’s website in line with usual practice. Paper copies of agendas will only 
be made available to those who have previously requested this and also the Chair 
of a meeting. 

 
If any other Member wishes to have a paper copy, they must notify Member 
Services before the agenda is published, so they can arrange to post directly – it 
may take longer to organise printing, so as much notice as possible is appreciated. 

 
The Public should continue to access agendas via the Council’s website - and are 
encouraged to do so even after the offices at Phoenix House are open again. 

 
5. Setting up the Meeting for Zoom attendance 

 

This will be done by Member Services. They will send a meeting request via 
Outlook which will appear in Members’ Outlook calendar. Members and Officers 
will receive a URL link to click on to join the meeting. The Public will use the Zoom 
details on the front of the agenda. The telephone dial-in via Zoom will also be 
available. 

 
6. Public Access and Participation 

 
(a) Public Access: 

 
Members of the Public will be able to use a web link and standard internet browser. 
This will be displayed on the front of the agenda. Members of the Public should 
attend a meeting via Zoom, unless there are exceptional circumstances justifying 
attendance in person. 

Page 6



3  

If any member of the Public still wishes to attend in person, they must notify 
Member Services at least 3 working days before the meeting. Notifications must 
be sent by email to: 

 
Committee@middevon.gov.uk 

 
Day of meeting Notice given by 

Monday Previous Wednesday 

Tuesday Previous Thursday 

Wednesday Previous Friday 

Thursday Monday 

Friday Tuesday 

 

The meeting risk assessment may need to be updated. Member Services will liaise 
with the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and the Chairman of the meeting. A 
decision will be taken on whether attendance in person can be safely 
accommodated. 

 
(b) Public Participation (speaking): 

 
Public questions will continue in line with the Council’s current arrangements as 
far as is practicable. However, to ensure that the meeting runs smoothly and that 
no member of the public is missed, all those who wish to speak must register by 
4pm on the day before the meeting. They should email their full name to 
Committee@middevon.gov.uk. If they wish to circulate their question in advance, 
that would be helpful. 

 
At public question time, the Chair will ask each registered person to speak at the 
appropriate time. In the normal way, the public should state their full name, the 
agenda item they wish to speak to before they proceed with their question. Unless 
they have registered, a member of the public may not be called to speak, except 
at the discretion of the Chairman. 

 
If a member of the public wishes to ask a question but cannot attend the meeting 
for whatever reason, there is nothing to prevent them from emailing members of 
the Committee with their question, views or concern in advance. However, if they 
do so, it would be helpful if a copy could be sent to Committee@middevon.gov.uk 
as well. 

 
7. Arrangements for any person attending meetings at Phoenix House 

 
Anyone attending a meeting in person must observe the following requirements: 

 
(a) For non-voting members, officers and the Public – are there exceptional 

circumstances to justify attending? If so, please notify in advance and in 
paragraph 6 above. It is essential that the Council knows who is 
attending and how many will be in the room, so that the meeting risk 
assessment can be updated. 

Page 7

mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk
mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk
mailto:Committee@middevon.gov.uk


4  

(b) Do not attend if you: have any symptoms of Covid-19; are self-isolating 
(with or without a positive Covid-19 test); or are in a period of post-travel 
quarantine. 

 
(c) Wear a mask at all times except when invited to speak by the Chairman 

of the meeting. If you have a medical exemption for wearing a mask, 
please attend via Zoom unless you are a Member who must attend to 
vote. 

 
(d) Use the hand sanitiser which is available in the building. 

 
(e) Follow the directions for entering, moving around and exiting the 

building. Follow the instructions of any Officer present to manage the 
safety of the meeting and/or the Chairman. 

 
(f) Sign into the meeting if requested to do so – you may be asked to leave 

contact details 
 

(g) Enter and leave the building promptly – do not gather inside after the 
meeting has finished, or during any break in the meeting 

 
(h) Bring your own water/refreshments, as these will not be available for the 

time being. 
 

(i) Maintain social distancing throughout – this is 2 metres apart, or 1 metre 
with additional safeguards (e.g. face masks). 

 
 

8. Starting the Meeting 
 

At the start of the meeting, the Member Services Officer will check all required 
attendees are present and that there is a quorum. If there is no quorum, the 
meeting will be adjourned. This applies if, during the meeting, it becomes inquorate 
for whatever reason. 

 
The Chair will remind all Members, Officers and the Public attending via Zoom that 
all microphones must be muted, unless and until they are speaking. This 
prevents background noise, coughing etc. which is intrusive and disruptive during 
the meeting. The Hosting Officer will enforce this and will be able to turn off 
participant mics when they are not in use. 

 
9. Declaration of Interests 

 
Members should declare their interests in the usual way. A Member with a 
disclosable pecuniary interest is required to the leave the room. If they are 
attending via Zoom, they will be moved to the waiting room for the duration of the 
item. 

 
10. The Meeting and Debate 

 
(a) For Members and Officers physically present 

Page 8



5  

Each member should raise their hand to indicate a request to speak. When called, 
they must identify themselves for the recording and for the benefit of those 
attending via Zoom. The microphone must be used when speaking – standing will 
make it difficult for those on Zoom to hear and is discouraged, including at 
meetings of Full Council. 

 
(b) For any person attending via Zoom 

 
The Council will not be using the Chat function. The Chairman will call speakers in 
accordance with the usual rules i.e. either at Public Question Time, or for Members 
and Officers, when they raise their Zoom hand to speak. 

 
No decision or outcome will be invalidated by a failure of the Chair to call a member 
to speak – remote management of meetings is intensive and the Hybrid 
arrangements are likely to be more so. It is reasonable to expect that some 
requests will be inadvertently missed from time to time. 

 
When referring to reports or making specific comments, Members and Officers 
should refer to the report and page number whenever possible. This will help all 
present or in attendance to have a clear understanding of what is being discussed. 

 
11. Voting 

 
Voting for meetings in person is normally through a show of hands. The Member 
Services Officer will announce the numerical result of the vote for the benefit of 
those attending via Zoom. 

 
12. Meeting Etiquette Reminder for Zoom attendees 

 

 Mute your microphone – you will still be able to hear what is being said. 

 Only speak when invited to do so by the Chair. 

 Speak clearly and please state your name each time you speak 

 If you’re referring to a specific page, mention the page number. 

 

13. Part 2 Reports and Debate 
 

There are times when council meetings are not open to the public, when 
confidential, or “exempt” issues – as defined in Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 – are under consideration. 

 
If there are members of the public and press attending the meeting, then the 
Member Services Officer will, at the appropriate time, remove them to a waiting 
room for the duration of that item. They can then be invited back in when the 
business returns to Part 1. 

 

Please turn off smart speakers such as Amazon Echo (Alexa), Google Home or 
smart music devices. These could inadvertently record phone or video 
conversations, which would not be appropriate during the consideration of 
confidential items. 

Page 9



6  

14. Interpretation of standing orders 
 

Where the Chairman is required to interpret the Council’s Constitution and 
procedural rules and how they apply to remote attendance, they may take advice 
from the Member Services Officer or Monitoring Officer prior to making a ruling. 
However, the Chair’s decision shall be final. 

 
15. Disorderly Conduct by Members 

 
If a Member behaves in the manner as outlined in the Constitution (persistently 
ignoring or disobeying the ruling of the Chair or behaving irregularly, improperly or 
offensively or deliberately obstructs the business of the meeting), any other 
Member may move 'That the member named be not further heard' which, if 
seconded, must be put to the vote without discussion. 

 
If the same behaviour persists and a Motion is approved 'that the member named 
do leave the meeting', then (if attending via Zoom) they will be removed as a 
participant by the Member Services Officer. 

 
16. Disturbance from Members of the Public 

 
If any member of the public interrupts a meeting the Chairman will warn them 
accordingly. If that person continues to interrupt or disrupt proceedings the 
Chairman may ask the Member Services Officer to remove them as a participant 
from the meeting. 

 
17. Technical issues – meeting management 

 
If the Chairman, the Hosting Officer or the Member Services Officer identifies a 
problem with the systems from the Council’s side, the Chairman should either 
declare a recess while the fault is addressed or, if the fault is minor (e.g. unable to 
bring up a presentation), it may be appropriate to move onto the next item of 
business in order to progress through the agenda. If it is not possible to address 
the fault, the meeting will be adjourned until such time as it can be reconvened. 

 
If the meeting was due to determine an urgent matter and it has not been possible 
to continue because of technical difficulties, the Chief Executive, Leader and 
relevant Cabinet Member, in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, shall explore 
such other means of taking the decision as may be permitted by the Council’s 
constitution. 

 
Where any Member, Officer or the Public experience their own technical problems 
during the course of a meeting e.g. through internet connectivity or otherwise, the 
meeting will not be automatically suspended or adjourned. 

 
 

18. Technical issues – Individual Responsibility (Members and Officers) 

Page 10



7  

Many members, officers and the Public live in places where broadband speeds 
are poor, but technical issues can arise at any time for a number of reasons. The 
following guidelines, if followed, should help reduce disruption. 

 

 Join public Zoom meetings by telephone if there is a problem with the 
internet. Before all meetings, note down or take a photograph of the front 
page of the agenda which has the necessary telephone numbers. Annex 1 
to this protocol contains a brief step-by-step guide to what to expect 

 

 Consider an alternative location from which to join the meeting, but staying 
safe and keeping confidential information secure. For officers, this may 
mean considering whether to come into the office, subject to this being safe 
and practicable (childcare etc.) 

 

 Have to hand the telephone number of someone attending the meeting – 
and contact them if necessary to explain the problem in connecting 

 

 Officers should have an ‘understudy’ or deputy briefed and on standby to 
attend and present as needed (and their telephone numbers to hand) 

Page 11



8  

Annex 1 
 

Phone only access to zoom meetings 
 

(Before you start make sure you know the Meeting ID and the Meeting 
Password) – Both of these are available on the agenda for the meeting 

 
Call the toll free number either on the meeting agenda or on the Outlook 
appointment (this will start with 0800 -------- ) 

 
(Ensure your phone is on ‘speaker’ if you can) 

 

A message will sound saying “Welcome to Zoom, enter your meeting ID followed 
by the hash button” 

 

 Enter Meeting ID followed by # 

 

Wait for next message which will say “If you are a participant, please press hash 
to continue” 

 

 Press # 

Wait for next message which will say “Enter Meeting Password followed by hash” 
 

 Enter 6 digit Meeting Password followed by # 

 
Wait for the following two messages: 

 

“You are currently being held in a waiting room, the Host will release you from 
‘hold’ in a minute” 

 
Wait…… 

 

“You have now entered the meeting” 
 

Important notes for participating in meetings 
 

Press *6 to toggle between ‘mute’ and ‘unmute’ (you should always ensure you 
are muted until you are called upon to speak) 

 

If you wish to speak you can ‘raise your hand’ by pressing *9. Wait for the 
Chairman to call you to speak. The Host will lower your hand after you have 
spoken. Make sure you mute yourself afterwards. 

Page 12



 

Planning Committee – 18 August 2021 90 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the PLANNING COMMITTEE held on 18 August 2021 
at 2.15 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors Mrs F J Colthorpe (Chairman) 

G Barnell, S J Clist, Mrs C Collis, 
L J Cruwys, R J Dolley, J M Downes, 
C J Eginton, P J Heal, B A Moore and 
B G J Warren 
 

Apologies  
Councillor(s) 
 

E J Berry, Mrs C P Daw and F W Letch 
 

Also Present  
Councillor(s) R M Deed and R F Radford 

 
Also Present  
Officer(s):  Nick Hill (Interim Planning Solicitor), Myles Joyce (Interim 

Development Management Manager), Dean Emery 
(Corporate Manager for Revenues, Benefits and 
Recovery), Helen Govier (Principal Planning Officer), 
Adrian Devereaux (Area Team Leader), Angharad Williams 
(Area Team Leader), Sally Gabriel (Member Services 
Manager) and Carole Oliphant (Member Services Officer) 
 

 
69 CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (0.03.26)  

 
The Chairman read the following statement: 
 
Item 9 has been deferred as the agreed minutes are now under dispute by Members 
of this committee. For openness and transparency, the Minutes of 14th July 2021 
will, therefore, be brought back to Committee in September and once agreed will be 
re-signed. Once the minutes of the meeting on 14th July have been agreed, the 
implications report will be brought before Committee for determination. 
 
Members of the public present should be aware that questions asked of this 
application cannot now be answered at this meeting. You will be able to ask 
questions when the implications report is brought back to Committee. 
 

70 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (0.04.49)  
 
Apologies were received from Cllrs E J Berry, Mrs C P Daw and F W Letch and were 
substituted by Cllrs A Moore, Mrs C Collis and J Downes 
 

71 HYBRID MEETING PROTOCOL (0.05.25)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, the *Hybrid Meeting Protocol. 
 
Note: *Protocol previously circulated and attached to the minutes 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

Planning Committee – 18 August 2021 91 

 
72 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (0.05.47)  

 
Linnea Mills referring to item 1 on the plan list stated: 
 
In respect of the Pleasant Streams application (20/02128/FULL), has the totality of 
evidence submitted and considered on the applicant’s circumstances and need for 
this accommodation been published on the application website or in the Committee 
Report – or is there additional information that has been considered but not made 
public?” 
 
The Chairman stated that the answer would be provided when the application was 
discussed. 
 

73 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (0.12.25)  
 
Members were reminded of the need to declare interests as appropriate. 
 

74 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (0.12.40)  
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 11th August 2021 were agreed as a true record 
and SIGNED by the Chairman. 
 

75 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (0.13.42)  
 
The Chairman had no announcements to make. 
 

76 DEFERRALS FROM THE PLANS LIST (0.13.46)  
 
There were no deferrals from the Plans List 
 

77 THE PLANS LIST (0.14.01)  
 
The Committee considered the applications in the *Plans List.   
 
Note: *List previously circulated and attached to the minutes. 
 

a) Application 20/02128/FULL – Change of use of land for the provision of 6 
permanent pitches for the use of gypsy and traveller family, formation of 
a new vehicular access, hardstanding and associated works 

 
The Planning Officer outlined the application by way of a presentation which 
highlighted the site location plan, the proposed site layout, aerial images, 
photographs of the site and views from neighbouring properties. 
 
She explained that the site had previously benefited from a personal condition for 3 
mobile homes and that Devon County Council Highways Authority had no objections 
to the application. The application included a provision of a sewage treatment plant. 
 
In response to a public question she confirmed that officers were satisfied that 
sufficient information had been received in relation to the applicant’s status as a 
gypsy and traveller and that consideration had been given to information that had not 

Page 14



 

Planning Committee – 18 August 2021 92 

been made publically available due to the personal nature of the information. She 
confirmed that Devon County Council Gypsy and Traveller Liaison Officer had 
confirmed in their consultation response that they are satisfied that the applicant met 
with the definition of gypsy and travellers as set out in the Government’s planning 
policy for traveller sites. 
 
In response to Member questions she explained that the application was partly 
retrospective and that the applicant was already occupying some of the site. The 
application did not seek to obtain authorisation for the unauthorised development 
which had taken place outside the red line area. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The views of the objector who stated that although the application should not 
be permitted, neighbouring residents had put forward alternative proposals 
which were a compromise of the current application but would be acceptable 
to them. There were concerns about the increased foul water and drainage 
and there were too many unknowns about the current and future occupants 

 The views of the agent who stated that the site had been a Gypsy and 
Traveller site since 1988 and that the application met the Gypsy and Traveller 
Design Guidance. The status of the applicant had been confirmed by DCC 
and that the family wanted to stay and work in the community. That the 
applicant should not have their application dictated by neighbours 

 The views of Halberton Parish Council who stated that the Planning 
Inspectorate had previously refused an application on the site and it should be 
down to the Inspectorate to determine this application 

 The views of the Ward Member who stated that a previous condition had 
required the site to be returned to agricultural use after the previous occupants 
had left the site and this had not appended. A previous application for 4 
caravans had been refused under appeal and therefore Members should not 
be considering a larger site of 6 caravans. He requested that the application 
be deferred so that Planning Officers could renegotiate with the applicants and 
that the committee consider visiting the site. 

 The views of a neighbouring Ward Member who stated that the site had a 
history of being granted permission with a personal condition that had been 
ignored. That there was a lack of enforcement action against breaches of 
conditions and that the site was in open countryside and contrary to Policies 
DM1 and DM14 

 The views of a Committee Member who was also an neighbouring Ward 
Member who referenced emails between the Planning Officer and Forward 
Planning Team which were available on the public website. That an 
application for a Gypsy and Traveller site in the Willand ward had been 
allowed on appeal, but this was under a previous policy and that there was 
nothing within current policy which would allow this site 

 The views of Members that there was a lot of unauthorised development 
already on the site and that enforcement action should be taken 

 The views of Members that they would need to view the site and understand 
the application boundaries and what had already been built 

 
It was therefore RESOLVED that the application be deferred to enable a full Planning 
Committee site visit to take place to enable Members to view the site and 
development which had already taken place and to view the highways arrangements. 

Page 15



 

Planning Committee – 18 August 2021 93 

 
Members requested that the Planning Officer ask the DCC Highways Officer to be in 
attendance at the site visit if possible. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr P Heal and seconded by Cllr G Barnell) 
 
Reason for the decision: No decision was made 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) Cllrs Mrs F J Colthorpe, G Barnell, B A Moore, S J Clist, L J Cruwys, Mrs C 
Collis, R J Dolley, C J Eginton, P J Heal, J Downes and B G J Warren made 
declarations in accordance with the Protocol of Good Practice for Councillors 
dealing with planning matters as they had received correspondence from 
objectors 

ii.) Cllr R J Dolley declared a personal interest as he knew people in the area 
iii.) Mr Mills spoke as the objector 
iv.) Glen Crocker spoke as the agent 
v.) Cllr Furmedge spoke on behalf of Halberton Parish Council 
vi.) Cllr R F Radford spoke as Ward Member 
vii.) Cllr B Evans provided a written statement as neighbouring Ward Member, 

which was read out by the Chairman 
viii.) Cllr B G J Warren spoke as neighbouring Ward Member 
ix.) The following late information was provided: 
 

20/02128/FULL - Change of use of land for the provision of 6 permanent pitches 
for the use of gypsy and traveller family, formation of a new vehicular access, 
hardstanding and associated works - Pleasant Streams Uffculme Cullompton. 

 
17/08/21 

 
1. At page 3 under the proposed development section, the area of the site 

that has previously been used for the siting of three mobile homes is 
approximately 0.13 hectares rather than 1.3 hectares as stated. 
 

2. Since the officer report was drafted further representations have been 
received from a member of the public and CPRE Devon, the additional 
points that have been raised and were not previously listed within 
representations are summarised below; 

 
 

 Clarity is sought on the up to date supply and need for gypsy and traveller 
sites to justify a permanent gypsy and traveller site for 6 units in this 
countryside location 

 Why has the GTAA not been updated in 7 years?  

 The size of existing allocated sites? 

 Does the scale of development provide a well-balanced site where 
amenity, security and management are achievable? 

 How does the appraisal relate to national standards applied to housing and 
the specific requirements of gypsy and travellers 

 As a permanent site for 6 units how does this compare to the terms of pitch 
and size of pitch? 

Page 16



 

Planning Committee – 18 August 2021 94 

 There is no measurable biodiversity net gain attributed to this proposal to 
align with national planning policy and the emerging Environment Bill 

 Where is the Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal to justify mitigation 
methods being conditioned? 

 Clarity is needed in relation to the poultry unit and regularisation of this 
situation. 

 
Policy position: The Inspector responsible for examining the Local Plan did 
raise some issues in relation to the provision for Gypsies, Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople and noted that it does not provide in full, in specific 
terms at least, for the need identified in the Plan for 35 pitches for Gypsies and 
Travellers and 11 plots for Travelling Showpeople. This was considered in 
detail throughout the examination process. However, as the Council has a 
demonstrable record of windfall sites for Gypsies and Travellers coming 
forward and provided that relevant policies make proper provision for these 
windfall sites to come forward (which was subject to Main Modifications), the 
Inspector was content that the Plan can still function in a positive and effective 
way. The GTAA is due to be updated later this year/early next year. Officers 
are currently preparing a project brief and have started discussions with the 
Exeter Housing Market authorities to progress this in partnership. 
 
Housing standards/layout/ amenity: The allocated gypsy and traveller sites are 
for between 5- 10 pitches, these form part of the larger site allocation, the 
allocations do not specifically identify a site area for the pitches. The technical 
housing standards- nationally described space standard would not be 
applicable to a development of this nature. The submitted block plan 
demonstrates pitches are large enough to accommodate a mobile home, 
touring caravan, parking and amenity space. 
 
Ecology: Section 7 of the officer report sets out the biodiversity enhancements 
that the ecologist recommends are incorporated in the scheme (bird and bat 
nesting boxes), this is in addition to the 110m of new native hedgerow that is 
proposed to be provided which would secure a net gain in the hedgerow 
habitat on the site. The percentage net gain has not been calculated using the 
Natural England biodiversity metric tool, however as the Environment Bill has 
not yet been passed this is not a statutory requirement and officers are 
satisfied, based on the ecologist’s advice and mitigation and enhancement 
measures that can be secured by condition (see conditions 3, 11, 14 and 16) 
that appropriate biodiversity enhancements can be secured in accordance 
with policies S1 and S14 of the Mid Devon Local Plan. 
 
LVIA: In this case it was not considered necessary to require a Landscape and 
Visual Impact Appraisal, the case officer has visited the site and the 
assessment of landscape and visual impacts are set out at section 3 of the 
officer report. Poultry unit: it is reiterated that the unauthorised development 
outside of the site area does not form part of this application. It is likely that a 
Public Health Officer will be in attendance at committee to advise on their 
involvement in relation to the environmental concerns that have arisen on site. 
 

3. As indicated at section 6 of the officer report a condition is proposed 
to secure an appropriate method of surface water drainage; 

 

Page 17



 

Planning Committee – 18 August 2021 95 

19. Within 3 months of the date of this decision there shall be submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority full details of the 
means of surface water drainage from the site which is to be implemented in 
accordance with the phasing plan outlined in condition 3 above. The submitted 
details shall include results of infiltration testing in accordance with BRE 
Digest 365. 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, the approved drainage infrastructure shall be 
implemented in accordance with the phasing plan required by condition 3 
which will set out the timeframe for completion of the approved works. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory and sustainable surface water drainage 
system is provided in accordance with policies S9 and DM1 of the Mid Devon 
Local Plan 2013- 2033. 

 
78 APPLICATION 19/01679/MFUL - CONSTRUCTION OF GROUND MOUNTED 

SOLAR PV PANELS TO GENERATE UP TO 49.9MW (SITE AREA 60.78HA) AND 
BATTERY STORAGE FACILITY TOGETHER WITH ALL ASSOCIATED WORKS, 
EQUIPMENT AND NECESSARY INFRASTRUCTURE - LAND AT NGR 303437 
103555 EAST OF LANGFORD MILL AND TYE FARM, LANGFORD  
 
The item was deferred. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 3.31 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 18



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 36 

MID DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
MINUTES of a MEETING of the PLANNING COMMITTEE held on 14 July 2021 at 
2.15 pm 
 
Present   
Councillors 
 

Mrs F J Colthorpe (Chairman) 
E J Berry, S J Clist, L J Cruwys, 
Mrs C P Daw, R J Dolley, C J Eginton, 
P J Heal, F W Letch, B G J Warren and 
B Holdman 
 

Apologies  
Councillor(s) 
 

G Barnell 
 

Also Present  
Councillor(s) 
 

R Evans 
 

Present  
Officers:  
 

Myles Joyce (Interim Development 
Management Manager), Arron  Beecham 
(Forward Planning Officer), Nick Hill (Interim 
Planning Solicitor), Adrian Devereaux (Area 
Team Leader), Helen Govier (Principal 
Planning Officer), Daniel Rance (Principal 
Planning Officer), Carole Oliphant (Member 
Services Officer) and Sarah Lees (Member 
Services Officer) 
 

 
 
 

39 ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRMAN (0.04.04)  
 
Cllr P J Heal was duly elected Vice Chairman for the remainder of the municipal year. 
 

40 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (0.05.55)  
 
Apologies were received from Cllr G Barnell who was substituted by Cllr B Holdman. 
 

41 HYBRID MEETINGS PROTOCOL (0.06.10)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, the Hybrid Meetings Protocol.  
 
Note: *Protocol previously circulated and attached to the minutes. 
 

42 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (0.06.25)  
 
Jan Jones spoke in relation to the proposed Solar Farm at Langford…… I am 
speaking on behalf of the residents of Langford and the surrounding areas who are 
unable to attend due to work commitments. I have two questions, my first is, can you 
tell me why this proposal is even being considered if in the Mid Devon Solar PV 

Page 19



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 37 

development in the landscape document it states that in this area i.e. the Lowlands 
Plane LCTVE, above 15 hectares, would be classified as a high sensitivity area and 
this proposal is 4 times that at 60.7 so therefore should be rejected? This question 
was not answered by the case officer in the planning balance section of his report. 
My second question is, after 40 years of operation the soil will be severely degraded 
and recommissioning would have to be carried out with care to prevent damage to 
solar panels and leakage of toxic materials i.e. cadmium. How will this be done as 
the application says nothing about the decommissioning? I understand that after ten 
years of operation, the site could be reclassified as brown field. Is the Committee 
happy that this might mean the land is forever lost to agriculture and could become 
an industrial or housing estate?  
 
Michael Jones spoke in relation to the same application…….At the previous meeting 
at which this application was discussed a question was asked as to why the reasons 
for rejection had been reduced to half a page of bullet points. The answer given was 
that the members of the committee could read all the objections. Surely it is the 
purpose of the officer's report to present all the facts. Can you state how many 
members of the committee have actually read all the objections?  
 
Second question, it was stated in the previous minutes and the quote “there would be 
a financial investment in the local economy with employment opportunities”. Given 
the permanent loss of farm jobs and the supply chain, what are these opportunities? 
Contractors will use a transient workforce from outside the district and none of the 
investment will transfer to community jobs. 
 
Third question, please can you clarify what provision has been made for the deer 
whose natural corridor runs directly from the solar farm along the River Weaver 
which has been observed by local residents for many years?   
 
Richard Hughes speaking in relation to Deer Barn, Hockworthy stated……… If the 
investment is hugely disproportionate to the expected income making the proposal 
financially unviable will the application be refused?  If it is not refused on these 
grounds, where in MDDCs Local Plan is there an indication that financially unviable 
businesses could be allowed? 
 
If the Full Ecological Appraisal was based on incorrect information (regarding 
external lighting) and undertaken at a time when bats are hibernating (daylight hours 
in March) will the applicants be asked to commission a report based on correct facts 
and at an appropriate time of year for a fair report?  Will the appraisal have provided 
false information on which the Wildlife Trigger Table was based? 
 
With the site entrance being on a blind corner of a mainly single-track lane, and using 
a public footpath, there are concerns over highway and pedestrian safety - can a visit 
be made by Highways Agency in order to assess safety? (NPPF Para 109). 
A static barn, used for the storage of camping facilities, was built on the site by the 
applicant last year without planning permission, however, it does not appear on the 
site plan and no retrospective mention of it seen in the application.   Will this barn be 
addressed by the planning enforcement team at a later date? 
 
The planning statement mentions glamping tents (in its title) but then goes on to 
mention pods and cabins, can we be assured that only TENTS are being considered 
as per title? 

Page 20



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 38 

   
Are we correct in assuming that as permission is being sought PURELY FOR TWO 
GLAMPING TENTS all year round, any additional undisclosed structures, to include 
camping tents or ‘pup’ tents, will NOT be allowed?  
  
IF the application was approved would the applicant be allowed to run ‘permitted 
development camping’ on the same site as the Glamping Tents?   
  
Helen Hitt, also speaking in relation to the Solar Farm stated……I am asking 
questions on behalf of all landowners involved in this application. 
  
Our families have been farming in Langford for more than 100 years. We are proud 
custodians of this landscape and passionate about protecting and nurturing the 
countryside for the next generation of farmers and we have a responsibility to 
constantly adapt and respond to the challenges presented to us. In farming we 
continually hear that diversification is the key to our survival. Our land is an asset, 
and therefore, my first question is do you recognise the need for us as farmers to use 
this land to integrate renewable energy production into our farming practices to 
maintain a business that is both environmentally and economically viable?  
 
My second question to the committee, is have you undertaken a site visit? If so you 
will have seen for yourselves that the proposed solar development is in an area of 
countryside where visible impact is incredibly low due to, the topography of the land 
and the existing trees and hedges that surround the fields. 
 
Are the committee aware of the government’s recent climate change policy? In it they 
state meat consumption should be reduced by 35% over the next 30 years.  As a 
beef farmer I therefore will have to cut production by 35% and will need to find 
alternative land use. 
 
I also ask the committee are you aware solar developments can only be built on land 
that is classified as grades 3, 4 and 5 which this project is? My land in particular is 
classified as grade 4 which I quote, is land which “suffers severe limitations that 
significantly restrict the range and/or yield of crops to be grown”.  It is land that is 
most suited to growing grass and this development will allow for that to continue. 
 
As landowners the last thing we want to do is cover our fields in concrete for housing 
or destroy the soil through increasingly intensive farming practices. The proposed 
solar development would result in a conversion of the land to a low input organic 
permanent pasture. The soil quality will improve due to less compaction, no artificial 
fertilisers and no chemicals would be applied and sheep will continue to graze on the 
land. Fauna and flora will flourish.  We believe this proposal maximises the full 
potential of this land area in a way that traditional farming practices just don’t allow 
for.  
 
Climate change is real, is here now and we have the ability to mitigate its impact. 
The demand for electricity is real, is here now and is only going to increase. 
Times and needs have changed and so too must our farming practices. 
 
Are you the committee going to back this proposal which will go towards addressing 
these issues, support sustainable development and meet Mid Devon’s net zero 

Page 21



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 39 

carbon emissions commitment that you have signed up to for the benefit of our 
future? 
 
Charlie Dowden also spoke in relation to the Solar Farm application at 
Langford…….As a recent graduate of Exeter University’s School of Geography and 
Sustainability, I - along with many of my peers - have legitimate concerns about the 
Devon that we will be left with in 50 years time. In May 2021, the Met Office (based 
down the road in Sowton) recorded that Devon experienced its wettest May on 
record, with an average of 192mm of rainfall, topping the record set in May 1869. In 
the spring of 2020 - Devon had its sunniest spring on record, beating the spring of 
1948.  
 
Whilst no single event can be linked to a changing climate; the likelihood of these 
wild fluctuations will only increase with time and demonstrate the increasing 
challenges the rural community face at a local level, when dealing with a problem of 
global scale. 
 
The role of a landowner is not to maintain the status quo; it is to utilise the resources 
we have available to provide social, economic and environmental value for both 
current residents and for future generations. In supporting this application for 
renewable energy in Mid Devon; it demonstrates a commitment to the young people 
of Devon and the future of our county, at a time where we are still in a fortunate 
enough position to be able to make a positive impact. 
 
The Langford Solar Farm represents a vital addition to the local community - 
supporting energy for 10,000 Mid Devon homes - at a time of considerable local 
growth, not least from the proposed Culm Garden village. The Solar Farm will benefit 
the local community through providing clean, safe and sustainable energy, with an 
annual CO2 emissions reduction of over 20,000 tonnes. This aligns with guidance 
from the National Planning Policy Framework that the planning system should 
“support renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure”. 
 
This application is an essential component of the local area’s long term growth plan; 
supporting the success of our area through the provision of sustainable development 
and presents a unique opportunity to stand up for the needs and concerns of future 
generations by addressing the climate emergency. We have to act when a large 
opportunity for positive local change comes about and given this, my question to Mid 
Devon County councillors is, how are you going to demonstrate your commitment to 
future generations of Devonians and to young people in rural Devon today who are 
worried about how the changing climate will impact our lives in years to come? 
 
Roland Smith spoke in relation to the same application…..I could not find any 
information about the energy storage capacity of the battery facility, say in kWh or 
MWh, said to have a power of 12MW. I trust you are not recommending approval 
without knowing this important basic parameter which will indicate how long the 
stored energy could possibly support the grid. What is the energy storage of the 
battery facility? Several conditions relate to the solar panels but why aren’t there 
conditions controlling the battery storage facility as part of this proposal? 
 
Under “noise/impact/amenity” the officer states the equipment does not operate 
during the hours of darkness. As this is the time we most need electricity for heat and 

Page 22



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 40 

light, may I ask: what is the point of taking 150 acres of land (the average size of one 
Devon farm) out of food production? 
 
How can a solar farm connected to the national grid specifically benefit an average of 
10,077 homes in mid Devon when the contribution of 49.9MW to the grid would 
generate, on average, a trivial and insignificant 0.016% of average demand and 
absolutely zero after sunset when demand is at its highest? 
 
Are the committee members aware of recent research by three eminent scientists, 
published last weekend in the national press, which shows the danger of catastrophic 
fire hazard of containerised batteries, possibly causing explosions on the scale of 
that which destroyed the port in Beirut? 
 
In response to a written parliamentary question about the hazards of mass 
deployment of lithium-ion batteries for grid storage, the minister on 12th July said 
"There are mechanisms in place at a local level to assess the environmental impacts 
and benefits of lithium-ion battery storage projects.  Any applications for such 
projects will be carefully assessed by relevant decision-makers against all relevant 
criteria."  Can you say where the environmental impacts (which will include the 
hazards from fires and explosions and toxic gases) have been carefully assessed by 
the officer and will they be carefully assessed by the committee members? 
 
In the event of a thermal runaway as I’ve already described, it would fall on the local 
fire service to deal with the incident. Is there an adequate water supply available on 
site to deal with such an incident? Also, on 12th July a government minister said "In 
addition, for large scale battery storage, there are statutory requirements to notify the 
Fire and Rescue Service to inform their emergency response planning."  Can you tell 
me if Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Services have been informed, and if so, 
what was their response? 
 
I know that this is not a planning issue, but are the members of the Committee aware 
of the huge amount of adverse publicity that Mid Devon District Council will receive if 
you approve this planning application with its London-based applicant profiting from 
human rights abuses in China? 
 
Robert Deane also spoke in relation to the Solar Farm application…….Thank you for 
the opportunity to ask a question.  If I may, I’ll give a little context before asking my 
question. 
 
I’ve paid close interest to the application because we neighbour the site, living just 
340m from it.  After weighing up the issues, I submitted a comment in support of the 
application, raising points which I hope address some of the concerns of objectors - 
for instance the negligible effect of the solar farm on food production, the new 
habitats that will be created and the reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from the 
land.   
 
I take the view that solar farms like this are a necessary part of the country’s 
transition to net zero.  The visual impact on the landscape is a matter of personal 
opinion and, for me, solar farms are a sign of the changes we should all be making if 
we want to reduce climate change and keep the lights on.   
 

Page 23



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 41 

The site is not in an area of particularly high landscape quality and is largely hidden 
from public view.  Converting the land on which the solar panels will sit from low 
grade arable and pasture to nature-friendly permanent pasture offers significant 
benefits such as enhanced biodiversity, reduced greenhouse gas emissions and 
carbon sequestration in the soil.  These benefits would not be achieved from roof-top 
solar.    
 
So my question – actually two related questions.  I would like to ask the Planning 
Committee, if they decide this solar farm should not go ahead, where they think is 
suitable in Mid Devon?  And related to this, what steps is the Council taking, through 
its planning policy, to support the switch to renewable energy generation? 
 
Mandy Willis speaking in relation to the same application stated……can you tell us 
how many councillors have made any kind of site visit. We have offered access to 
our property available on many occasions since the March meeting and no member 
has made contact with us. A view from a road side drive by is not sufficient to 
understand our concerns as a resident directed affected by this application. 
 
The developers have put in place flood prevention measures. Can you tell us what 
would happen if these were to fail? The fields that immediately backs onto our 
property, has been known during heavy rainfall to have a substantial amount of water 
pour off it into the stream that separates our boundaries coming into our garden and 
flooding it. I would like to refer Members to photographs take of our property 
submitted to the March meeting as a reminder. 
 
Will the security fencing and security lighting and where will this be sighted? If so 
how ill this impact on the bat colonies that we know inhabit this areas? Will this also 
impact on the residents whose properties also border the proposed site for this 
lighting? 
 
Are the Committee members aware how close the panels will be to our house? 
According to the plans submitted the panels will begin only 25m from our own 
boundary. Currently there are a few tress shielding the view of this but they are not 
evergreen and our view for a good part of the year will be a security if this tree line or 
hedgerow is removed by the developer and any infilling should be evergreen and of a 
height to prevent any view of security fencing, potential glare, road noise and CCTV 
to at the very least maintain our privacy, health and well being. 
 
It was a constant disappointment that considering the obvious impact on our house 
and others in our road that the developer did not in any way reassure us as to any 
impact the development would clearly have. However, after an email we sent to the 
developer yesterday, contact has been made and a dialogue opened as to how some 
of our concerns can be mitigated but we were led to believe that the owner of this 
field would consider removing it and we would ask that this suggestion is perhaps put 
to the developer or even better put as a condition of any planning decision the 
committee should subsequently make. 
 
Heather Wheeler, again speaking in relation to the Solar Farm stated……the 
Officer’s Report concludes that the scheme will make a valuable contribution to 
cutting greenhouse gas emissions, allowing Mid Devon to address the Climate 
Emergency. 
 

Page 24



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 42 

The Applicant made a subordinate claim that the scheme could result in net 
biodiversity gain. 
 
In its early response, the county’s premier ecology charity, the Devon Wildlife Trust, 
concluded its detailed comments by recommending the involvement of a Habitat 
Restoration Ecologist  in the drawing up and subsequent management of  an Ecology 
Enhancement and Management Plan to ‘give credibility’ to any proposals. 
 
Its status as a Charity with strictly limited resources has precluded further 
contributions but the recommendation still stands. A Biodiversity Clerk of Works, as 
later proposed by the Applicant, is not required to have habitat restoration expertise 
and is not a substitute for a Habitat Restoration Ecologist. 
 
Why has the Council ignored a recommendation by DWT, which could enable the 
scheme to double its benefit by tackling not only the Climate Emergency but also the 
equal emergency of Biodiversity loss? 
 
Rupert Grantham spoke in relation to the Buccaneers Bar planning application…..  
 
Policy DM23, of the recently adopted Local Plan, is opposed to the loss of a valued 
community facility such as this, unless the facility is proved to be no longer 
economically viable. The Plan (para 4.71) requires that ‘Assessment of viability will 
require the submission of detailed evidence relating to trading accounts, valuation 
considerations and the marketing of the business or property at a reasonable price 
for a minimum of 12 months’. Yet the report makes no mention of this, choosing 
instead (p58) to rely on the owner’s assertion that the business has not been 
profitable for the past 4 years. Why has the Plan’s test not been applied here? 
 
The report contends (p58) that approval of this application would enable the Dairy to 
expand their activities and increase their workforce. Yet there is no obligation in place 
to link this aspiration to the permission, should it be granted. So will any weight be 
given to this claim? 
 
Tom Devine spoke in relation to the Solar Farm application at Langford…..have the 
councillors given any thought to the neighbouring solar farm facility at Tidehill which 
is just 1.2km away at the nearest point which is 158 acres? Although being in East 
Devon have they considered cumulative impact on the landscape and the possibility 
of further development of solar farms in this area or other parts of Devon at present 
potentially totalling 922 acres?  
 
Secondly, developers quoted that the concerns of the local community and business 
have been met, but have they? There would considerable impact on tourism as they 
would be deterred from staying in an area surrounded by solar panels as there are 
several bed and breakfast and holiday lets which have been ignored. Why has this 
not been considered? 
Finally, the proposal has over 20 miles of solar arrays, have you considered the 
impact of large vehicles visiting the site twice a year that will need to travel along the 
arrays to clean the panels using deionised water and applying weed killer and cutting 
the grass? 
 
Barbara Jones, spoke in relation to the straw bale house at Stenhill application……I 
understand that Mid Devon Council has declared a Climate Emergency and 

Page 25



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 43 

committed to be carbon neutral by 2030. If you are serious about that, you have to do 
things significantly different or as Henry Ford said if you always do things the way 
you always did you’ll always get what you always got! 
 
As planners you’ve the opportunity to implement the bigger picture. Keeping the 
Climate Emergency in mind you have the power to interpret planning policy in order 
to do something that actually makes a difference. Your officers may give a narrow 
focus that doesn’t put the sustainability of the proposal first but as councillors you can 
be bold and make a statement that says Mid Devon District Council pays more than 
lip service to becoming carbon neutral. 
 
I would have thought you would want to give a really clear message that says this is 
what we mean by an exemplar sustainable building but at the moment the 
recommendation is to refuse a zero carbon house. What message does that give? I 
personally have guided plenty of these sorts of buildings through the process and 
worked with some truly forward thinking planners. 
My question to you is this … are you, Mid Devon District Council willing to stand up 
and be counted and put your decisions where you say your commitments are?  
 
Terry Matthews speaking in relation to the proposed Solar Farm stated…..given that 
such an installation could be in place for the next 40 years who will be responsible for 
ensuring that all these unique conditions will be complied with. Who will be 
responsible for ensuring that these conditions are delivered? What would be the 
consequences if they are not complied with especially regarding flood control and 
wildlife habitation? The last part of this question is, what are the consequences of 
non-compliance enforceable by MDDC over the next 40 years and what assurances 
do Mid Devon Council have for the long term capability of enforcing them? I ask that 
question because there are similar solar farms on a smaller scale not a million miles 
away where complaints have been made for example about screening and the 
developers have yet to address those. 
The second question is, what in lay man terms are the benefits to local residents for 
such a huge installation? 
 
Sally Matthews speaking in relation to the same application asked is there a 
minimum term for the duration of the solar panels? Are there any break clauses, for 
example, due to advances in technology that could lead to the agricultural land being 
changed to green field leading to its change in use? 
Another question, what assurances can be given to the public that the planning 
decision will not be influenced by the perceived potential financial implications to Mid 
Devon District Council? I ask this question because the officer recommendation 
places a heavy weight on perceived potential, financial risks and hazards to MDDC in 
the event of an appeal or public enquiry? 
 
Tristan Parsons – Provided the following statement which was read out by the 
Chairman: 
 
Thank you for your invitation to the committee meeting for this application.  
 
Unfortunately, I am unable to attend due to work commitments. I would be grateful if 
my original letter (forwarded below) could be read for the committee on my behalf or 
otherwise brought for consideration. 
 

Page 26



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 44 

I have summarised my letter as follows: 
• Devon and Mid Devon councils have set ambitious climate goals for 2030 and 
2050. 
• Transitioning away from fossil fuel energy production and towards renewables 
is essential for achieving these aims.  
• These solar panels will significantly contribute to local energy needs, providing 
for 10,000 homes. 
• The scheme will provide £190,000 in business rates for the council to fund 
other local needs.  
• It will also contribute a biodiversity net gain on sub-prime agricultural land. 
• The proposals are far more viable than other forms of panelling, such as 
industrial roofs. 
 
Richard Hughes, again speaking in relation to the Deer Barn application at 
Hockworthy, specifically the erection of a new reinstated stone wall…..asked…… 
What are MDDC’s Planning Regulations in relation to the removal of an established 
‘bank’ and hedge, or any sort, within a conservation area? 
 
What are MDDC’s thoughts about the creation of an entrance way in a conservation 
area, without planning permission? 
 
If an application and/or its supporting documentation are found to be misleading 
and/or contradictory in its claims will the application be considered?  
 
This site has had a recent enforcement case against it with major implications on this 
application – this case appears to have been put on hold – if the terms of the 
enforcement case are NOT met by this application will the case be reinstated? 
 
The Chairman stated that the questions would be addressed when each item was 
discussed. 
 

43 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT (0.41.56)  
 
Members were reminded of the need to declare any interests when appropriate. 
 

44 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (0.42.04)  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 23rd June 2021 were agreed as a true record and 
duly signed by the Chairman. 
 

45 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (0.42.55)  
 
The Chairman announced that Cllr D J Knowles had stepped back from the Planning 
Committee and she thanked him for his Vice Chairmanship and for the years he had 
served on the Committee. 
 

46 DEFERRALS FROM THE PLANS LIST (0.43.45)  
 
There were no deferrals from the Plans List. 
 
 
 

Page 27



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 45 

 
 

47 THE PLANS LIST (0.43.51)  
 
The Committee considered the applications in the *Plans List.     
 
Note: *List previously circulated and attached to the minutes. 
 

a) Application 20/01631/FULL - Erection of a dwelling and construction of 
new vehicular access at Land and Building at NGR 305693 110454, (East 
Of Butsons Farm), Stenhill. 

 
The Planning Officer outlined the application and explained that the application site 
was in Stenhill which was not a defined settlement under Policy S13 of the Local 
Plan. The application site was, therefore, in the open countryside under Policy S14 
where development was permitted subject to appropriate conditions. It was subject to 
the same restrictions defined under Policy DM6 such as affordable housing and local 
connections for residents. 
 
The Officer outlined the application by way of a presentation which highlighted the 
block plan, floor plans, elevations, illustrations and photographs of the site. 
 
In response to public questions he stated: 
 

 The authority had recognised the green credentials of the scheme but the 
location had to be sustainable and not outweigh the emissions created by it. 
There were no public transport links close to the property 

 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The siting of solar panels on the garage roof and electric car charging facilities 
to enable a more sustainable way of living had been incorporated in the 
design 

 Officers views that the development location was not sustainable as it was not 
in a designated settlement and had no access to public transport or local 
infrastructure 

 The views of the objector who stated it was a significant property in a rural 
area, there was no need for the dwelling when the applicants family already 
had a substantial building very close to the site 

 The views of the supporter who stated that the applicant had met all the 
criteria of Policy DM6 apart from the location. The site was 1 mile from the 
settlement of Uffculme and other properties had been allowed on appeal. The 
development aligned with a top priority of the Council which was climate 
change  

 The views of the Ward Members who stated the development was a design of 
exceptional build and quality, refusal was wrong as this was not just a house 
but a way of life and that the Council should be encouraging these sorts of self 
builds in rural locations 

 The views of Members who felt that the location already had a number of large 
farmsteads around it and that now and again smaller properties were required 
in hamlets 

Page 28



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 46 

 Members views were that any village property would need to rely on private 
transport due to the lack of public transport in rural areas 

 Members views that if there was a barn on the site it would have been granted 
Class Q permission to turn it into a house anyway the only difference was this 
was a new build 

 
It was therefore RESOLVED that: planning permission be granted subject to 
conditions delegated to the Head of Planning, Economy and Regeneration. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr B G J Warren and seconded by Cllr L J Cruwys) 
 
Reason for the decision: The application for the erection of a dwelling was 
considered to be supportable in policy terms, applicants had a local connection, the 
dwelling was sustainable and within a reasonable distance of a settlement. On this 
basis it was considered that planning permission could be granted, subject to 
conditions, in accordance with the development plan. 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) Cllr B G J Warren made a declaration in accordance with the Protocol of Good 
Practice for Councillors dealing with planning matters as the site was within 
his ward; 

ii.) Lynn Baird spoke as the objector; 
iii.) Stephen Gill spoke as a supporter; 
iv.) Cllr B Evans spoke as Ward Member 
v.) Cllr R J Chesterton provided a written statement which was read out by the 

Chairman 
 
 

b) Application 21/00229/FULL - Erection of a dwelling and demolition of 
existing agricultural building at Rosemount, Kentisbeare, Cullompton. 

 
The Area Team Leader outlined the application and explained that the existing 
agricultural building had previously been given Class Q approval to turn into a 
dwelling. The application today was to apply for new dwelling on site as a fall back 
proposal to the approved Class Q conversion approved, noting that if the dwelling 
was not approved a dwelling could still be created on the site using the fall back 
position of the original position for the conversion of the existing agricultural building.. 
He explained that two additional conditions had been included in the update sheet for 
a wild flower meadow to be secured and the removal of the existing building. 
 
The Officer outlined the application by way of a presentation which highlighted block 
plans, the Class Q approval original design, an illustrative site layout, proposed roof 
and floor plans, proposed elevations and photographs of the site and existing barn. 
 
In response to Member questions the Officer explained that a package treatment 
plant dealt with the foul drainage and was recommended by Public Health as an 
alternative to mains drainage or a septic tank. 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 47 

 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The views of the objector who said the site was in a beautiful location and the 
application was a modern design which did not compliment the area, the site 
was on a dangerous road and there was no need for additional dwelling in the 
area. There were concerns with birds flying into glass and that the betterment 
was for the applicants only 

 The views of the agent who confirmed that is permission was refused the 
applicant would use the fall back position as the Class Q had already been 
accepted and approved. The new design was a betterment and that the site 
was well screened 

 The views of some Members who felt that the orientation was intrusive to 
other properties and that the site was on a busy road 

 The views of Members who stated that the choice before them was to approve 
either a conversion of the original barn or allow the barn to be removed and 
replaced with a new build dwelling 

 The views of Members that the current screening could become inadequate if 
trees had to be removed due to Ash Dieback which was prevalent in the area 

 
It was therefore RESOLVED that: planning permission be granted and delegated 
authority be given to the Head of Planning, Economy and Regeneration to provide an 
additional condition with regard to: 
 

 The replacement of trees which may need to be removed due to Ash Dieback 
to retain the screening from neighbouring properties. 

 
(Proposed by Cllr P Heal and seconded by Cllr Mrs C P Daw) 
 
Reason for the decision: As set out in the report 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) Cllrs B G J Warren and S J Clist made declarations in accordance with the 
Protocol of Good Practice for Councillors dealing with planning matters as 
they had been contacted by objectors; 

ii.) Cllrs S J Clist, B Holdman and B G J Warren requested that their vote against 
the decision be recorded; 

iii.) Rosanna Stancampiano spoke as the objector; 
iv.) Glenn Crocker spoke as the agent; 
v.) Cllr S J Clist spoke as the Ward Member 
vi.) The following late information was received: 
 
21/00229/FULL - Erection of a dwelling and demolition of existing agricultural building 
– Rosemount, Kentisbeare, Cullompton. 
 
9th July 21 
Please see below for two additional conditions recommended to be imposed in order 
to secure biodiversity gains on site and to prevent an additional dwelling being 
achieved. 
 
 

Page 30



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 48 

 
 
Condition 
Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling hereby approved, the Wildflower Meadow 
as shown on drawing no. A0B REV E and identified as forming part of the ecological 
mitigation for the development shall be implemented with planting/sowing undertaken 
with the Wildflower Meadow retained in perpetuity thereafter. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that the development makes a positive contribution to the character and 
amenity of the area and provides biodiversity gain in accordance with policy DM1 of 
the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033. 
 
Condition: 
The existing building on site shall be demolished and all material not being recycled 
on site shall be removed within 3 months of the first occupation of the new property 
or its substantial completion, whichever is sooner.  
 
Reason: 
The site is in the open countryside where the provision of an additional dwelling is not 
supported by policy S14 of the Mid Devon Local Plan (2013-2033) 
 
 

c) Application 21/00443/FULL - Change of use of land for the siting of 2 
glamping tents and associated facilities at Land at NGR 303735 119592, 
The Deer Barn, Hockworthy. 

 
The Principal Planning Officer outlined the application and explained that there was 
scope within the Local Plan Policies to consider rural tourism in the open countryside 
but it must demonstrate that the benefit would outweigh any harm. He explained that 
the site had been running the two glamping tents with a 28 day permitted use 
exception which had been extended by the Government to 56 days permitted use 
during the pandemic. 
 
The Officer outlined the application by way of a presentation which highlighted site 
location plan, illustrative block plan, tent plans, toilet and W.C. block and 
photographs of the site. 
 
In response to public questions he responded: 
 

 Enforcement teams would pursue any areas of concern; 

 Ecological surveys were carried out by qualified surveyors; 

 The Highways Authority had no issues with the site entrance which was 
shared with Deer Barn, fields and a Class Q; 

 Additional buildings did not form part of this application but could be subject to 
enforcement action if non compliant to Policy 

 Noise generators were subject to environmental health conditions 

 Enforcement teams would investigate any breach of conditions 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 49 

 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The officers confirmation that with regards to the business case, neighbouring 
businesses had been investigated but there was not similar offering nearby; 

 The Officers confirmation that there was no particular issue with noise on 
Glamping sites and this business promoted quiet times and star gazing; 

 There was no ability for the tents to be changed to other structures without 
further planning permission; 

 The views of the objectors who though was pleased with the changes to the 
application did not think it was a financially viable proposition. If Members 
were minded to approved requested conditions were put in place before the 
site was opened and that a condition be imposed that only solar power be 
used on site and not generators. A fire management plan should be requested 
due to the fire pit on site and there was no grey or foul water management 
plan; 

 The views of the agent who stated that applicant was requesting permission to 
allow part of the site the change use beyond the temporary time limits already 
permitted under Class A. The land is in agricultural use over the autumn and 
winter months and this was low impact and sustainable holiday 
accommodation. A robust business plan had been submitted which justified 
the countryside location; 

 The views of the Ward Members who had concerns about the rural aspect of 
the site, highways concerns and local residents concerns about the costs 
involved in setting up the business. Members should give attention to the 
views of both objectors and supporters; 

 Views of Members who felt there was no reason for the tents not to be there 
and that people were looking for just this type of holiday accommodation in 
these sorts of areas; 

 Confirmation that there was already a management plan in place which 
covered excessive noise. 

 
It was therefore RESOLVED that: planning permission be granted subject to 
conditions as recommended by the Head of Planning, Economy and Regeneration. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr E J Berry and seconded by Cllr B G J Warren) 
 
Reason for the decision: As set out in the report 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) Cllrs F J Colthorpe, E J Berry, S J Clist, L J Cruwys, Mrs C P Daw, C J 
Eginton, P J Heal , B Holdman, F W Letch and B G J Warren made 
declarations in accordance with the Protocol of Good Practice for Councillors 
dealing with planning matters as they had been contacted by objectors; 

ii.) Cllr Mrs F J Colthorpe declared a personal interest as she had a friend with 
holiday lets in the area; 

iii.) Cllr S J Clist requested that his abstention from voting be recorded; 
iv.) Richard Hughes spoke as the objector; 
v.) Naomi Jackson, the agent, provided a written statement which was read out 

by the Chairman; 

Page 32



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 50 

vi.) Cllrs J Norton and Mrs C Collis, Ward Members, provided written statements 
which were read out by the Chairman 

 
d) Application 21/00471/FULL - Erection of new reinstated stone wall and 

entrance gates and retention of part of rebuilt stone wall at The Deer 
Barn, Hockworthy, Devon. 
 

The Principal Planning Officer explained that the wall to the north was in the garden 
of the Deer Barn and permitted development would have allowed it without 
permission up to a height of 1m. As the wall, as built, was 1.45m permission was 
required. 
 
The Officer outlined the application by way of a presentation which highlighted site 
plan, elevations, and photographs of the site as it was now and before the wall was 
built. 
 
In response to public questions the Officer provided the following: 
 

 The Council had no authority over the removal of banks in private gardens; 

 Creation of gateways was dependant on use and what the proposal was for; 

 It is for the Authority to determine if the proposal is acceptable; 

 Retrospective applications were allowed to rectify any issues and enforcement 
was always a last resort. 

 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The views of the objector who stated that his concern was the north end of the 
wall and the removal of the hedge in a conservation area; 

 The views of the agent that permission was being sought to retain a wall that 
had been built to rectify a stone boundary wall collapse as a result of ash trees 
having to be removed and that the new wall was on the same footprint using 
the same local stone. There had been no harm created upon heritage assets 
and the Conservation Officer had found the proposal acceptable; 

 The views of the Ward Members who had concerns that residents believed the 
removal of the hedge had an impact on biodiversity. Members should give 
attention to the views of both objectors and supporters; 

 The views of Members who felt that the wall was in keeping with the local 
landscape, local stone had been used and the wall itself would create a 
biodiverse impact. 

 
It was therefore RESOLVED that: planning permission be granted subject to 
conditions as recommended by the Head of Planning, Economy and Regeneration. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr E J Berry and seconded by Cllr Mrs C P Daw) 
 
Reason for the decision: As set out in the report 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) Cllrs F J Colthorpe, E J Berry, S J Clist, L J Cruwys, Mrs C P Daw, C J 
Eginton, P J Heal , B Holdman, F W Letch and B G J Warren made 

Page 33



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 51 

declarations in accordance with the Protocol of Good Practice for Councillors 
dealing with planning matters as they had been contacted by objectors; 

ii.) Cllr Mrs F J Colthorpe declared a personal interest as she had a friend with 
holiday lets in the area; 

iii.) Richard Hughes spoke as the objector; 
iv.) Naomi Jackson, the agent, provided a written statement which was read out 

by the Chairman; 
v.) Cllrs J Norton and Mrs C Collis, Ward Members, provided written statements 

which were read out by the Chairman 
 
 

e) Application 21/00461/FULL - Erection of extensions to existing 
agricultural storage building 660sqm at Land at NGR 288288 107120, 
Redyeates Cross, Cheriton Fitzpaine. 

 
The Area Team Leader informed Members that a further letter had been received 
from the CPRE which had been circulated to Members and was before them as part 
of the update sheet. 
 
The Officer outlined the application by way of a presentation which highlighted site 
location and block plans, position of recently approved agricultural workers dwelling 
and photographs of the existing barn. 
 
Consideration was given to; 
 

 The views of the objector who stated that there would be up to 250 animals on 
site and he had concerns with the number of animals and the available land 
open to the applicant and concerns about animal density, pollution and waste; 

 The views of the agent who stated that the application was supported by 
Natural England who had provided funding towards the development; 

 The views of Members that comments from the Parish Council had not been 
provided; 

 The views of Members that although the late letter from the CPRE had been 
summarised in the update sheet a full copy had not been provided to 
Members; 

 The views of Members that a full final statement from Public Health had not 
been made available to them; 

 The views of Members that they were unable to make a decision without all 
the information in front of them; 

The Interim Development Management Manager explained to Members that late 
information was quite common with planning applications and that the Officer had 
provided them with a verbal update summary where written statements and 
representations had been received after the agenda had been published. He felt that 
Members had before them enough information to be able to make a decision. 
 
It was therefore RESOLVED that: A decision on the application was deferred to 
enable the late information received to be included within a revised officer report so 
that Members could make an informed decision. The additional information 
requested were: 
 

 The Parish Council response 

 The latest Public Health update 

Page 34



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 52 

 The full contents of the late letter received from CPRE 
 
(Proposed by Cllr C Eginton and seconded by Cllr F W Letch) 
 
Reason for the decision: Members felt that they did not have the full information to 
make an informed decision. 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) Cllrs F J Colthorpe, E J Berry, S J Clist, L J Cruwys, Mrs C P Daw, C J 
Eginton, P J Heal , B Holdman, F W Letch and B G J Warren made 
declarations in accordance with the Protocol of Good Practice for Councillors 
dealing with planning matters as they had been contacted by objectors; 

ii.) Cllr Mrs F J Colthorpe declared a personal interest as she had been involved 
in the case at a Parish level and chose to leave the meeting and did not take 
part in the debate or the vote; 

iii.) Brian Thompson spoke as the objector; 
iv.) Simon Archer spoke as the agent; 
v.) The following late information was provided; 

 
13.07.2021  
 
1. One additional letter of objection received from Devon CPRE who raise concerns 
to the justification for the proposed building in terms of need and scale in the open 
countryside location, noting that the proposal is not supported by an independent 
agricultural appraisal nor a landscape impact assessment, to robustly support what 
would be an incongruous development in the rural landscape. 
 

f) Application 21/00709/FULL - Change of use from public house (sui 
generis) to offices and canteen facility (sui generis) at Buccaneers Bar, 3 
Cinema Buildings, East Street. 

 
The Planning Officer outlined the application by way of a presentation which 
highlighted the site location plan, aerial photographs, block plan and parking layout, 
google street view and photographs of the interior. 
 
The Officer advised Members that an Asset of Community Value had been listed with 
the authority but it had yet to be validated and would take up to 8 weeks to be 
confirmed. It had no material impact on the application before Members. 
 
In response to public questions the Officer confirmed that consideration had been 
given to the viability of the existing business. 
 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 The views of the objector who stated that the bar was unique and was a 
purpose built entertainment centre. It held up to 170 people standing and 
offered good disabled access. That the Dairy did not need a canteen and they 
had groups who were keen to use the venue on the future; 

 The views of Crediton Dairy who stated that their business processed 1% of 
the UK’s milk supply and they put £40m into the local economy. They were a 
one site business and most of the staff lived locally. They needed a modern 

Page 35



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 53 

canteen to cater their highly skilled staff and had not been able to secure an 
alternative site in the proximity of the Dairy; 

 The views of the Town Council who supported the Asset of Community Value. 
It was a great auditorium and a great location which would give opportunities 
to youth musicians. The local Arts groups had agreed it was an asset and the 
Dairy would expand anyway; 

 The views of Members familiar with the venue who stated that the business 
had not been viable for many years; 

 The views of Members that the Dairy should be supported to expand and 
invest in Crediton. 

 
It was therefore RESOLVED that: planning permission be granted subject to 
conditions as recommended by the Head of Planning, Economy and Regeneration. 
 
(Proposed by Cllr P J Heal and seconded by Cllr L J Cruwys) 
 
Reason for the decision: As set out in the report 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) Cllrs F J Colthorpe, E J Berry, S J Clist, L J Cruwys, Mrs C P Daw, C J 
Eginton, P J Heal , B Holdman, F W Letch and B G J Warren made 
declarations in accordance with the Protocol of Good Practice for Councillors 
dealing with planning matters as they had been contacted by objectors; 

ii.) Cllr S J Clist requested his vote against the decision be recorded; 
iii.) Helen Tuffin spoke as the objector; 
iv.) Phil Cork, Crediton Dairy, spoke in support; 
v.) Cllr Brookes-Hocking spoke on behalf of the Town Council; 
vi.) The following late information was provided: 
 
9th July 21 
1. Condition 3 is amended to reflect the updated drawing received and should 
now read as below. The parking plan has been amended to accommodate a total of 
48 spaces including two disabled spaces. This is an increase of 18 from the existing 
provision, compared to 15 as previously proposed and set out within the officer 
report.  
 
3. Within 3 months of the first use of the office and canteen hereby approved, the 
existing office and canteen building shall be demolished and replaced with additional 
parking 
spaces in accordance with the details as shown on drawing number PIN 1032-50.  
 
13.07.21  
1. Condition 3 is amended to reflect the updated drawing received and should 
now read as below. The parking plan has been amended to accommodate a total of 
48 spaces including two disabled spaces. This is an increase of 18 from the existing 
provision, compared to 15 as previously proposed and set out within the officer 
report.  
 
(condition 3 has been further amended since the update last week ) 
3. Within 3 months of the first use of the office and canteen hereby approved, the 
existing office and canteen building shall be demolished and replaced with additional 

Page 36



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 54 

parking spaces in accordance with the details as shown on drawing number PIN 
1032-50. Once provided, the additional parking spaces shall be made available for 
use at all times by occupiers of the proposed office/canteen use of the site and 
retained as such thereafter.  
 
2. Committee are advised that an application has been submitted to the Council 
to seek to list the site as an asset of community value (ACV). As of 13/07/2021 
discussions with the Economic Development Team have confirmed that the 
application is not yet valid. Once validated, it would be subject to a consultation 
period before a determination is made as to whether it should be listed as an ACV. 
Guidance on the ACV process states that it is open to the Local Planning Authority to 
decide whether listing as an asset of community value is a material consideration, 
taking into account all the circumstances of the case. The provisions do not place a 
restriction on what an owner can do with their property, once listed, so long as it 
remains in their ownership. On this basis, and as the site is not currently listed as an 
ACV, it is your officer’s view that the intention to seek to list the site as an ACV would 
not have a material impact to the assessment set out within the officer report at this 
stage and it is recommended that planning permission should be granted. 
Notwithstanding the committee decision as to whether planning permission should be 
granted, the ACV process may at a later date have implications if the owner seeks to 
dispose of the site.  
 

48 TREE PRESERVATION ORDER - 21/00002/TPO - 13 The Oaks, Yeoford, 
Crediton, Devon (4.08.12)  
 
The Committee had before it a *report of the Head of Planning, Economy and 
Regeneration with regard to an application for a Tree Preservation Order 13 The 
Oaks, Yeoford, Crediton, Devon. 
 
The Planning Officer outlined the contents of the report by way of a presentation 
which highlighted the site location plan and photographs of the site and the trees. 
 
 It was RESOLVED that: the Tree Preservation Order be confirmed.   
 
(Proposed by Cllr C J Eginton and seconded by Cllr B Holdman) 
 
Reason for the decision: As set out in the report. 
 
Notes:   
 

i.) Cllrs E J Berry and S J Clist requested their vote against the decision be 
recorded 

ii.) *Report previously circulated copy attached to the minutes.  
 
 

49 Application 19/01679/FULL - Construction of ground-mounted solar PV panels 
to generate up to 49.9MW (Site Area 60.78ha) and battery storage facility 
together with all associated works, equipment and necessary infrastructure. 
(4.12.46)  
 
The Committee had before it a report of the head of Planning, Economy and 
Regeneration regarding the above application. At the Planning Committee Meeting 

Page 37



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 55 

on 31st March 2021 Members deferred a decision on the above application in order 
that a site visit take place and officers provided responses to a number of questions 
raised. 
 
The Interim Development Management Manager then provided responses to 
questions previous posed by Members which were set on the annex of this report. 
 
The Officer then went on to outline the conditions agreed with the developer which 
would mitigate the impact of the development and gave detailed explanations of what 
the conditions were for and how they would be monitored. 
 
In response to public questions the officer stated: 
 

 Officers did not ignore the Wildlife Trust, revised condition 12 specifies regular 
monitoring 

 He could not comment on Members reading objections, these were available 
to Members via the Planning Portal 

 They are aware of the nearby solar farm but it is on a case by case basis and 
we must determine the application before us 

 The flood defences are required to be maintained and are monitored by way of 
a condition so if there is a failure it would need to be resolved 

 The Deer migration routes would be monitored by way of revised condition 12 

 Energy storage capacity of batteries has been covered in the report 

 The developers would need to clarify what operations would be happening at 
night and what happens when the panels are not generating solar energy 

 The  specific benefits of energy to 10k homes is dependant on the range of 
the installation 

 The fire service was not consulted on any potential fire hazard as they are not 
a statutory consultee but they would be consulted as part of a building 
regulations approval 

 Forced labour was not a planning issue and we cannot impose a condition for 
non planning matters 

 Landscaping has been dealt with in additional condition 22 

 Soil degradation and decommissioning needs to be done with care and is 
covered by condition 4 and does not mean that it will refer to a brown field site 
in the future 

 Fixture and fittings must be removed once operations on site ceases 

 There is no a condition for employment opportunities as such a condition 
would not pass the 6 tests 
 
 

The Officer then reminded Members of the application by way of a presentation 
which highlighted the site location plan, revised site plan, photographs of various 
locations around the site and additional viewpoints. 
 
In response to Members questions about the District being close to saturated with 
solar panels the Officer explained there was no cumulative impact of a  number of 
sites and that each application had to be determined in its own right. 
 
 
 

Page 38



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 56 

 
Consideration was given to: 
 

 Members concerns with who would monitor all the conditions; 

 Members concerns with who would compensate people living nearby; 

 There was no upper limit quota prescribed by the Government for the number 
of solar panels installed in Devon; 

 Members concerns with how long the batteries lasted and the lifetime of 
products was not known; 

 Members concerns that there were too many conditions which required further 
LPA approval and that Councillors should have input in agreeing the final 
finishes 

 The views of the objector who stated that Members could refuse the 
application on local landscape, substantial harm to listed buildings, loss of 
agricultural land, limited information of storage capacity and no lifecycle 
analysis had been provided; 

 The views of the agent who stated that the proposed development was 
acceptable to the local plan and planning policies and that it aligned to the 
Council’s commitment to Carbon reduction. The site would still remain in 
agricultural use and would provide green electricity for 10k homes within the 
District 

 The views of some Members that the Council had made a commitment to its 
residents that it would sign up to Climate Change and reduce dependence on 
fossil fuels. Schemes like this would benefit our children and grandchildren; 

 The views of some Members that agricultural roofs should be utilised first; 

 The views of some Members that the site was rambling, was close to another 
solar farm application and it was oversized; 
 

It was therefore RESOLVED that: Members were minded to refuse the application 
and therefore wished to defer the application for an implications report to consider 
the proposed reasons for refusal that of: 
 

 Adverse impact on the landscape; 

 Adverse impact on the Grade 2 Langford Court; 

 Additional loss of high grade agricultural land 
 
 (Proposed by Cllr C J Eginton and seconded by Cllr B G J Warren) 
 
 
Reason for the decision – No decision was made the decision was deferred for an 
implications report. 
 
Notes: 
 

i.) Cllrs F J Colthorpe, E J Berry, S J Clist, L J Cruwys, Mrs C P Daw, C J 
Eginton, P J Heal , B Holdman, F W Letch and B G J Warren made 
declarations in accordance with the Protocol of Good Practice for Councillors 
dealing with planning matters as they had been contacted by objectors; 

ii.) Cllrs Mrs F J Colthorpe, E J Berry and P J Heal requested that their vote 
against the decision be recorded; 

iii.) Dr Philip Bratby spoke as the objector; 

Page 39



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 57 

iv.) Mark Herbert spoke as the agent: 
v.) The following late information was provided: 

 
19/01679/MFUL - Construction of ground-mounted solar PV panels to generate up to 
49.9MW (Site Area 60.78ha) and battery storage facility together with all associated 
works, equipment and necessary infrastructure - Land at NGR 303437 103555 East 
of Langford Mill & Tye Farm Langford. 
 
14th July 21 
UPDATE SHEET LIST OF CONDITIONS FOR LANGFORD SOLAR FARM 
 
Subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 
 
2. The permission hereby granted shall be limited to a period of 40 years from 
the date when electricity is first exported from the solar panels to the electricity 
network (The First Export Date). Written notification of the First Export Date shall be 
given to the Local Planning Authority within 14 days of the event occurring. 
 
3. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans listed in the schedule on the decision notice. 
 
 
4. Within 3 months of the solar array permanently ceasing to be used for the 
generation of electricity, or the end of this permission, whichever is the earliest, the 
array, and associated infrastructure, shall be permanently removed from the land, 
and the site restored to its former condition in accordance with details to be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local plan authority prior to these works 
being carried out 
 
5. The Solar PV Panels hereby permitted shall not be erected until samples of 
the materials to be used in the construction of the solar panel array have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved samples and retained as such 
thereafter 
 
6. The site access roads shall be in a sound bound material for the first 20.00m back 
from its junction with the public highway and drained to prevent no surface water onto 
the public highway. The site access roads shall be hardened, surfaced, drained and 
maintained thereafter hardened, surfaced, drained and maintained thereafter.   
 
7. Visibility splays shall be provided, laid out and maintained for that purpose at the 
primary site access where the visibility splays provide inter-visibility between any 
points on the X and Y axes at a height of 0.60 metres above the adjacent 
carriageway level and the distance back from the nearer edge of the carriageway of 
the public highway shall be 2.40 metres and the visibility distances along the nearer 
edge of the carriageway of the public highway (identified as Y) shall be 43.0 metres 
in a southern direction and as identified on the access plan in the other direction. 
 

Page 40



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 58 

8. Visibility splays shall be provided, laid out and maintained for that purpose at the 
other site accesses in accordance where the visibility splays provide inter-visibility 
between any points on the X and Y axes at a height of 0.60 metres above the 
adjacent carriageway level and the distance back from the nearer edge of the 
carriageway of the public highway (identified as X) shall be 2.40 metres and the 
visibility distances along the nearer edge of the carriageway of the public highway 
(identified as Y) shall be 33.00 metres in on coming direction and 33.00 metres to the 
centre line in the offside direction. 
 
9. No other part of the development hereby approved shall be commenced until the 
until the access, parking facilities, commercial vehicle loading/unloading area, 
visibility splays, turning area and access drainage have been provided and 
maintained in accordance with details that shall have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority and retained for that purpose at 
all times. 
 
10. No development shall take place until off site highway condition surveys have 
been undertaken and the details submitted and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority in liaison with the Local Highway Authority. 
 
11. No development shall take place until: 
 
EITHER 
i) A programme of archaeological work has bene carried out in accordance with 
a  written scheme of investigation (WSI) which has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. OR 
ii) A construction methodology for the development that avoids any below-
ground impact within the area of Archaeological sensitivity in the vicinity of the 
7th/8th century iron furnace has bene submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.    
 
 
12. No development shall take place until a detailed scheme of ecological mitigation 
and enhancement measures, in accordance with the recommendations of the 
submitted documentation: 
(a) The Biodiversity Management Plan by avian ecology v4 (Dated 20/07/2020), has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
(b) The Biodversity Enhancement Note and Addendum Note Dated 3/12/2020) 
(c) The updated Site Layout Plan 
 
Notwithstanding the details included in the above documentations, the details shall 
include the details t be submitted including planting plans, specification of species, 
sizes, planting centres, number and percentage mix and details of seeding or turfing. 
The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with the approved 
plans and details. 
 
13. The Solar PV Panels hereby permitted shall not be erected until details, on a 
suitably scaled plan, of the soft landscape works have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The details to be submitted shall 
include planting plans, including specifications of species, sizes, planting centres, 
number and percentage mix, and details of seeding or turfing. The development shall 
not be carried out other than in accordance with the approved details. 

Page 41



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 59 

 
14. All agreed landscaping comprised in the above details of landscaping shall be 
carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following the erection of the 
panels, and any plants which within a period of five years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species. All 
landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the guidance contained in 
British Standards 8545: 2014. 
 
15. The Solar PV Panels hereby permitted shall not be erected until the full details of 
the works to the hedges including species adjacent to the residential properties, as 
shown on Figures 11 and 12 of the Glint and Glare Study Page Power Ltd v 4 dated 
16th August 2019, have been submitted and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The works be carried out in the first planting season after the 
written approval and thereafter retained and maintained. 
 
16. The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the surface 
water drainage arrangements have been provided in full, in accordance with details 
which shall previously have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved measures shall thereafter be retained for the life of 
the development. 
 
 
17. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) report v5 prepared by Calibro, and issued 
on 30th November 2020, including the level for floodplain compensation outlined in 
paragraph 7.6.6 of the FRA. The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented in 
accordance with the timing/phasing arrangements detailed within the Flood Risk 
Assessment. The approved measures shall thereafter be retained for the life of the 
development. 
 
18. No development including any site clearance or groundworks of any kind shall 
take place within the site until a scheme to minimize the risk of offsite flooding 
caused by surface water run-off and groundwater during construction works has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
development shall then be carried out in accordance with the agreed scheme. 
 
19. No external form of illumination of the site shall be undertaken other than low 
level lighting required on ancillary buildings during occasional maintenance and 
inspection visits. 
 
20. The installation or construction of all plant, equipment, and buildings shall be 
undertaken using a colour scheme which has previously been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter 
be retained in accordance with the approved colour scheme. 
 
21. Prior to the commencement of development a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. In respect to the protection of residential amenity and the local 
environment, the CEMP shall identify the steps and procedures that will be 
implemented to minimise the creation and impact of noise, vibration, dust and waste 
disposal resulting from the site preparation, groundwork and construction phases of 

Page 42



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 60 

the development and manage Heavy/Large Goods Vehicle access to the site. It shall 
include details of the hours of operation and measures to be employed to prevent the 
egress of mud, water and other detritus onto the public and any non-adopted 
highways. The following specific details should also be included in respect to 
highway safety:  
 (a) the timetable of the works;  
 (b) daily hours of construction;  
 (c) any road closure;  
 (d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from 
the site, with such vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm 
Mondays to Fridays inc.; 9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular 
movements taking place on Sundays and Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the 
planning Authority in advance; 
 (e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the 
development and the frequency of their visits;  
 (f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished 
products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the 
demolition and construction phases;  
 (g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or 
unload building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing 
materials and waste with confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles 
will park on the County highway for loading or unloading purposes, unless prior 
written agreement has been given by the Local Planning Authority;  
 (h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site;  
 (i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and  
 (j) details of wheel washing facilities and road sweeping measures with the 
respective obligations  
 (k) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes.  
 (l) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking.  
 (m) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to 
commencement of any work;  
 
22. No development shall take place until a Landscape and Ecological Management 
Plan (LEMP) is submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
This plan shall provide details of the following: 
 
a) Retained Ecological and Landscape features 
b) Proposed habitats Ecological and Landscape Features 
c) Habitats and Landscape Management Measures 
d) Monitoring and Review of Plan 
 
The development hall not be carried out other than in complete accordance with the 
approved details 
 
REASONS FOR CONDITIONS: 
 
 1. In accordance with the provisions of Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 2. To establish the commencement date for the 40 year operational life of the 
solar farm. 
 

Page 43



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 61 

 3. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
 4. For the avoidance of doubt and to establish the duration of the planning 
permission and in the interests of the visual appearance of the landscape once the 
plant is redundant in accordance with policy DM2 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 - 
2033. 
 
 5. In the interests of local character, and in accordance with policies DM2 and S9 
of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 - 2033. 
 
 6. To prevent mud and other debris being carried onto the public highway. 
 
7. To provide adequate visibility from and of emerging vehicles. 
 
 8. To provide adequate visibility from and of emerging vehicles. 
 
 9. To ensure that adequate facilities are available for traffic attracted to the site. 
 
 
 10. To minimise the impact of the development on the highway network in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 11. To ensure, in accordance with EITHER ( i) policy DM25 of the Mid Devon 
Local Plan 2013-2033 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2019), that an appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that may be 
affected by the development or (ii) in accordance with policy DM27, the preservation 
in situ of heritage assets. 
 
 12. In the interests of local character, and in accordance with policies DM2 and S9 
of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 - 2033. 
 
 13. In the interests of local character, and in accordance with policies DM2 and S9 
of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 - 2033. 
 
 14. In the interests of the visual amenity of the area and in accordance with 
policies DM2 and S9 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 - 2033. 
 
 15. To protect the amenities of the adjoining residential properties and in 
accordance with policy DM2 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 - 2033. 
 
16. To prevent the increased risk of flooding by ensuring the satisfactory means of 
surface water disposal is incorporated into the design and build and that the 
principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this proposal and maintained 
for the life of the development in accordance with policy DM2 of the Mid Devon Local 
Plan 2013- 2033. 
 
 17. To prevent the increased risk of flooding by ensuring the satisfactory means of 
surface water disposal is incorporated into the design and build and that the 
principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this proposal and maintained 
for the life of the development in accordance with policy DM2 of the Mid Devon Local 
Plan 2013- 2033. 
 

Page 44



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 62 

 18. To prevent the increased risk of flooding by ensuring the satisfactory means of 
surface water disposal is incorporated into the design and build and that the 
principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this proposal and maintained 
for the life of the development in accordance with policy DM2 of the Mid Devon Local 
Plan 2013- 2033. 
 
 19. To minimise light pollution in this rural area and in the interests of biodiversity 
and ecology, in accordance with policies S9 and DM2 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 
2013 - 2033. 
 
 20. In the interests of local character, and in accordance with policies DM2 and S9 
of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 - 2033. 
 
 21. To minimise the impact upon the highway network and the neighbouring 
residential properties during the construction period 
 
22. In the interests of the visual amenity f the area in accordance with policies 
DM2 and S9 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 213-2033. 
 
1. Protected Species 
  
 All bats are protected by law. If bats are found, works must immediately cease 
and further advice be obtained from Natural England and / or a licensed bat 
consultant. Works must not resume until their advice has been followed. Nesting 
birds are also protected by law. During site clearance and construction works, 
suitable safeguards must be put in place to prevent threat of harm to legally 
protected species, including nesting birds and reptiles all of which are protected 
under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). Where works are to involve 
cutting or clearance of shrubs, hedges or other vegetation, which can form nesting 
sites for birds, such operations should be carried out at a time other than in the bird 
breeding season (which lasts between 1 March - 15 September inclusive in any 
year). Further details can be obtained from a suitably qualified and experienced 
ecological consultant, or please refer to published Natural England guidelines for 
protected species. 
 
REASON FOR APPROVAL OF PERMISSION/GRANT OF CONSENT 
 
As a renewable energy facility, the proposal's location within the countryside is 
acceptable in principle according to policy DM2 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-
2033. The limited visual harm that the proposal would give rise to would be 
outweighed by the environmental benefits of allowing it. It is considered that the 
proposal would not result in unacceptable harm in terms of local and residential 
amenity; highway safety; surface water drainage arrangements; flooding risk; ecology 
or in relation to the availability of agricultural land. 
 
Withdrawn objection  
I am writing to you ahead of the planning committee tomorrow in relation to the 
proposed Langford Solar Farm (19/01679/MFUL). I felt it is worth noting to members 
that whilst I originally objected to the scheme due to concerns over potential impacts 
on my business, I have since worked closely with the Applicant JBM Solar and they 
have agreed to implement a number of mitigation measures including compensation 

Page 45



 

Planning Committee – 14 July 2021 63 

in order to minimise disruption to my business. As a result I no longer have any 
objection to the scheme and consider that all of my concerns have been addressed. 
 
Kind regards, 
John Pitson,  
Yarak birds of prey 
 
 
 
 
 
 

50 MAJOR APPLICATIONS WITH NO DECISION (5.23.14)  
 
The Committee had before it, and NOTED, a list * of major applications with no 
decision.   
 
Note: *List previously circulated; copy attached to the minutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 8.00 pm) CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 46



AGENDA 1 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE AGENDA - 8th September 2021 

Applications of a non-delegated nature 
 
 

Item No. Description 
 
 

  
01.  20/01409/MOUT - Outline hybrid application for the erection of industrial units within use 

Classes E(g), B2 and B8 on 8.74 hectares of land to include green infrastructure and Full 
permission for the erection of 4 industrial units (Plots 5, 9 and 10) (4327sqm) Classes E(g), 
B2 and B8 and creation of new vehicular access, parking, detention basin and landscaping 
at Land at NGR 303082 107667, Stoneyford, Devon. 
RECOMMENDATION 
Grant permission subject to conditions and the signing of a S106 agreement to secure. 
 

  
  

02.  21/00453/FULL - Change of use of agricultural land for siting of two off grid mobile cabins 
for holiday use at Land at NGR 292586 107415, Heronsfield House, Cadeleigh. 
RECOMMENDATION 
Grant permission subject to conditions. 
 

  
  

03.  21/00276/MFUL - Erection of 13 dwellings to include associated landscaping, public open 
space and infrastructure at Land at NGR 283084 102432 (Fanny's Lane), Sandford, 
Devon. 
RECOMMENDATION 
Grant permission subject to conditions and the signing of a S106 agreement to secure. 
 

  
  

04.  20/02128/FULL - Change of use of land for the provision of 6 permanent pitches for the use 
of gypsy and traveller family, formation of a new vehicular access, hardstanding and 
associated works at Pleasant Streams, Uffculme, Cullompton. 
RECOMMENDATION 
Grant permission subject to conditions. 
 

  
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



AGENDA 2 

 
Plans List No. 1 

 
Application No. 20/01409/MOUT 
 
Grid Ref:  303082 : 107667  
 
Applicant: Mr R Toghill, Goldmix Ltd  
   
Location: Land at NGR 303082 107667  

Stoneyford  
Devon  
  

   
Proposal: Outline hybrid application for the erection of industrial units within use Classes E(g), 

B2 and B8 on 8.74 hectares of land to include green infrastructure and Full 
permission for the erection of 4 industrial units (Plots 5, 9 and 10) (4327sqm) 
Classes E(g), B2 and B8 and creation of new vehicular access, parking, detention 
basin and landscaping  

 
 
Date Valid:      15th September 2020 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



AGENDA 3 

 
APPLICATION NO:  20/01409/MOUT 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
A.   Grant permission subject to conditions and the signing of a S106 agreement to secure: 
 

1. A 20 metre strip of land to the southern side of the development to be safeguarded for 
potential future highways improvements 

2. Provision of new footpath and upgrading of existing public right of way 
3. Travel plan 
4. Provision, management and maintenance of green infrastructure/public open space 
5. A review clause to reassess viability of the scheme with regard to a contribution towards 

the TCRR at a trigger point of the occupation of 4,250 square metres on the use of X 
amount of floorspace, based on actual achieved costs and transacted sales values being 
secured to determine how much contribution needs to be paid through s106 on the 
remaining plots. 

 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Hybrid application for the erection of industrial units within use classes E(g), B2 and B8 on 8.74 
hectares of land to include green infrastructure and Full permission for the erection of 4 industrial 
units (Plots 5, 9 and 10) (4,327sqm) classes E(g), B2 and B8 and creation of new vehicular access 
and estate road, parking, detention basin and landscaping. 
 
The use classes applied for are: 
 
Class E Commercial buildings and service 
 
Class E(g) Uses which can be carried out in a residential area without detriment to its amenity: 
 

 E(g)(i) Offices to carry out any operational or administrative functions, 

 E(g)(ii) Research and development of products or processes 

 E(g)(iii) Industrial processes 
 

Class B2 General industrial 
Use for industrial process other than one falling within class E(g) (excluding incineration purposes, 
chemical treatment or landfill or hazardous waste) 
 
B8 Storage or distribution 
 
The proposal is on part of a 10.7 hectare site allocated by policy CU17 of the Mid Devon Local 
Plan 2013-2033 for employment and green infrastructure.   
 
The application is in two parts: 
 
1. Outline application for employment uses on 8 plots with layout, scale, appearance and 
landscaping as reserved matters, with access for determination, and 
 
2. Full application for employment uses on Plots 5, 9 and 10 with a total floor space of 4,327 
square metres (including first floor offices on Plot 5), with full details of layout, buildings, access 
and estate roads, attenuation ponds and green infrastructure. 

Page 49



AGENDA 4 

 
Plot 5 covers an area of approximately 0.42 hectares and is located to the north of the proposed 
estate road which runs east to west.  The site slopes from the south east to the north west at a 
gradient of approximately 1 in 18.  The plot would have a two storey industrial and office unit with a 
gross external area of 1,610.5 square metres and a height to ridge of 8.4 metres.  The remainder 
of the plot would be set out with parking, turning area and landscaping.  This unit would provide 
flexible uses within Use Classes E(g), B2 and B8. 
 
Plot 9 covers an area of approximately 0.5 hectares and is located to the south east of the site.  
The site slopes from the northeast to the southwest at a gradient of approximately 1 in 25.  The 
plot would have a single storey industrial unit, with a gross external area of 1,698 square metres. 
The building would have a curved roof with a maximum height of 7.8 metres. The unit will be 
capable of future sub-division into smaller units and have the potential to install a part first floor 
mezzanine across the front of the unit.  The remainder of the plot would be set out with parking, 
turning area and landscaping.  This unit would provide flexible uses within Use Classes E(g), B2 
and B8. 
 
Plot 10 covers an area of approximately 0.35 hectares and is located to the south west of the site.  
The site slopes from the north west to the south east at a gradient of approximately 1 in 17.  The 
plot would have two single storey industrial unit blocks, with a total gross external area of 1,045 
square metres. The building would have a mono-pitch roof with a maximum height of 7.7 metres. 
The unit will be capable of future sub-division into smaller units and have the potential to install a 
part first floor mezzanine across the front of the unit.  The remainder of the plot would be set out 
with parking, turning area and landscaping.  This unit would provide flexible uses within Use 
Classes E(g) and B8. 
 
Materials for all the buildings would be silver cladding over a brick plinth, and grey roof cladding 
with roof lights and solar panels, aluminium windows and roller shutter doors. 
 
APPLICANT’S SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
Design and access statement 
Planning statement 
Transport statement 
Archaeological report 
Ecology report 
Waste audit statement 
Flood risk assessment 
Noise assessment 
Viability appraisal 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
None 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES 
 
Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 – 2033 
CU17 – Week Farm 
CU20 – Cullompton Infrastructure 
S1 – Sustainable development priorities 
S2 – Amount and distribution of development 
S6 - Employment 
S8 - Infrastructure 

Page 50



AGENDA 5 

S9 - Environment 
S11 - Cullompton 
DM1 – High quality design 
DM3 – Transport and air quality 
DM4 - Pollution 
DM5 - Parking 
DM25 – Development affecting heritage assets 
DM26 – Green infrastructure in major development 
 
Devon County Council Waste Plan 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
CULLOMPTON TOWN COUNCIL - 5 November 2020 
RESOLVED that the Town Council has no objection to the application with the caveat that the road 
infrastructure is improved before any works start on the application site, this is with particular 
reference to the traffic lights at Junction 28 of the M5, the access and egress of Kingsmill Road 
and Honiton Road coming down from Mole Valley Farmers. 
 
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY – 27 November 2020 
Thank you for your email received on 12 November 2020 requesting further advice to allow the 
SUDS features to be delivered ahead of plots 1 and 2. 
  
We confirm that we have no objection to the proposal provided that conditions are applied to any 
permission granted requiring the developer to take account of the latest flood risk modelling when 
the detailed design and layout of the western plots and position of the SUDS ponds/swales (this 
can be achieved in 2 separate conditions); ensure that there is no land raising within the 
floodplain; and prepare a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP). 
 
Before determining the application your Authority will need to be content that the flood risk 
Sequential Test has been satisfied in accordance with the NPPF if you have not done so already. 
 
We have provided further advice on flood risk below. We also refer you to our previous advice on 
pollution prevention provided within our letter dated 28 October 
2020. 
 
Advice – Flood Risk 
We have considered the matters raised in your email of 12 November 2020 and consider that 
these can be resolved by having 2 separate conditions: 
 
1. For the Outline part of the application – to agree the detailed design of plots 1and 2 as part of 
the reserved matters application to demonstrate that all development is outside of the flood risk 
area. 
 
2. For the Full part of the application – to agree the detailed design of the SUDS features before 
the commencement of development to ensure that they are outside of the flood risk area. 
 
We have reviewed the flood plans in the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA, rev E, submitted 16 Nov), 
which show the flood outlines (please see: page 6 Figure 2.3 and Appendix E – Preliminary 
Drainage Layout plan). We consider that these show the new modelled flood outline correctly. The 
new outline represents a change to the flood zone along the edge of the site. The drainage 

Page 51



AGENDA 6 

condition will need to ensure that the detailed design of the attenuation ponds takes account of the 
new flood levels. The LLFA may also want to agree the details of the surface water drainage 
system. 
 
With regard to the outline application, the detailed design at the reserved matters stage will also 
need to take account of the revised fluvial flood level and it will need to be demonstrated that all 
development will be located outside of the flood risk area. 
 
We also consider that it would be sensible to include a condition which restricts land raising in the 
floodplain as shown in the plans within the FRA (or any amended flood outline when the condition 
is discharged – because they may be tweaked). 
 
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY – 4 November 2020 
We have no objection to the proposal provided that conditions are applied to any permission 
granted requiring the developer to 1) take account of the latest flood risk modelling when the 
detailed design and layout of the western plots and position of the SUDS ponds/swales; and 2) 
prepare a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP).  
  
Before determining the application your Authority will need to be content that the flood risk 
Sequential Test has been satisfied in accordance with the NPPF if you have not done so already.   
 
The suggested wording for these conditions is set out below.   
 
Condition - Detailed design of western side of development 
No development shall commence on plots 1 and 2 and the SUDS features at the western edge of 
the site until the detailed design and layout of this part of the development has been submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  The detailed design and layout of plots 1 and 
2 and the SUDS features at the western edge of the site shall be informed by the latest flood risk 
modelling, and information should be submitted to demonstrate that their siting and design will not 
result in an increase in flood risk on or off the site.  The development should be fully implemented 
and subsequently maintained in accordance with the agreed details.   
Reason: To avoid increasing flood risk to third parties 
 
Condition - Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP)  
No development shall take place until a detailed Construction Environment Management Plan 
(CEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  This Plan 
shall include details of all permits, contingency plans and mitigation measures that shall be put in 
place to control the risk of pollution to air, soil and controlled waters, protect biodiversity and avoid, 
minimise and manage the productions of wastes with particular attention being paid to the 
constraints and risks of the site.  Thereafter the development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details and any subsequent amendments shall be agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority.   
Reason:  To ensure that adequate measures are put in place to avoid or manage the risk of 
pollution or waste production during the course of the development works. 
 
Advice - Flood Risk 
Plots 5, 9 and 10, on which full planning permission is sought, are all located within Flood Zone 1 
(low probability of flooding).  However, the western part of the site (subject to outline approval) is 
located within Flood Zones 2 and 3 (medium and high probability of flooding respectively).  A 
sequential approach to layout at the reserved matters stage will therefore be necessary to ensure 
that development is avoided in the flood risk area.  This will need to be informed by the latest flood 
risk modelling.   
 

Page 52



AGENDA 7 

Any development which your Authority considers is necessary within the flood zone must be 
designed appropriately to ensure that there will be no increase in flood risk to the development or 
to third parties.  Of particular concern at this stage are plots 1 and 2 and the SUDS features at the 
western edge of the site.  We consider that the above condition will ensure that the siting and 
design of these are appropriate before development takes place.   
 
Informative - Flood Risk Activity Permit 
This proposal is located adjacent to a watercourse which is designated a main river at this 
location.  Under the terms of the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010 
a permit is required for any proposed works or structures, in, under, over or within eight metres of 
the top of the bank of the river.  Further details are available on the GOV.UK website: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits.  A permit is separate to 
and in addition to any planning permission granted. 
 
Advice - Construction Environment Management Plan 
We recommend that a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) is produced to pull 
together and manage the pollution control and waste management requirements during the 
construction phase. A CEMP is best prepared with the main Contractor.   
 
Run off from exposed ground / soils can pose a significant risk of pollution to nearby watercourses, 
particularly through soil/sediment run off and the CEMP should address how such run-off can be 
minimised, controlled and treated (if necessary).  Please ensure that this is considered well in 
advance as some treatment methods can require an Environmental Permit to be obtained. 
 
To assist in preparing the CEMP we refer the applicant to the advice contained within our Pollution 
Prevention Guidelines (PPGs), in particular PPG5 - Works and maintenance in or near water and 
PPG6 - Working at construction and demolition sites.  These can be viewed via the following link: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/pollution-prevention-guidance-ppg.  
 
We also advise that the use or disposal of any waste should comply with the relevant waste 
guidance and regulations.   
 
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT TEAM – 21 October 2020 
The proposed development lies in an area of archaeological potential to the east of the Romano-
British and medieval settlement at Cullompton and in an area where evidence of the Roman road 
leading eastward from the Roman fort at St Andrew's Hill might be present. While some 
archaeological monitoring of geotechnical pits has been undertaken across the site, this 
represents a very small sample of the site upon which to understand the presence of any 
archaeological features here. 
 
As such, groundworks for the construction of the proposed development have the potential to 
expose and destroy archaeological and artefactual deposits associated with the known Romano-
British and later heritage assets in the surrounding landscape. The impact of development upon 
the archaeological resource here should be mitigated by a programme of archaeological work that 
should investigate, record and analyse the archaeological evidence that will otherwise be 
destroyed by the proposed development. 
 
The Historic Environment Team recommends that this application should be supported by the 
submission of a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) setting out a programme of archaeological 
work to be undertaken in mitigation for the loss of heritage assets and archaeological interest. The 
WSI should be based on national standards and guidance and be approved by the Historic 
Environment Team. 
 

Page 53

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/pollution-prevention-guidance-ppg


AGENDA 8 

If a Written Scheme of Investigation is not submitted prior to determination the Historic 
Environment Team would advise, for the above reasons and in accordance with paragraph 199 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) and the supporting text in paragraph 5.3 of the Mid 
Devon Local Plan Part 3: Development Management Policy DM27 (2013), that any consent your 
Authority may be minded to issue should carry the condition as worded below, based on model 
Condition 55 as set out in Appendix A of Circular 11/95, whereby: 
 
'No development shall take place until the developer has secured the implementation of a 
programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI) 
which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out at all times in accordance with the approved scheme, or such 
other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM27 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2019), that an appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that may 
be affected by the development' 
 
This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure that the archaeological works are agreed 
and implemented prior to any disturbance of archaeological deposits by the commencement of 
preparatory and/or construction works. 
 
I would envisage a suitable programme of work as taking the form of a staged programme of 
archaeological works, commencing with the excavation of a series of evaluative trenches to 
determine the presence and significance of any heritage assets with archaeological interest that 
will be affected by the development. Based on the results of this initial stage of works the 
requirement and scope of any further archaeological mitigation can be determined and 
implemented either in advance of or during construction works. This archaeological mitigation work 
may take the form of full area excavation in advance of groundworks or the monitoring and 
recording of groundworks associated with the construction of the proposed development to allow 
for the identification, investigation and recording of any exposed archaeological or artefactual 
deposits. The results of the fieldwork and any post-excavation analysis undertaken would need to 
be presented in an appropriately detailed and illustrated report, and the finds and archive 
deposited in accordance with relevant national and local guidelines. 
 
DCC - WASTE MANAGEMENT TEAM - 7 October 2020 
Paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy for Waste and Policy W4 of the Devon Waste Plan 
requires major development proposals to be accompanied by a Waste Audit Statement.  The 
document that has been submitted has appropriately identified targets for the reuse, recycling and 
recovery for each waste type as well as identifying measures taken to avoid waste occurring. 
However the document is lacking in detail in its current form.  As such, the following points need to 
be addressed in the statement: 
 
1.  The amount of construction, demolition and excavation waste in tonnes. 
2.  The type of material the waste will arise from during construction, demolition and excavation 
3.  The method for auditing the waste produce including a monitoring scheme and corrective 
measures if failure to meet targets occurs. 
4.  The predicted annual amount of waste (in tonnes) that will be generated once the development 
is occupied. 
5.  Provide detail of the waste disposal method including the name and location of the waste 
disposal site. 
 
Devon County Council has published a Waste Management and Infrastructure SPD that provides 
guidance on the production of Waste Audit Statements. This includes a template set out in 

Page 54



AGENDA 9 

Appendix B, a construction, demolition and excavation waste checklist (page 14) and an 
operational waste checklist (page 17). Following the guidance provided in the SPD will enable the 
applicant to produce a comprehensive waste audit statement that is in accordance with Policy W4: 
Waste Prevention of the Devon Waste Plan. This can be found online at: 
https://www.devon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-policy/supplementary-
planning-document.  
 
FLOOD and COASTAL RISK MANAGEMENT TEAM – 15 January 2021 
Our objection is withdrawn and we have no in-principle objections to the above planning 
application at this stage, assuming that the following pre-commencement planning conditions are 
imposed on any approved permission: 
 
Full Areas 
 
No development hereby permitted shall commence until the following information has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
 
(a) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage 
Strategy. 
(b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt runoff from the site during 
construction of the development hereby permitted. 
(c) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water drainage system. 
(d) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site. 
(e) Model outputs to demonstrate that the proposed flow control will restrict flows to the relevant 
greenfield runoff rates for the positively drained area. These outputs must also demonstrate that 
the flows can be safely managed within the basin with a suitable freeboard of 300mm. No building 
hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works have been approved and implemented in 
accordance with the details under (a) - (e) above. 
Reason: The above conditions are required to ensure the proposed surface water drainage system 
will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, adjacent land 
or downstream in line with SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and national policies, including NPPF 
and PPG. The conditions should be pre-commencement since it is essential that the proposed 
surface water drainage system is shown to be feasible before works begin to avoid redesign / 
unnecessary delays during construction when site layout is fixed. 
 
Outline Areas 
 
Prior to or as part of the Reserved Matters, the following information shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
(a) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood Risk Assessment. 
(b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt run-off from the site during 
construction of the development hereby permitted. 
(c) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water drainage system. 
(d) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site. 
(e) Model outputs to demonstrate that the proposed flow control will restrict flows to the relevant 
greenfield runoff rates for the positively drained area. These outputs must also demonstrate that 
the flows can be safely managed within the basin with a suitable freeboard of 300mm. No building 
hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works have been approved and implemented in 
accordance with the details under (a) - (e) above. 
Reason: The above conditions are required to ensure the proposed surface water drainage system 
will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, adjacent land 
or downstream in line with SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and national policies, including NPPF 
and PPG. The conditions should be pre-commencement since it is essential that the proposed 

Page 55

https://www.devon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-policy/supplementary-planning-document
https://www.devon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-policy/supplementary-planning-document


AGENDA 10 

surface water drainage system is shown to be feasible before works begin to avoid redesign / 
unnecessary delays during construction when site layout is fixed. 
 
Observations: 
 
Following my previous consultation response (FRM/MD/01409; dated 12th October 2020), the 
applicant has provided additional information in relation to the surface water drainage aspects of 
the above planning application for which I am grateful. The applicant should submit the following 
information to the Local Planning Authority for their review: 
 
1. Flood Risk Assessment (Rev. E; dated 13th November 2020) 
2. Preliminary Drainage Layout (drawing No. PDL-101; Rev. E; dated 16th December 2020) 
 
The applicant has proposed to manage surface water within each plot and to manage long term 
storage and flows from the main access road within a detention basin. The applicant has noted 
that as the site is developed, the impermeable areas will increase, therefore the runoff rate will 
increase relevant to the positively drained area. The applicant has confirmed that the flow control 
for the basin will need to be assessed as the plots come forward. The parts of this site applied for 
in Full will need to assess the flow control when applying to discharge the above condition. The 
parts of this site applied for in Outline will need to assess the flow control at the Reserved Matters 
stage. 
 
Each plot should assess groundwater levels to ensure that groundwater will not affect the 
proposed surface water drainage system during its construction as well as during the operational 
phase. This includes for the proposed basin and swale. 
 
Each plot will need to assess features which will form a SuDS Management Train and provide 
treatment of surface water.  Each plot should assess above-ground features for surface water 
storage. 
 
FLOOD AND COASTAL RISK MANAGEMENT TEAM – 16 October 2020 
Although we have no in-principle objection to the above planning application at this stage, the 
applicant must submit additional information, as outlined below, in order to demonstrate that all 
aspects of the proposed surface water drainage management system have been considered. 
 
The applicant has proposed to attenuate surface water within underground and above-ground 
features before discharging surface water to the Kenn Stream.  The applicant has proposed to 
construct a detention basin to manage the long-term storage volume for the entire site as well as 
to treat surface water. This basin will also provide storage for surface water from the proposed 
estate road.  
 
The MicroDrainage model outputs, submitted within the Flood Risk Assessment (Rev. D; dated 
19th August 2019), demonstrate the highway draining to the basin. However, the model outputs 
also have upstream structures flowing to the basin. In addition to the model outputs already 
submitted, the applicant should submit model outputs for the highway drainage only to 
demonstrate the required surface water volumes for the 1 in 2 year, 1 in 30 year and 1 in 100 year 
(+40% allowance for climate change) return periods. 
 
It is understood that parts of this site are applying for full planning permission and other parts are 
applying for outline planning permission. The applicant should provide details to clarify the phasing 
of development.  The detention basin will provide long-term storage for the entire site, however, if 
only the estate road is constructed initially (before any 'plots' are constructed) then the basin may 
be discharging at a rate higher than the greenfield runoff rate for the estate road. 

Page 56



AGENDA 11 

 
Although some of the plots are applied for in Outline, the applicant must submit a plan depicting 
surface water drainage for each plot. This is to demonstrate that there is enough space within the 
site to manage surface water appropriately. 
 
Further details for the SuDS Management Train must be submitted. The applicant should assess 
the suitability of further features, such as permeable paving, green roofs, living walls, rain gardens 
and rainwater harvesting. 
 
The applicant should assume that the permeable areas will drain into the surface water drainage 
system when assessing long-term storage for this site. The topography of the site suggests that 
landscaped areas may flow onto highways and/or directly into the proposed detention basin.  The 
applicant must submit cross-sections of the proposed detention basin and swale.  The applicant 
must clarify the landscaping proposals for the detention basin and swale.   
 
The applicant has outlined who may be responsible for maintaining the surface water drainage 
system. However, the applicant must also confirm how the surface water drainage system will be 
maintained. 
 
For plots 5, 9 and 10, the applicant must provide further exceedance route arrows on the 
Preliminary Drainage Layout (PDL-101; Rev. C; dated 19th August 2020). This is to demonstrate 
how exceedance routes will be safely managed within these plots (which are applied for in Full). 
 
The applicant should provide written confirmation that the Environment Agency are content with a 
swale being constructed within Flood Zone 3. 
 
NATURAL ENGLAND - 5 October 2020 
No comments.  Natural England has not assessed this application for impacts on protected 
species. Natural England has published Standing Advice which you can use to assess impacts on 
protected species or you may wish to consult your own ecology services for advice. 
 
PUBLIC HEALTH – 28 January 2021 

Lighting 
There is considerable potential for site lighting to affect nearby residents and I cannot see a 
lighting report and proposal within the documents online. It is essential that this is designed to 
ensure no upwards or sideways light overspill, and preferably all light units should be sited at low 
height with shields or reflectors designed to reduce white light glare. A condition can be included in 
any approval requiring a scheme with report and drawings to be submitted prior to occupation of 
the first units in order to ensure that residents are not affected by intrusive light. 
 
A noise report has been submitted, prepared by Inacoustic dated December 2020. This report 
takes into account existing cumulative noise sources and suggests daytime and night time 
cumulative noise limits. Whilst these are useful the report does not consider or recommend how 
noise reduction and mitigation can be addressed by design of the development area as a whole, or 
requirements for noise control on plant and equipment as buildings come forward at reserved 
matters stage and how noise should be controlled over the site as a whole once fully operational. 
 
There are residences immediately adjacent to some site boundaries, particularly to the south, and 
it is possible that housing will encroach on the site from the north in the future. There is potential 
for all of these properties to be affected by unacceptable noise levels unless controls are built in 
from the outset. The best way to ensure that the potential for noise is considered at the outset, and 
in a way that does not unreasonably interfere with the operation of the various businesses, is to 

Page 57



AGENDA 12 

require that a Noise Management Plan is prepared and submitted before the first occupation of 
any building. 
 
Items for inclusion in the plan would include: 
1. Design and layout of the site to ensure no active or working areas back on to residences. 
2. Design and layout of the site to minimise the need for reversing vehicles, particularly delivery 
vehicles. 
3. A commitment to ensure no building openings (other than fire escapes) are included on any 
façade facing residences. 
4. A commitment to ensure that no potentially noisy air conditioning units, extract systems or flues 
are located on the facades facing residences. 
5. The consideration of site boundary treatments. For example acoustic fencing may be required in 
parallel with existing boundary treatments with residences where acoustic protection is not 
provided by the building itself. 
6. Where possible goods in and out areas to be located remote from residences. 
7. No waste storage or recycling areas to be located adjacent to residential boundaries. 
8. Additional consideration for buildings which may be used for all night working, such as 
distribution centres. 
9. A commitment to comply with the cumulative 1 hour noise limits for day and night (41 dB and 
36dB respectively) set out in the Inacoustic report Dec 2020. 
10. A prohibition on high frequency audible reversing alarms on any vehicle based on the 
commercial area (there are alternative quiet safe reversing techniques available). 
 
We would also recommend the removal of any permitted development rights on any of the 
buildings in respect of the installation of potentially noisy plant or equipment. 
 
Finally there is considerable potential for residents to be affected by noise and dust during the 
construction process so we recommend that the standard CEMP condition is included in any 
approval. 
 
PUBLIC HEALTH - 6 October 2020 
Contaminated Land:  
Before the commencement of development, a Construction Environmental Management Plan 
(CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The CEMP 
shall identify the steps and procedures that will be implemented to minimise the creation and 
impact of noise, vibration, dust and waste disposal resulting from the site preparation, groundwork 
and construction phases of the development and manage Heavy/Large Goods Vehicle access to 
the site.  It shall include details of the hours of operation and measures to be employed to prevent 
the egress of mud, water and other detritus onto the public and any non-adopted highways.  Once 
approved the CEMP shall be adhered to at all times, unless otherwise first agreed in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority. (1.12.20) 
 
Air Quality: Prior to the commencement of development the developer must provide an Air Quality 
Impact Assessment. The Air Quality Impact Assessment must be undertaken by a suitably 
qualified professional(s). The Air Quality Impact Assessment must consider the impact of the 
development on local air quality and relevant sensitive receptors, the impact of existing local air 
quality on the development and relevant sensitive receptors and any necessary mitigation. 
Additionally, the cumulative impact of all locally committed developments (small scale and large 
scale major sites i.e. >10 properties) on existing local air quality must be considered to assess if 
further mitigation measures, other than those recommended as part of the above, are required. 
 
The details of all required mitigation measures identified as part of the above must be agreed with 
the Local Planning Authority. All required mitigation measures must be carried out in accordance 

Page 58



AGENDA 13 

with the details agreed by the Local Planning Authority prior to the operation/occupation of the 
development. 
Reason: To assess the potential health risks to relevant sensitive receptors from local air quality 
and identify required mitigation measures. (1.12.20) 
 
Environmental Permitting: No objection to this proposal (22.09.20) 
 
Drainage: No comments (1.12.20) 
  
Noise & other nuisances:  
These industrial units are being proposed near to an urban area and therefore, the developer 
needs to demonstrate that all mitigation methods have been considered to ensure that noise levels 
at the closes receptors do not exceed unsatisfactory noise levels.  
To help achieve this, a BS 4142:2014+A1:2019 noise assessment should be undertaken.  A BS 
4142:2014+A1:2019 noise assessment should give accurate, clear and relevant information about 
the existing daytime noise environment, and the impact of the industrial noise.   
 
The purpose of this noise assessment is to determine whether or not the current occupants are 
likely to be adversely affected by noise.  This will help inform the decision making process for the 
proposed development.  If the noise impact assessment highlights noise as an issue, mitigation 
will need to be considered and the mitigation will need to be assessed to determine if it is at an 
appropriate level to protect against noise ingress from the local environment. (1.12.20) 
 
Licensing: No comments (24.09.20) 
Food Hygiene: No comments (22.09.20) 
 
Private Water Supplies:  
If a private supply is to be used by more than one property or has a commercial function, The 
Private Water Supply (England) Regulations 2016 as amended will apply. A risk assessment and 
sampling regime will be necessary. The supply must not be used until the Local Authority (Mid 
Devon District Council) is satisfied that the supply does not constitute a potential danger to human 
health, including single domestic use.  You must also register with the Local Authority (Mid Devon 
District Council) any private water supply. Failure to do so may result in a Section 85 Notice, with 
which failure to comply is an offence. Please contact Public Health at Mid Devon District Council 
on completion of proposal.  If mains water is to be used, would have no comment. (22.09.20) 
 
Health and Safety: No comments (22.09.20) 
 
DEVON, CORNWALL & DORSET POLICE - 25 September 2020 
Police have no objections in principle to either the outline or full proposals. Please note the 
following information, initial advice and recommendations from a designing out crime, fear of 
crime, antisocial behaviour (ASB) and conflict perspective:- 
 
Plots 5, 9 and 10 
Commercial units can be vulnerable to burglary, theft and unwanted trespass, therefore it is 
recommended that the units are constructed to achieve Secured by Design (SBD) compliance. 
Secured by Design (SBD) is a crime prevention initiative managed by Police Crime Prevention 
Initiatives Ltd (PCPI) on behalf of the UK police services. 
SBD aims to reduce crime, the fear of crime and opportunities for antisocial behaviour and conflict 
within developments by applying the attributes of Environmental Design, as follows, in conjunction 
with appropriate physical security measures. 
 

Page 59



AGENDA 14 

Access and movement: Places with well-defined and well used routes, with spaces and entrances 
that provide for convenient movement without compromising security  
Structure: Places that are structured so that different uses do not cause conflict  
Surveillance: Places where all publicly accessible spaces are overlooked; have a purpose and are 
managed to prevent the creation of problem areas which can attract criminal activity and the 
antisocial to gather.  
Ownership: Places that promote a sense of ownership, respect and territorial responsibility 
Physical protection: Places that include necessary, well-designed security features. 
Activity: Places where the level of human activity is appropriate to the location and creates a 
reduced risk of crime and a sense of safety at all times. 
Management and maintenance: Places that are designed with management and maintenance in 
mind, to discourage crime and ASB. 
 
In general, the proposed buildings appear to follow a simple design where recesses and 
concealed areas are minimised which is a good design feature in increasing surveillance 
opportunities. However the path/gap between units 1E & 2A does give cause for concern and I 
recommend this be fenced/gated to prevent casual access but allow for maintenance as required. 
This area should be lit and ideally included in any CCTV system. 
It is recommended an appropriate monitored CCTV and alarm system is installed as part of the 
overall security package for each unit.  
 
Lighting for the site must be compatible with the CCTV system.  
 
Care needs to be taken with regard to planting/landscaping, where applicable, so as to not create 
hiding places, areas of concealment for vehicle interference or impede surveillance opportunities. 
 
There should be no access to areas that are not overlooked to reduce the opportunity for anti-
social and criminal activity. There should be no open access to ground floor windows or doors to 
the sides or rear of the buildings.  To deter and prevent criminal, opportunist and casual intrusion, 
the plots should be securely enclosed by means of appropriate security fencing and gates.  
 
Consideration should be given to installation of a suitable barrier or gate which could be secured 
when the units are closed and prevent potential misuse of the car park particularly by groups in 
their cars. This is not altogether uncommon problem for industrial parks elsewhere in North Devon 
and can arise at any time. Securing the car park out of hours reduces likely incidents of crime, 
disorder and anti-social behaviour. 
 
DCC RIGHTS OF WAY OFFICER – 5 October 2020 
The proposal as submitted would not have a direct effect on public rights of way but would lead to 
an increased use. The proposal also has the potential to contribute to access improvements in the 
locality. 
 
The existing public footpath number 3 Cullompton runs from Stonyford to Kingsmill Industrial 
Estate. There is potential for an additional riverside (Kenn) link path and ramp access 
improvements to the bridge. If farm stock are not kept in adjoining fields the PROW team would 
request that the proposed kissing gate be left as a gap. If stock are to be present then a suitable 2 
way disability access gate should be used. 
 
The Public Rights of Way Team has no objection to the proposal but recommends that the 
proposal provides the opportunity to enhance the provision and use of the public rights of way 
network in the area. The applicant should be aware that public footpath no 3 crosses the 
application site. Should planning permission be granted the applicant must ensure that the path is 
kept open and available for the public to use during site preparation and construction.  If a 

Page 60



AGENDA 15 

temporary closure is required, the applicant would need to apply to the County Council for a 
Temporary Traffic Regulation Order.  
 
Please note that the grant of planning permission does not grant the right to close, alter or build 
over a right of way in any way, even temporarily, this includes, for example, a change in the 
surface, width or location. Nothing should be done to divert or stop up a public right of way without 
following the due legal process, including confirmation of any permanent diversion or stopping-up 
order and the provision of any new path. In order to avoid delays this should be considered at an 
early opportunity. 
 
If permission is granted, please include as footnotes in the decision notice: 
 
1.  The alignment, width, and condition of public rights of way providing for their safe and 
convenient use shall remain unaffected by the development unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Public Rights of Way Team. 
2.  Nothing in this decision notice shall be taken as granting consent for alterations to public rights 
of way without the due legal process being followed.  
 
HIGHWAY AUTHORITY – 18 November 2020 
I have been involved in the application at pre-application stage and made comment on the fact that 
no footway had been provided on the north side of the road to connect in with existing footway at 
Mole Valley and they had suggested that pedestrians use the footway on the southern side which 
is not public highway and a private lane and this would not be acceptable. 
 
The applicant looked into providing the footway along the northern side of the A373 but 
unfortunately the only way a 2 metre wide footway could be delivered would be to reduce the width 
of the A373 which also would not be acceptable as this could create highway safety issues. 
Therefore a proposal has been put forward to connect a footway to the PROW which runs from the 
edge of the Mole Valley and continues into the Kingsmill Industrial Estate.  I would suggest that 
this route be secured through a condition and also this route to be upgraded to a more suitable 
surface for pedestrians to use. 
 
I have also been questioned regards the application has not provided a right hand turn lane in to 
the proposed industrial estate, the reason this has not been provided is the estimated trip rates 
shown in the Transport Assessment shows that this junction does not meet the guidance numbers 
and requirements for a right hand turn lane. 
 
The T junction proposed is within the 30 mph speed limit and the visibility splays required for this 
speed is 2.4 metres x 43 metres in both directions. A speed survey was carried out and the 85 
percentile speeds showed this to be higher and therefore has adjusted the visibility to 2.4 metres x 
70 metres in both directions. 
 
HIGHWAY AUTHORITY – 20 October 2020  
The site is accessed off the A373 County Route which is restricted to 30 mph. 
 
The number of personal injury collisions which have been reported to the police in this area 
between 01/01/2015 and 31/12/2019 is 3 recorded accidents. One slight accident in 2016 at the 
junction of Kingsmill Road and the A373 involving 2 vehicles and no casualties. One Fatal accident 
in 2018, 41 metres from the junction with an unclassified road involving 1 vehicle. One Serious 
Accident further along the A373 involving 1 vehicle and 1 casualty. None of these accident were in 
the vicinity of the proposed access in this proposal. 
 

Page 61



AGENDA 16 

The Applicant has submitted an Access Plan within the Transport Assessment which shows a 
visibility splay of 2.4 x 70 metres in both directions which is over the requirement for a 30 mph 
road therefore acceptable for this area and would provide a safe and suitable access.  
 
With the number of trips which has been assessed through the Trics Database which is a National 
acceptable Database for this size of proposed development could create shows the T Junction 
layout would be suitable and no further mitigation would be required. 
Although the applicant has not put forward a foot way link from this access to the existing footway 
near Mole Avon as the land is not available to applicant to provide this link, the Applicant has 
provided a footway link through the public right of way which would require a diversion of this 
Public Right of Way which in principle has been agreed. 
 
The Transport Assessment which has been submitted is a robust assessment of the existing 
conditions and the impact this development would have on the highway network and the 
assessment shows this would not be a severe impact on the highway network. 
The Assessment also provides a Travel Plan to encourage other modes of Transport to each of 
the Units. 
 
Drawing Number PHL -102 Rev C shows an area highlighted in green which is a strip of land 20 
metres wide to be safeguarded for potential future Devon County Council Highway Improvements, 
this land will be required to be secured through a Section 106 Agreement. 
 
The applicant will need to enter into a legal agreement with the Highway Authority for mitigation for 
capacity improvements to junction 28, and delivery of the Cullompton Relief Road. 
 
Therefore the County Highway Authority has no objections to this application. 
 
The Head of Planning, Transportation and Environment, on behalf of Devon County Council, as 
Local Highway Authority, recommends that the following conditions shall be incorporated in any 
grant of permission: 
 
1.  Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and 
approved a Construction Management Plan (CMP) including: 
(a) the timetable of the works; 
(b) daily hours of construction; 
(c) any road closure; 
(d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with such 
vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays inclusive; 
9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and 
Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 
(e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and the 
frequency of their visits; 
(f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, 
crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction phases; 
(g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building 
materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with 
confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for 
loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local 
Planning Authority; 
(h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
(i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works;  
(j) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit 
construction staff vehicles parking off-site; 

Page 62



AGENDA 17 

(k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations; 
(l) the proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes; 
(m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking; and 
(n) photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement of 
any work. 
 
2.  In accordance with details that shall previously have been submitted to, and approved by, the 
Local Planning Authority, provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water 
so that none drains on to any County Highway 
Reason: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
As at the time of writing this report, 12 representations had been received, including 
representations from two Cullompton Ward Members. The comments are in-depth and have been 
fully considered however the main points raised are summarised below. 
 
Two representations from Ward Members: 
 
1. I support the concerns raised by the Town Council 
2. If I am reading the plans correctly it appears that the site indicated on the site location plan 
includes an area outside the CU17 allocation which is allocated as Green Infrastructure in the 
current Local Plan. If so, please condition to ensure that development does not encroach onto this 
GI area.  Please also consider conditions to protect the amenity of nearby residents from potential 
impacts resulting from this development, particularly noise disturbance, smells etc. 
 
One letter of support received, summarised as follows: 
 
1. The development would provide local employment. 
 
9 objections received (where multiple correspondence has been received from one member of the 
public, this is counted here as one objection), summarised as follows:    
 
Need 
1. There is no need for further industrial capacity at this time.  There is capacity on nearby 

employment sites and within the wider area and demand is forecast to be low in the near 
future, including a rise in unemployment due to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

2. Kingsmill is the industrial site for Cullompton and there are empty units and land with planning 
permission that has not been built out. 

3. Industries currently cannot recruit sufficient staff to fill their vacancies. 
 

Impacts on residents 
4. Noise, vibration and light pollution during construction and operation will affect nearby 

residents. 
5. Security issues for neighbouring residents will increase. 
6. Tree planting to screen existing houses should be provided. 
7. The application is proposing to close an existing public right of way. 
8. There are likely to be contaminants washed away with the surface water without passing 

through an interceptor and enter ground water and nearby water supplies. 
9. It is likely that hazardous materials would be stored on the site. 
10. Mole Valley has restrictions on the levels of noise, operation of power tools, lighting and 

advertising which should also apply to this development, and which should also include 
smells. 

Page 63



AGENDA 18 

11. Residents are already affected by noise, smells and commercial vehicles on the Kingsmill site.  
This site is closer and will increase nuisances. 

12. In considering air quality, the increase in heavy goods vehicles must be taken into account, 
including diesel fume emissions from queuing vehicles. 

13. Stoneyford residents will lose their views of the Culm Valley and their outlook will become 
grey industrial units accompanied by large areas of concrete, signing and lighting.  

 
Transport 
14. The MDDC Garden Village website states that the road infrastructure needs to be enhanced 

to connect Cullompton with the garden village.  J28 M5 has recently reached capacity and 
frequently the A373 Honiton Road has experienced traffic queues of up to one mile long 
caused by either problems on the M5 and/or at the J28 traffic lights. 

15. Introducing an industrial site off the Honiton Road without the enhanced road network will 
escalate the matter especially with the projected large number of construction vehicles and 
lorries needed to build the new 5,000 homes. 

16. There will be a considerable increase in traffic along the A373 where traffic speeds and 
volumes are already a problem.  No extensive development should be permitted until the 
supporting infrastructure in constructed to cope with increased traffic flow. 

17. A transport link to the Kingsmill site is not proposed.  The site could link into Kingsmill via the 
site to the north which already has an estate road by removing the intervening hedge. 

18. The will inevitably link into the allocated field adjacent to Brunel Road and/or Cullompton 
Business Park.  All traffic from the Kingsmill Estate will than have excess to the newly 
proposed junction on the Honiton Road bringing an excessive amount of articulated vehicles 
through Stoneyford.  

19. There is no public transport to the Kingsmill Industrial Estate. 
20. There have been accidents on the Honiton Road in the vicinity of the site. 
21. Crossing the A373 is already difficult.  During recent roadworks near the M5 junction, a 

temporary traffic light controlled pedestrian crossing was needed.  This is likely to be needed 
again with more traffic using the roads. 

22. The simple T junction proposed is inadequate as vehicles exceed the 30 mph speed limit 
(speeds are around 40 mph generally) and fast moving vehicles could conflict with slow 
moving traffic in and out of the new access.  A roundabout is required at the very least. 

23. DCC has commented that the estimated trip rates are not sufficient to require a right turn lane.  
This may be correct for a stand-alone application but there is an intention to permit a 
connecting road network from Kingsmill to the new entrance in Honiton Road.  The combined 
usage will need to have a dedicated safety lane.  The access should be designed to cater for 
this excess traffic flow. 

24. Mole Valley were required to have a right turn lane.  This development should be no different 
as without one traffic will queue behind vehicles turning into the development. 

25. If there are vehicles waiting to turn into the site, traffic will use the private drive opposite to 
avoid waiting. 

26. The entrance is on the brow of a hill and there will be inadequate visibility for vehicles leaving 
the site. 

27. The developer should pay for all highway improvements required. 
28. The “lane leading to Brent Knoll” is a private unadopted single lane and not a public right of 

way and therefore could not be used for access. 
29. Parking restrictions should be stipulated around the site to ensure that parked vehicles and 

vehicles waiting to make deliveries do not increase the chance of collision. 
30. Honiton Road will become the new main thoroughfare for the garden village and does not 

need the added complication of large vehicles turning out of the industrial estate. 
 
 
 

Page 64



AGENDA 19 

 
Flooding and drainage 
31. A flood detention basin is proposed off-site in the green infrastructure area.  This should be 

within the development. 
32. Providing bunds to protect the new development will increase flood risk elsewhere.  The 

development will increase flooding to properties nearby. 
33. Extract from a Today Programme interview with Sir James Bevan, Chief Executive of the 

Environment Agency, highlighting climate change and its impacts on increased flood risk.  
Request that the reports submitted should be updated following latest Environment Agency 
guidance and Met Office report.  Inequitable to permit a development upon land which is 
unlikely to cope with that enhanced risk, thereby multiplying the same flood risk to the 
dwellings nearby. 

 
Other 
34. 92% of Stoneyford residents are against this development. 
35. Residents are unable to submit a formal petition due to Covid restrictions. 
36. Stoneyford is a residential area and not a commercial one, which is reinforced by the 

development of the garden village and the recreational/sports complex proposed adjacent to 
the site.  

37. The proposed garden village should not have an industrial estate at its entrance.  This should 
be a green space buffer for existing residents. 

38. The developers plan shows a link to the public footpath.  This leads into a private lane/ drive 
that has a public right of way on it. It is often in wet waterlogged or covered in deep mud and 
not suitable to walk along. 

39. The entrance of the original footway is on Honiton Road and has no view of the new proposed 
industrial estate so people will not know to use it. 

40. Additional footfall will increase maintenance costs of the private lane. 
41. The development will encroach on land identified as green infrastructure in the Local Plan.  

The importance of green space was highlighted during the Covid-19 pandemic and should not 
be reduced. 

42. Removal of quality agricultural land must be opposed. 
43. I have seen a document that mentions the existence of a restricted covenant on the plot of 

land to the north of this application and a 'ransom strip' held between that plot of land and the 
application area.  Is this to force the access to be from Honiton Road rather than from 
Kingsmill Estate?  It is in the public's interest for these facts to be declared in full. 

 
MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS AND OBSERVATIONS 
 
The main issues in the determination of this application are: 
 
1. Principle of development 
2. Proposed uses 
3. Need for development 
4. Design and layout, including parking 
5. Impacts on neighbouring residents 
6. Highways  
7. Flood risk and drainage 
8. Public rights of way and green infrastructure  
9. Heritage 
10. Section 106 Agreement 
 
 
 

Page 65



AGENDA 20 

 
1. Principle of development 
 
The site is part of a larger site allocated for employment development (Use Classes B2 and B8) 
under policy CU17 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033, and therefore the principle of 
employment development on this site has already been established through the Local Plan. 
 
Policy CU17 states: 
 
A site of 10.7 hectares is allocated for employment development, subject to the following: 
 
a)  15,000 square metres of employment floor space within use classes B2-B8; 
b)  Provision of a vehicular link from the Kingsmill employment area to Honiton Road; 
c)  Archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation; 
d)  Protection and enhancement of the existing Public Right of Way; 
e)  Transport assessment and implementation of a travel plan and other non-traditional measures 

to minimise carbon footprint and air quality impacts; 
f)  Provision of 2 hectares of green infrastructure to include the retention of land in the floodplain, 

providing a landscape buffer to the west of the site as an area of informal open space; and 
g)  Capacity improvements at Junction 28 M5 to deliver a strategic highway improvement as 

demonstrated by capacity studies completed to assess the impact of the traffic generated from 
the site. 

 
The proposal covers 8.74 hectares of the allocation and includes the first 4,327 square metres of 
floor space within the full planning application, with the remainder of the floor space subject to 
future reserved matters applications.   
 
Other strategic policies relating to employment development include policy S1 which sees a 
development focus at Cullompton as one of Mid Devon’s most sustainable settlements, with long-
term growth to the east of Cullompton.  The policy encourages building a strong, competitive 
economy through access to education, training and jobs, infrastructure, the creation of new 
enterprise, economic regeneration and flexibility of uses to respond to changing circumstances; 
and policies S2 and S6 which seek the provision of 147,000 square metres of commercial floor 
space within the Local Plan period.  Policy S2 sees development concentrated at the 3 main 
towns, with a development target of 73,500 of commercial floor space at Cullompton.  Policy S11 
states that Cullompton will develop as a fast growing market town with a strategic role in the 
hierarchy of settlements in Mid Devon. The town will become the strategic focus of new 
development reflecting its accessibility, economic potential and environmental capacity. This 
strategy will improve access to housing and expanded employment opportunities. 
 
Objections have been received in respect of the site not being suitable for employment 
development, including Stoneyford being a residential area, loss of agricultural land, and the site 
being at the gateway to the proposed Garden Village.   
 
As mentioned above, the site is already allocated for employment development under policy CU17 
so the suitability of the site has already been tested through the Local Plan.   
 
The Garden Village will contain commercial development as well as residential.  The allocated 
area for East Cullompton (Phase 1 of the Garden Village) is shown as “mixed use” in the Local 
Plan, which will contain a number of different uses including employment.  The location of these 
uses will be considered further through development of the masterplan. 
 

Page 66



AGENDA 21 

The development would make a significant contribution towards the Local Plan targets, and 
development in this location is considered to be acceptable in principle. 
 
2. Proposed uses 
 
Policy CU17 allocates the site for employment development within Use Classes B2 (general 
industry) and B8 (storage and distribution).  However, the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020 amended these Use Classes, splitting Use 
Class B2 partly into new Use Class E, and partly remaining in Use Class B2.   
 
The text of policy CU17 states that although the allocation is for B2 and B8, the Council will 
consider proposals for alternative employment-generating uses on their merits. 
 
New Use Class E is very wide and includes uses such as retail and food and drink outlets, and 
your officers do not consider it appropriate or desirable to grant a blanket Class E use on the site.  
To provide some flexibility on the site, whilst also restricting development to employment uses, 
your officers have agreed with the applicant that the uses should be restricted to B2 and B8, plus 
sub-class (g) of new Class E: 
 
E(g) Uses which can be carried out in a residential area without detriment to its amenity: 
 

E(g) (i) Offices to carry out any operational or administrative functions, 
E(g) (ii) Research and development of products or processes 
E(g) (iii) Industrial processes. 

 
This provides a balance between restricting uses to traditional employment uses as required by 
policy CU17, and providing a development that is able to be flexible to market demands. 
 
3. Need for development  

 
Concern has been raised about the need for employment floor space, objectors referring to empty 
units on nearby employment sites, and sites without planning permission that have not been built 
out.  Objectors also raise the issue of Covid-19 and the effect on current and future levels of 
unemployment. 
 
As the site is already allocated for employment under policy CU17 of the Local Plan, there is no 
policy requirement for the applicant to justify the need for the development through the planning 
application.  The proposal would provide a flexible mix of units and the applicant has demonstrated 
that he has a number of businesses lined up to take units on the development.  The Council’s 
economic development officers have confirmed that there is demand for new units as seen on 
other nearby employment developments. 
 
4. Design and layout, including parking  
 
Policy S1 requires sustainable design that respects local character, creates safe environments, 
designs out crime and establishes a sense of place, including the provision of green infrastructure 
and renewable energy, managing flood risk, conserving natural and heritage resources including 
providing a net gain in biodiversity, and preventing significant harm to soil, air, water, noise and 
visual quality. 
 
Policy S9 requires development to sustain the distinctive quality, character and diversity of Mid 
Devon’s environmental assets and minimise the impact of development on climate change through 

Page 67



AGENDA 22 

high quality sustainable design.  The policy also requires development to support opportunities to 
enhance habitats and preserve heritage assets. 
 
Policy DM1 requires new development to be of high quality making efficient use of the site and 
based upon a clear understanding of the characteristics of the site and the surrounding area, 
creating safe and accessible places that encourage walking and cycling.  Development should be 
well integrated with surrounding buildings, streets and landscapes, and not have an unacceptably 
adverse effect on the privacy and amenity of neighbouring properties.   
 
The 11 development plots are located around a central estate road with access from Honiton 
Road.  Detailed designed have been submitted for 3 of the plots, with the remainder of the plots 
being subject to later reserved matters applications.   
 
The buildings on plots 5, 9 and 10 are similarly designed being steel framed buildings with silver 
and grey horizontal and vertical cladding over a brick plinth, grey clad roofs, aluminium windows 
and roller shutter or sectional overhead doors.  The buildings are considered to be suitably 
designed for their use and the scale and appearance of the buildings acceptable for the location.  
Whilst the application states the use of metallic silver cladding, the applicant has confirmed that 
the cladding will be matt, not shiny, and it is recommended that this is conditioned to avoid 
reflective surfaces. 
 
In terms of designing out crime, Devon, Cornwall & Dorset Police have raised no objections to the 
design and layout but have made some suggestions to ensure the safety of the site and it is 
recommended that the applicant takes these suggestions on board. 
 
There will be an element of cut and fill to existing ground levels to provide a level building footprint, 
yard and parking areas.  Cut and fill has been kept to a minimum, with the use of a split building on 
Plot 10 to take account of the existing contours.   
 
Policy DM5 states that development must provide an appropriate level of parking, taking into 
account the accessibility of the site and the type, mix and use of development. Design must enable 
the maximum use of sustainable modes of transport, including provision for cyclists and low-
emission vehicles.   
 
Plots 9 and 10 would provide parking in line with parking standards set by policy DM5.  Plot 5 is a 
50/50 mix of B2 and B8 which requires 41 parking spaces to meet the Council’s parking standards.  
However, the proposal would provide only 30 parking spaces.  The unit would provide a bespoke 
building designed for a specific end-user who has assessed the need for parking based on its own 
requirements.  Whilst the parking provision is below the standard required by DM5, your officers 
consider the level of parking has been justified and would not warrant refusal of the application on 
this point. 
 
Cycle parking and electric charging points on each unit will be provided to meet standards required 
by policy DM5. 
 
Parking for each of the plots under the outline part of the application would be assessed under 
subsequent reserved matters applications.  
 
5. Impacts on neighbouring residents 
 
Policy DM1 states that development should be well integrated with surrounding buildings, streets 
and landscapes, and not have an unacceptably adverse effect on the privacy and amenity of 
neighbouring properties.   

Page 68



AGENDA 23 

 
There are a number of residential properties with the potential to be affected by the development.  
This includes 3 properties between the site and Mole Valley.  These houses have fairly large 
gardens and there is a distance of between 45 and 55 metres from the rear of these houses to the 
boundary of the application site.   
 
Plots 10 and 11 are closest to the boundaries of these residential properties.  The design of Plot 
11 would be the subject of a later reserved matters application.  The buildings on Plot 10 have 
been designed with mono-pitched roofs, the lowest side being closest to the boundary, and there 
are no windows above ground floor level in the rear elevation facing the boundary.  The parking 
and yard areas are furthest away from the boundary to minimise noise and light disturbances. 
 
There is also a cluster of houses to the north of Honiton Road and to the west of Mole Valley, 
served by private lanes, one of which is also a public right of way.  An area of land to the west of 
the employment site and to the north of these properties is designated as green infrastructure (see 
below in this report) and this will minimise adverse effects on the privacy and amenity of these 
properties.  There is a distance of around 90 metres between the closest house and the edge of 
the developable area of the site. 
 
Concern has been raised that the nearest of these properties will be more visible from the green 
infrastructure area leading to security concerns.  A request has been made for tree planting along 
the boundary to protect these properties from public view.  There is already a public right of way 
across the green infrastructure area from which the properties are visible, however, the applicant 
has agreed to plant trees along the boundary as part of its landscaping of the green infrastructure 
area. 
 
Concern has also been raised that residents will lose their views of the Culm Valley.  Loss of a 
view is not a material consideration in determination of planning applications.  The design of 
proposed buildings where these are being determined through this application seeks to minimise 
the impacts on outlook from nearby residential properties by keeping the height down, particularly 
where buildings border gardens, breaking up the massing of larger buildings, and through the use 
of materials. 
 
Policy DM4 requires applications for development that risks negatively impacting on the quality of 
the environment through noise, odour, light, air, water, land and other forms of pollution must be 
accompanied by assessments of the impacts and provide appropriate mitigation.   
 
Objections have been received concerning impacts on nearby residents including noise, vibration 
and light pollution, as well as contaminants being washed off into water courses and ground water, 
and hazardous materials being stored on site.  Objectors point out restrictions applied to the 
neighbouring Mole Valley in respect of noise and lighting. 
 
Following a request from Environmental Health, a noise assessment report has been submitted.  
The assessment considers the potential noise emissions arising from activity levels at the 
proposed development, and has identified that noise levels arising as a result of probable 
operations within the three development plots comprising the detailed element are predicted to be 
at a level defined as a low impact at the closest off-site noise-sensitive receptors.  In addition, the 
assessment also considers the potential noise emissions arising from the outline application and 
has set readily achievable noise limits that would apply at the closest receptors to the site.   
 

Page 69



AGENDA 24 

Environmental Heath has considered the noise assessment and has recommended conditions in 
respect of submission of a Noise Management Plan for approval before occupation of any unit, 
and a restriction on installation of plant and machinery without prior approval.   
 
Environmental Health, Environment Agency and the Highway Authority have recommended 
conditioning a Construction Environmental Management Plan to minimise disturbance and 
pollution during the construction phases, and your officers also recommend this condition. 
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority has also recommended conditions to deal with surface water run-
off, including treatment where necessary. 
 
In terms of waste generated from the construction and operation of the development, Devon 
County Council has recommended additional information be provided to supplement the submitted 
Waste Audit Statement, and it is recommended that provision of this additional information is 
conditioned in order for the development to comply with the policies of the Devon Waste Plan. 
 
External lighting on the site has the potential to affect bats as well as nearby residents.  The 
ecology report recommends mitigation in the form of site lighting being designed to avoid/ 
minimise light spill through location and angle/shielding of lighting and to ensure lighting is 
directional with minimal back spill, and ‘warm’ LED lights are utilised.  A condition in respect of 
external lighting is also recommended by Environmental Health requiring the submission of a 
Lighting Plan for approval.  The recommended condition in this report is in respect of both wildlife 
and nearby residents. 
 
Subject to mitigation, your officers consider that the proposed development has been designed to 
minimise adverse effects on the living conditions of neighbouring residents, and as such is in 
accordance with the requirements of policies DM1 and DM4 of the Local Plan. 
 
Advertisements are covered by the Advertisement Regulations and advertisements and other 
signage are not considered as part of this planning application. 
 
6. Highways  
 
Policy CU20 states that the Council will use developer funding to deliver infrastructure for 
Cullompton.  Of relevance to this application are the provision of a Town Centre Relief Road and 
other mitigation to reduce traffic impacts.  Policy S11 states that development should make any 
necessary strategic mitigations to maintain highway capacity, safety, integrity, and sustainability 
including the M5 and local highway network. 
 
Policy CU17 requires capacity improvements at Junction 28 M5 to deliver a strategic highway 
improvement as demonstrated by capacity studies completed to assess the impact of the traffic 
generated from the site. 
 
Policy S8 states that developers will be expected to contribute fairly towards new or improved 
infrastructure and facilities where it is appropriate for them to do so.  Planning permission will be 
granted only where the impact of development is not considered to be severe. Where severe 
impacts that are attributable to the development are considered likely, including as a consequence 
of cumulative impacts, they must be subject to satisfactory mitigation. 
 
Cullompton Town Council has no objection to the application provided the road infrastructure is 
improved before any works start, in particular the traffic lights at Junction 28 of the M5, the access 
and egress of Kingsmill Road and Honiton Road coming down from Mole Valley Farmers 
 

Page 70



AGENDA 25 

The Highway Authority has considered the application and requirements for road improvements.  It 
has stated that the submitted Transport Assessment is a robust assessment of the existing 
conditions and the impact this development would have on the local highway network and the 
assessment shows this would not be a severe impact.  The Highway Authority do not consider the 
impact on the existing local highway network to be severe or warrant refusal of the application.   
 
However, the development would increase the amount of traffic using the highway network at the 
junction with the M5 motorway.  In particular, an increase in traffic on the roundabout at the 
junction could lead to an increase in congestion.  The Highway Authority have confirmed that the 
mitigation sought under policy CU17 to deliver capacity improvements at Junction 28 would be met 
by a financial contribution towards delivery of the Town Centre Relief Road, which would reduce 
traffic congestion on the roundabout.   
 
The contribution requested is £418,511 which is based on the trip generation set out in the 
applicant’s Transport Assessment and takes into account provision of the strip of land for future 
highway improvements (see next paragraph below).   
 
However, employment sites in general have a limited margin of profitability.  The applicant has 
stated that the development would not be viable with such a large financial contribution towards 
the Town Centre Relief Road.  To support this, the applicant has submitted a viability appraisal 
which demonstrates that the development would not be viable and would not come forward if the 
requested relief road contribution were to be required.  Your officers have had the applicant’s 
viability appraisal independently assessed and the Council’s consultant has confirmed that at the 
present time, the development would not be viable with the requested contribution. 
 
However, the Council’s consultant considers the quoted potential costs of delivering the 
infrastructure to be high, and there are few up to date comparable land transactions to set sales 
values.  In addition, for the outline part of this application, the total amount of floor space to be 
delivered will not be known until reserved matters applications are submitted.  For this reason, 
your officers are recommending a review mechanism be included in the Section 106 Agreement to 
provide for a reassessment of the viability of the site once 4,250 square metres of floor space is 
occupied (25% of the total projected floor space in the applicant’s viability appraisal). 
 
A 20m wide corridor is to be safeguarded for use by Devon County Council for a potential future 
dual carriageway that may be required in connection with future improvements to the strategic 
road network. The proposed internal highway layout is designed to form one side of the dual 
carriageway should the proposals come forward in future.  This strip of land represents substantial 
potential future mitigation of traffic increases at the junction and your officers recommend that the 
safeguarding this strip of land should be included within the Section 106 Agreement. 
 
Policy DM3 requires development to ensure safe access to the transport network. Development 
proposals that would give rise to significant levels of vehicular movement must be accompanied by 
an integrated Transport Assessment, Travel Plan, traffic pollution assessment and Low Emission 
Assessment. 
 
Objections have been received in respect of the ability of the road infrastructure to cope with the 
additional traffic, in particular large commercial vehicles, and also the suitability of the access 
proposals, in particular the lack of a right turn lane or a roundabout, and the visibility along Honiton 
Road as the access would be on the brow of a hill.  Objectors have stated that the developer 
should pay for the necessary highway improvements. 
 
The Highway Authority has considered the submitted Transport Assessment and concluded that 
the proposed T-junction access is acceptable.  The visibility splays have been based on a speed 

Page 71



AGENDA 26 

of 40 mph rather than the speed limit of 30 mph, which is considered appropriate by the Highway 
Authority.  The Highway Authority have confirmed that the traffic generated by the site is 
insufficient to demand a dedicated right-hand turn lane. 
 
There have also been comments regarding the lack of a link to Kingsmill Industrial Estate as 
required by policy CU17, and the opposite concern about the future potential of the site to link into 
Kingsmill with the corresponding increase in traffic at the new access onto Honiton Road.  The 
existence of a restrictive covenant and ransom strip has also been raised in one of the objections 
and it has been suggested that this is forcing an access to be provided from Honiton Road. 
 
Policy CU17 of the adopted Local Plan requires provision of a vehicular link from the Kingsmill 
employment area to Honiton Road.  Whilst restrictive covenants and ransom strips are issues 
outside of the planning application process, at the present time, it is understood that there are 
legal issues presently preventing development of the land to the north of the application site that is 
needed to provide the link road.  This land has planning permission and has already been laid out 
with an estate road but its development has been stalled for many years and is unlikely to be 
resolved in the short term.  It is anticipated that in the future the issues with deliverability of the site 
to the north may be resolved and a link could be provided between the two sites to accord with Mid 
Devon’s adopted policy.  
 
When and if that happens, there will need to be a new assessment of the road junction onto 
Honiton Road in light of the potential for increased traffic at the junction, as part of a future 
planning application.  At present, only the suitability of the proposed junction for the application site 
needs to be considered. 
 
Whether or not a link is provided between Honiton Road and Kingsmill Estate as set out in policy 
CU17, the policy makes provision for access from the application site onto Honiton Road in any 
event. 
 
Whilst bus services along Honiton Road are not a feasible option to travel to the development due 
to the infrequency of services, there is a bus stop in Millennium Way where bus services are more 
frequent and which is within a reasonable walking distance of the site.  There is also the option to 
cycle from Cullompton and secure cycle parking will be provided on site. 
 
A framework Travel Plan has been included within the Transport Assessment which sets out a 
proposed strategy for the introduction of a package of measures aimed at limiting the number of 
car trips and promoting alternative sustainable travel options amongst the staff working at the 
scheme.  These measures include the provision of secure cycle parking, a pedestrian link to the 
existing public right of way, public transport timetables, and promoting car sharing.  It is 
recommended that implementation of a full Travel Plan is secured within the Section 106 
Agreement. 
 
Subject to the mitigation set out above, the proposal is considered to comply with the relevant 
policies set out in this section of the report. 
 
7. Flood risk and drainage 
 
Policy S9 requires provision of measures to reduce the risk of flooding to life and property, 
requiring sustainable drainage systems including provisions for future maintenance, guiding 
development to locations of lowest flood risk and avoiding an increase in flood risk elsewhere. 
 

Page 72



AGENDA 27 

Policy DM1 requires appropriate drainage including sustainable drainage systems (SUDS), 
including arrangements for future maintenance, and connection of foul drainage to a mains sewer 
where available. 
 
The site lies within flood zones 1, 2 and 3 (flood zone 1 having the lowest flood risk).  There has 
been some recent remodelling of the flood zones in this area and this has been taken into account 
within the application.   
 
All buildings are proposed to be located within flood zone 1, with an attenuation pond in flood zone 
2 and the green infrastructure in flood zones 2 and 3.  This is acceptable to the Environment 
Agency, provided there is no raising of ground levels in Flood Zone 3, and no bunds provided for 
the attenuation pond.  
 
The site is already allocated for employment and provided there are no buildings in flood zones 2 
and 3, there is no requirement to carry out a sequential test. 
 
The Environment Agency has recommended conditions, which your officers also recommend are 
included on the decision notice. 
 
Surface water would be attenuated within underground and above-ground features before 
discharging surface water to the Kenn Stream.  The applicant has proposed to construct a 
detention basin to manage the long-term storage volume for the entire site as well as to treat 
surface water. This basin will also provide storage for surface water from the proposed estate 
road.  Devon County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority requested additional information which 
has now been provided.  The Lead Local Flood Authority considers the surface water drainage 
scheme to be acceptable, subject to further information and details of mitigation which your 
officers recommend are conditioned. 
 
Objections have been received that the flood detention basin should be included within the 
development rather than within the green infrastructure area.  As mentioned above, the 
Environment Agency consider the location of the basin to be acceptable.  Green infrastructure can 
have multiple uses and benefits, including water attenuation, which can also benefit wildlife.  The 
location of the basin as shown is considered acceptable by your officers. 
 
Concern has also been raised that providing bunds to protect the new development will increase 
flood risk elsewhere.  However, no bunds will be provided and ground raising will be prohibited in 
Flood Zone 3.  The attenuation basin will be sunk into the ground, not raised.  The layouts of Plots 
1 and 2 nearest to the green infrastructure and flood zone areas will be assessed under future 
reserved matters applications.  The Environment Agency requires that the detailed design and 
layout of Plots 1 and 2 be informed by the latest flood risk modelling, and information submitted to 
demonstrate that their siting and design will not result in an increase in flood risk on or off the site.   
 
Concern has also been raised that the flood risk report was submitted before the latest guidance 
was issued by the Environment Agency and Met Office on flood risk and climate change.  The 
Environment Agency has fully considered the submitted flood risk report and has not asked for 
further or updated information at this stage, although they have recommended a condition relating 
to the detailed design of the two plots closest to the flood zone being informed by the latest flood 
modelling. 
 
Foul drainage will be to the mains sewer. 
 
Subject to conditions, the proposal is considered to be acceptable as regards flood risk and 
drainage, and to be in accordance with policies S9 and DM1 of the Local Plan.   

Page 73



AGENDA 28 

 
8. Public rights of way, green infrastructure and ecology 
 
Policy CU17 requires provision of 2 hectares of green infrastructure to include the retention of land 
in the floodplain, providing a landscape buffer to the west of the site as an area of informal open 
space; and protection and enhancement of the existing Public Right of Way. 
 
Policy DM26 requires major development proposals to demonstrate that green infrastructure will 
be incorporated within the site as follows:  
 
a) Biodiversity mitigation, resulting in a net gain in biodiversity;  
b) Flood and water resource management;  
c) Green corridors and public rights of way to link the site to the wider GI network, provide walking 
and cycling opportunities and avoid habitat fragmentation; and  
d) New green infrastructure such as the creation of native woodland where possible. 
 
Policy S1 requires the conservation of natural resources including providing a net gain in 
biodiversity. 
 
Concern has been raised that the development will encroach on land identified as green 
infrastructure in the Local Plan.  Following discussions with the applicant, the area originally shown 
as GI has been increased and now the area if GI to be provided is in excess of the 2 hectares 
required by policy CU17. 
 
The green infrastructure area will be enhanced to provide additional wildlife habitats in the form of 
areas of wet woodland, wildflower grasslands and native hedge and shrub planting to buffer 
existing hedges and provide a net gain in biodiversity. 
 
The green infrastructure area will also include an attenuation basin to provide flood and water 
resource management.  It is recommended that provision, management and maintenance of the 
green infrastructure area is secured through the Section 106 Agreement. 
 
The initial ecology report identified a number of protected species using the site including bats, 
birds and dormice.  Further survey work was carried out in respect of bats and dormice. 
 
Mitigation for nesting birds would include avoiding works during the nesting season and the 
provision of bird boxes. 
 
The bat survey identified a low level of bat activity across the site by a high number of bat species 
with the eastern and western hedgebanks recording the most activity.  Mitigation would include 
retaining trees, buffering existing hedges with additional planting, controlling lighting on the site, 
and the installation of bat boxes. 
 
Evidence of dormouse presence was recorded within the northern, eastern, western and central 
hedgerows on site in the form of nests.  Mitigation would include habitat retention, buffering of 
hedgerows to maintain and enhance habitat available for commuting/foraging dormice within the 
site. The provision of patches of native hedgerow planting in the western extent of the site will 
provide additional habitat suitable for this species. 
 
The ecology report specifies that a European Protected Species Licence will be required from 
Natural England in respect of dormice, due to some limited hedgerow removal being likely to affect 
dormouse habitat.  This Licence would approve the mitigation scheme. 
 

Page 74



AGENDA 29 

Where an EPS Licence is considered necessary, the Local Planning Authority must consider 3 
tests before granting planning permission: 
 
1. The proposed development must meet a purpose of preserving public health or public 
safety or other imperative reasons of overriding public interest including those of a social or 
economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the environment.  
 
The development would provide employment development to help meet Local Plan targets and 
provide opportunities for economic growth in Cullompton.  The site is already allocated for 
employment development. 
 
2. There is no satisfactory alternative. 
 
The site is already allocated for employment development.  The proposal seeks to minimise the 
impacts of the development on protected species are far as possible by retaining and enhancing 
the majority of the existing hedgerows, whilst remaining viable for employment use.   
 
3. The action authorised will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the population of the 
species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their natural range.  
 
The mitigation proposals would minimise impacts on dormice by removing as little hedgerow as 
possible to facilitate the development and would provide alternative habitats. 
 
The tests should be applied on a proportionate basis, the justification required increasing with the 
severity of the impact on the species or population concerned.  The site supports a low number of 
dormice which would be provided with alternative habitats. 
 
The presence of otters and water voles along the river boundary is assumed and mitigation would 
be put in place in respect to protect these species. 
 
There is an existing public right of way crossing the site that is to be retained and is not being 
closed.  This existing public right of way connects Kingsmill Industrial Estate with Honiton Road via 
a private lane to the south of the proposed green infrastructure area.  The applicant is proposing to 
provide a new connection from the employment site into the existing public right of way to then 
connect onto Honiton Road.  This route is an alternative to providing a new footway along Honiton 
Road which does not have sufficient width to allow this provision.  
 
It is not proposed to use the “lane to Brent Knoll” as a public footpath to the development.  
 
Concern has been raised that the proposed footpath link leads onto a public right of way that if 
often wet and muddy and the entrance to the public right of way does not provide a view of the site 
and people will not know to use it. 
 
The applicant will be required to upgrade the section of the public right of way between the private 
lane and the connection with the new section of path leading to the development and it is 
recommended this is secured by Section 106 Agreement.  A Travel Plan will be issued to all 
occupiers of the units specifying the walking route from Honiton Road to the development. 
 
Concern has also been raised that increased use will lead to increased maintenance costs for the 
upkeep of the private lane over which the public right of way passes.  This public right of way 
already exists and there is no limit to the number of pedestrians that can use a public right of way.  
There will be no vehicular access along this lane to the development. 
 

Page 75



AGENDA 30 

Subject to conditions and the signing of a Section 106 Agreement, the proposal is considered to 
comply with policies CU17, S1 and DM26 in respect of green infrastructure, ecology and public 
rights of way, and the biodiversity net gain requirements set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
9. Heritage 
 
Policy DM25 requires development proposals likely to affect the significance of heritage assets, 
including new buildings to consider the significance of those heritage assets. Policy CU17 requires 
archaeological investigation and appropriate mitigation. 
 
The proposed development lies in an area of archaeological potential to the east of the Romano-
British and medieval settlement at Cullompton and in an area where evidence of the Roman road 
leading eastward from the Roman fort at St Andrew's Hill might be present. While some 
archaeological monitoring of geotechnical pits has been undertaken across the site, this 
represents a small sample of the site upon which to understand the presence of any 
archaeological features. 
 
Groundworks for the construction of the proposed development have the potential to expose and 
destroy archaeological and artefactual deposits and the impact of development should be 
mitigated by a programme of archaeological work that should investigate, record and analyse the 
archaeological evidence that will otherwise be destroyed. 
 
The Historic Environment Team have recommended a programme of archaeological work to be 
undertaken and it is recommended that this is secured by condition.  There are no other heritage 
assets likely to be affected by the proposals. 
 
Subject to mitigation, the proposal is considered to comply with policies DM25 and CU17 in this 
respect. 
 
10. Section 106 Agreement 
 
A Section 106 Agreement is sought to make provision for the following measures.  Details of these 
obligations are set out above in the relevant sections of this report: 
 

1. A 20 metre strip of land to the southern side of the development to be safeguarded for 
potential future highways improvements 

2. Provision of new footpath and upgrading of existing public right of way 
3. Travel plan 
4. Provision, management and maintenance of green infrastructure/public open space 
5. A review clause to reassess viability of the scheme with regard to a contribution towards 

the TCRR at a trigger point of the occupation of 4,250 square metres of floorspace, based 
on actual achieved costs and transacted sales values being secured to determine how 
much contribution needs to be paid through s106 on the remaining plots. 

 
The Section 106 obligations set out above are considered to be a) necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms; b) directly related to the development; and c) fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development, and to meet the tests set out in 
Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
 
 
 

Page 76



AGENDA 31 

 
REASON FOR APPROVAL OF PERMISSION 
 
The proposed development comprising full planning permission for the erection of 4 industrial units 
on Plots 5, 9 and 10 and creation of new vehicular access and estate road, parking, detention 
basin and landscaping; and outline planning permission for employment uses on 8 further plots 
with layout, scale, appearance and landscaping reserved for future consideration is considered to 
be acceptable in this location.  The site is allocated for employment uses and it is considered that, 
subject to conditions, the development could be carried out without causing demonstrable harm to 
the character of the area, the significance of local heritage assets, highway safety, local amenity 
and ecology, and without increasing the risk of flooding. As such, it is considered that the 
proposed development satisfactorily accords with policies CU17, CU20, S1, S2, S6, S8, S9, S11, 
DM1, DM3, DM4, DM5, DM25 and DM26 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033, the Devon 
County Council Waste Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
CONDITIONS – FULL 
 
1. The development hereby permitted in respect of the access and estate road, pedestrian 

footpath link, green infrastructure area and attenuation basin, and development on plots 5, 9 
and 10 shall begin before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the schedule on the decision notice. 
 
3. No development shall begin until the following information has been submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
 

a) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood Risk Assessment and 
Drainage Strategy. 

b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt runoff from the site during 
construction of the development hereby permitted. 

c) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water drainage 
system. 

d) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site. 
e) Model outputs to demonstrate that the proposed flow control will restrict flows to the 

relevant greenfield runoff rates for the positively drained area. These outputs must also 
demonstrate that the flows can be safely managed within the basin with a suitable 
freeboard of 300mm.  

 
No building shall be brought into use until the works have been approved and implemented in 
accordance with the details under (a) - (e) above. 
 

4. There shall be no alterations to ground levels, including the deposit of soil or other materials, 
within the area to the west of the line indicating the indicative extent of Flood Zone 3 on 
drawing number PIN1013(13)01, except for the excavation of the attenuation basin, full details 
of which shall be approved under condition 3. above.  The attenuation basin shall not include 
any raised land or bunds. 

 
5. Materials to be used for the external surfaces of the buildings shall be matt and not metallic or 

shiny. 
 

Page 77



AGENDA 32 

6. No building on any plot shall be brought into use until the associated vehicle and cycle 
parking, electric charging points, refuse storage areas and landscaping on that plot have been 
provided in accordance with the approved plans listed in the schedule on the decision notice. 

 
CONDITIONS - OUTLINE 
 
7. Before any part of the development hereby permitted begins, detailed drawings of the layout 

of plots 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8 and 11, as indicated on drawing number PIN1013(10)05 Rev H, the 
scale and appearance of the buildings and landscaping on and adjacent to those plots 
(hereinafter called the Reserved Matters) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 

8. The detailed design and layout of plots 1 and 2 as indicated on drawing number 
PIN1013(10)05 Rev H shall be informed by the latest flood risk modelling, and information 
shall be submitted with the reserved matters submission/s to demonstrate that their siting and 
design will not result in an increase in flood risk on or off the site. 
 

9. Application(s) for approval of all the Reserved Matters shall be made to the Local Planning 
Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 

10. The development hereby permitted shall begin either before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years from the date of approval of 
the last of the Reserved Matters which have been approved, whichever is the later. 
 

11. The outline development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved plans listed in the schedule on the decision notice. 
 

12. The detailed drawings required to be submitted by Condition 7 shall include the following 
information: boundary treatments, existing and proposed site levels, finished floor levels and 
materials. 

 
13. Prior to or as part of the Reserved Matters, the following information shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
 
a) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood Risk Assessment. 
b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt run-off from the site during 

construction of the development hereby permitted. 
c) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water drainage 

system. 
d) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site. 
e) Model outputs to demonstrate that the proposed flow control will restrict flows to the 

relevant greenfield runoff rates for the positively drained area. These outputs must also 
demonstrate that the flows can be safely managed within the basin with a suitable 
freeboard of 300mm.  
 

 No building shall be occupied until the works have been approved and implemented in 
accordance with the details under (a) - (e) above. 

 
CONDITIONS - GENERAL 

14. No development shall begin until the access and visibility splays have been provided and laid 
out for that purpose at the site access in accordance with drawing number PHL-101 Rev A.  
The visibility splays will provide unobstructed visibility over a height of 600mm metres above 

Page 78



AGENDA 33 

the adjacent carriageway level; the distance back from the nearer edge of the carriageway of 
the public highway being 2.4 metres and the visibility distances along the nearer edge of the 
carriageway of the public highway being 70 metres in both directions.  Once provided, such 
access and visibility splays shall be maintained for that purpose at all times. 
 

15. No development begin until the developer has secured the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI) which shall 
have been previously submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The development shall be carried out at all times in accordance with the approved scheme, or 
such other details as may be subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

16. Prior to the commencement of development on each phase a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. In respect to the protection of residential amenity and the local 
environment, the CEMP shall identify the steps and procedures that will be implemented to 
minimise the creation and impact of noise, vibration, dust and waste disposal resulting from 
the site preparation, groundwork and construction phases of the development and manage 
access to the site.  
 

The CEMP shall also set out details of all permits, contingency plans and mitigation measures 
that shall be put in place to control the risk of pollution to air, soil and controlled waters, protect 
biodiversity and avoid, minimise and manage the productions of wastes with particular 
attention being paid to the constraints and risks of the site. 

 
The following specific details should also be included in respect to highway safety: 
 

a) the timetable of the works; 
b) daily hours of construction; 
c) any road closure; 
d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with 

such vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to 
Fridays including 9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements 
taking place on Sundays and Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the Planning 
Authority in advance; 

e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development 
and the frequency of their visits; 

f) the proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes; 
g) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, 

parts, crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and 
construction phases; 

h) areas on site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building 
materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste 
with confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County 
highway for loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been 
given by the Local Planning Authority; 

i) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
j) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works;  
k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations, and measures to be employed to 

prevent the egress of mud, water and other detritus onto the public and any non-
adopted highways; and 

l) photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to 
commencement of any work. 

Page 79



AGENDA 34 

 
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to at all times, unless otherwise first agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. 

 
17. Prior to the commencement of development in each phase, a supplemental Waste Audit 

Statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
Waste Audit Statement shall include: 

 
a) The amount of construction, demolition and excavation waste in tonnes. 
b) The type of material the waste will arise from during construction, demolition and 

excavation 
c) The method for auditing the waste produce including a monitoring scheme and 

corrective measures if failure to meet targets occurs. 
d) The predicted annual amount of waste (in tonnes) that will be generated once the 

development is occupied. 
e) Detail of the waste disposal method including the name and location of the waste 

disposal site. 
 

18. In accordance with details that shall previously have been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority, provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface 
water so that none drains on to any County Highway during the construction phase or for the 
lifetime of the development. 

 
19. No development shall begin until an Air Quality Impact Assessment has been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Air Quality Impact Assessment 
shall consider the impact of the development on local air quality and relevant sensitive 
receptors, the impact of existing local air quality on the development and relevant sensitive 
receptors, cumulative affects with other development, and any necessary mitigation.  All 
required mitigation measures shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
before any building is brought into use. 

 
20. No development shall begin until a Landscape and Ecological Mitigation Plan (informed by the 

Impacts and Recommendations section of the Ecological Appraisal by Devon Wildlife 
Consultants dated December 2020) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Such Plan shall include details of all landscape planting, biodiversity 
enhancements and ecological mitigation, together with a phasing plan for implementation.  
Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the development shall 
be implemented in accordance with such approved Plan and all implemented landscape 
planting, biodiversity enhancements and ecological mitigation shall be permanently retained 
maintained for their intended purpose. 
 

21. No building or other part of the site shall be first occupied until a Noise Management Plan 
(NMP) and implementation schedule has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The NMP shall consider the impacts of noise (including low 
frequency noise) from the relevant phase of the development on key receptors during the 
operational stage of the development and provide strategic mitigation measures, together with 
an implementation timetable and maintenance details. The development (or relevant phase of 
development) shall be carried out in accordance with the approved NMP and the timetable for 
the mitigation measures. These approved measures shall thereafter be maintained in 
perpetuity.  
 

22. No refrigeration unit, cooling system, extract ventilation system or other similar system likely to 
emit noise with the potential to be audible off site shall be installed on the site or any building 

Page 80



AGENDA 35 

unless details of mitigation has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority to ensure that the noise generated at the boundary of the nearest residential 
property shall not exceed Noise Rating Curve 35, as defined in BS8233:2014 Sound 
Insulation and Noise Reduction for Buildings Code of Practice and the Chartered Institute of 
Building Service Engineers Environmental Design Guide.  
 

23. No external lighting shall be provided on site except in accordance with a lighting scheme that 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before 
installation of any external lighting.  The lighting scheme shall take the form of a report and 
drawings and shall be informed by the mitigation and enhancement recommendations set out 
in the Impacts and Recommendations section of the Ecological Appraisal by Devon Wildlife 
Consultants dated December 2020, and shall take into account the impacts of intrusive light 
on nearby residents. 
 

24. The development shall be used only for purposes falling within Use Classes E(g), B2 and B8 
of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, as amended by the Town and 
Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020 and for no other 
purpose (including any purpose in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that 
order with or without modification). 

 
REASONS FOR CONDITIONS – FULL 
 
1. In accordance with provisions of Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004 
 

2. For the avoidance of doubt in the interests of proper planning. 
 

3. To ensure the proposed surface water drainage system will operate effectively and will not 
cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, adjacent land or downstream in line with 
SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and national policies, including NPPF and PPG. The 
condition should be pre-commencement since it is essential that the proposed surface water 
drainage system is shown to be feasible before works begin. 

 
4. To ensure that the development does not increase flood risk elsewhere. 

 
5. To ensure the development has an acceptable visual impact within the wider landscape. 

 
6. To ensure that facilities are provided on site for traffic attracted to the site and to protect the 

visual amenities of the area. 
 

REASONS FOR CONDITIONS – OUTLINE 
 
7. In accordance with the provisions of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 as amended by Section 51 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
8. To ensure the development does not increase flood risk elsewhere. 

 
9. In accordance with the provisions of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 as amended by Section 51 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
 

10. In accordance with the provisions of Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 as amended by Section 51 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

11. For the avoidance of doubt in the interests of proper planning. 
 

Page 81



AGENDA 36 

12. To enable the Local Planning Authority to consider whether adequate provision is being made 
for the matters referred to in the condition. 
 

13. To ensure the proposed surface water drainage system will operate effectively and will not 
cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, adjacent land or downstream in line with 
SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and national policies, including NPPF and PPG. The 
conditions should be pre-commencement since it is essential that the proposed surface water 
drainage system is shown to be feasible before works begin to avoid redesign/unnecessary 
delays during construction when site layout is fixed. 

 
REASONS FOR CONDITIONS - GENERAL 

 
14. To provide adequate visibility from and of emerging vehicles and a safe and suitable access. 

 
15. To ensure, in accordance with Policy DM27 and paragraph 199 of the National Planning 

Policy Framework (2019), that an appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that 
may be affected by the development.  This pre-commencement condition is required to ensure 
that the archaeological works are agreed and implemented prior to any disturbance of 
archaeological deposits by the commencement of preparatory and/or construction works. 
 

16. To minimise the effects of the construction of the development on the environments and 
neighbouring occupants in respect of pollution and traffic movements. 
 

17. To ensure waste from the construction and operation of the development is minimised/ 
controlled. 
 

18. In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway. 
 

19. To assess the potential health risks to relevant sensitive receptors from local air quality and 
identify required mitigation measures.  
 

20. To ensure the development protects and enhances biodiversity on the site and the 
landscaping contributes to the visual quality of the development. 
 

21. To ensure that the use of the buildings and associated service yards, parking areas and 
accesses do not cause any unreasonable loss of amenity by reason of noise to nearby 
residential properties. 
 

22. To ensure that the use of the buildings and associated building services plant does not cause 
any unreasonable loss of amenity by reason of noise to nearby residential properties. 
 

23. To minimise the impacts on wildlife and nearby residents. 
 

24. The site is allocated for employment uses and the Council wishes to ensure an adequate 
supply of employment land to meet the needs of the area. 

 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1. Flood Risk Activity Permit 
This proposal is located adjacent to a watercourse which is designated a main river at this 
location.  Under the terms of the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2010 
a permit is required for any proposed works or structures, in, under, over or within eight metres of 
the top of the bank of the river.  Further details are available on the GOV.UK website: 

Page 82



AGENDA 37 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits.  A permit is separate to 
and in addition to any planning permission granted. 
 
2. Construction Environment Management Plan 
The Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) should pull together and manage the 
pollution control and waste management requirements during the construction phase. A CEMP is 
best prepared with the main contractor.  Run off from exposed ground / soils can pose a significant 
risk of pollution to nearby watercourses, particularly through soil/sediment run off and the CEMP 
should address how such run-off can be minimised, controlled and treated (if necessary).  Please 
ensure that this is considered well in advance as some treatment methods can require an 
Environmental Permit to be obtained. 
 
3. Noise Management Plan 
 
Items for inclusion in the plan should include: 
1. Design and layout of the site to ensure no active or working areas back on to residences. 
2. Design and layout of the site to minimise the need for reversing vehicles, particularly delivery 
vehicles. 
3. A commitment to ensure no building openings (other than fire escapes) are included on any 
façade facing residences. 
4. A commitment to ensure that no potentially noisy air conditioning units, extract systems or flues 
are located on the facades facing residences. 
5. The consideration of site boundary treatments. For example acoustic fencing may be required in 
parallel with existing boundary treatments with residences where acoustic protection is not 
provided by the building itself. 
6. Where possible goods in and out areas to be located remote from residences. 
7. No waste storage or recycling areas to be located adjacent to residential boundaries. 
8. Additional consideration for buildings which may be used for all night working, such as 
distribution centres. 
9. A commitment to comply with the cumulative 1 hour noise limits for day and night (41 dB and 
36dB respectively) set out in the Inacoustic report Dec 2020. 
10. A prohibition on high frequency audible reversing alarms on any vehicle based on the 
commercial area (there are alternative quiet safe reversing techniques available). 
 
3. Public Rights of Way  
The alignment, width, and condition of public rights of way providing for their safe and convenient 
use shall remain unaffected by the development unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Public 
Rights of Way Team.  Nothing in this decision notice shall be taken as granting consent for 
alterations to public rights of way without the due legal process being followed.  
 
 
 
 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on public authorities in the exercise of 
their functions to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance equality of 
opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do 
not share it and foster good relations between different people when carrying out their activities. 
This is called the Public Sector Equality Duty or "PSED". No persons that could be affected by the 
development have been identified as sharing any protected characteristic. 
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 came into force on 2 October 2000. It requires all public authorities to 
act in a way which is compatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. This report has 

Page 83

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits


AGENDA 38 

been prepared in light of the Council's obligations under the Act with regard to decisions to be 
informed by the principles of fair balance and non-discrimination. 
 
In accordance with the requirements of Article 35 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, in determining this application the Local Planning 
Authority has worked proactively and positively with the applicant to ensure that all relevant 
planning considerations have been properly resolved. This has included further discussion and 
negotiations to address issued raised. In accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework, the Local Planning Authority has also involved the community in the consideration of 
this application. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 84



AGENDA 39 

 
Plans List No. 2 

 
Application No. 21/00453/FULL 
 
Grid Ref:  292608 : 107501  
 
Applicant: Mrs H Harper  
   
Location: Land at NGR 292586 107415  

Heronsfield House  
Cadeleigh  
Devon  

   
Proposal: Change of use of agricultural land for siting of two off grid mobile cabins for holiday 

use  
 
 
Date Valid:      24th March 2021 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 85



AGENDA 40 

 
 
APPLICATION NO:  21/00453/FULL 
 
MEMBER CALL-IN 
 
Called in by Cllr Bob Deed, in order to consider the potential visual impact of the proposed 
development and the impact on access and traffic in the local vicinity. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Grant permission subject to conditions 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Change of use of agricultural land for siting of two off grid mobile cabins for holiday use. 
 
The proposed development relates to an open field within a small valley between Cadeleigh and 
Bickleigh. The site is accessed from an existing private track and public footpath, which joins the 
main road between Cadeleigh and the A3072 junction at Bickleigh. The applicant’s home, 
Heronsfield House, is sited off this track, with the application site on lower ground to the south. 
There are four other residential properties, some agricultural buildings and a commercial business 
located along the track. The application site comprises approximately 2 acres of land within the 
valley, with mature planting to the boundaries and alongside the stream running through the valley. 
In the last couple of years, the applicants have worked on improving the biodiversity of their wider 
landholding within the valley, which includes the planting of over 5400 trees across 15 acres of 
land.   
 
It is proposed to change the use of the application site from agricultural land to the provision of two 
off grid holiday units within a back to nature style glamping site. The two units are designed to 
accommodate two adults each, and will measure 6 metres by 2.85 metres in area. They are 
proposed to be sited on specially commissioned agricultural trailers to create a rolling frame. The 
two units will be of different design with one having a mono-pitch roof with a maximum height to 
eaves of approximately 3.4 metres and lower eaves height of about 2.2 metres. The other unit 
would have an offset dual pitched roof with a ridge height of approximately 3 metres and eaves 
heights of about 2.7 metres and 2.4 metres. One of the units is proposed to be constructed black 
stained vertical timber board cladding with a black rubber membrane (EPDM) roof. The other is 
proposed to be constructed from a grey corrugated galvanised steel cladding, with corrugated 
galvanised steel roof. 
 
Two visitor parking spaces are proposed to be provided within a barn at the entrance to 
Heronsfield House, with access to the accommodation via mown paths in the grass. A small area 
of approximately 11.25 square metres would strimmed adjacent to each unit to provide a small 
seating/amenity area.  
 
APPLICANT’S SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
Site location and block plans 
Elevation and floor plans 
Design and access statement 
Business marketing plan 
Letter of support from Canopy & Stars 

Page 86



AGENDA 41 

Site management plan 
Wildlife trigger table 
Preliminary ecological survey 
Flood risk assessment 
Flood map 
Foul drainage assessment form 
Further information in respect to foul waste disposal 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
18/00995/FULL - REFUSE date 31st August 2018 
Removal of condition (d) of planning permission 84/01574/OUT relating to an agricultural tie 
03/01949/CLU - PERMIT date 9th October 2003 
Certificate of lawful use for continued occupation of dwelling without compliance with condition (d) 
of planning permission 4/09/84/1574 - agricultural tie 
86/00422/FULL - REFUSE 5th May 1986 
Relaxation of condition (d) 4.09.84.1574 re agricultural occupancy 
85/00311/ARM - PERMIT 24th April 1985 
Detailed drawings for the erection of an agricultural dwelling 
84/01574/OUT - PERMIT 28th November 1984 
Outline for the erection of an agricultural dwelling 
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES 
 
Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 – 2033 
S1 - Sustainable development priorities 
S9 - Environment 
S14 - Countryside 
DM1 - High quality design 
DM3 - Transport and air quality 
DM4 - Pollution 
DM5 - Parking 
DM22 - Tourism and leisure development 
DM25 - Development affecting heritage assets 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
CADELEIGH PARISH MEETING - Due to Covid 19 restrictions, Cadeleigh Parish Meeting have 
not been able to meet. The following comment has however been received from Mr Richard 
Gough, The Parish Chairman: 
 
“Further to the above application, I write to object to the Planning Application on behalf of 
Cadeleigh Parish as the current Chair recognised by MDDC. 
  
As the lockdown has prevented our ability to hold a Parish Meeting, I have canvassed views of 
residents in Cadeleigh Village and have collated and compressed them to enable me to give an 
overview as follows. 
 
This is a further application for increased tourism in our small village along with recent other sites 
that are attempting to justify their application by reference to the MDDC Local Plan particularly 

Page 87



AGENDA 42 

Policy DM22.  Unfortunately this application in our view fails the tests set out in this Policy as 
follows:- 
 
This field is in Agricultural Use and there is consistent demand for agricultural land in this area 
demonstrated by higher rates for land purchases over the recent pasts including in Cadeleigh 
parish. The comment in the application that the land is not used for agriculture land in the very 
recent past is because of this attempt to justify the applicants request for change of use. Placing 
holiday buildings in an agriculture field is not in accordance with the Policy. The adjacent 
landowners would be pleased to continue the agricultural use which would reduce the impact of 
this change particularly in terms of traffic. In 2018 an attempt to change the agriculture use was 
refused by the Planning Authority and for the same reasons as stated then we urge this repeated 
attempt to change is refused. 
 
DM22 Development proposals "MUST" seek to locate most developments next to defined 
settlements and where shops and facilities are most accessible. This development is not next to 
any defined settlement as it is at least a mile from Cadeleigh Village (the only facilities being a pub 
and a church!) .There are no facilities in the field and any tourists arriving are almost certain to 
come by car, acknowledged by the applicants scheme with parking being provided but several 
hundred metres from the proposed buildings. 
 
This does not comply with any attempt to replace existing buildings so again not in accordance 
with the policy. 
 
Whilst there is a very well written business case for this application, it is obviously written in the 
majority by the company that is looking for additional sites wherever it can find them and it could 
be written to favour any location! However there are at least 4 Glamping sites in the locality 
already and more in the pipeline we believe, along with a 50% per cent increase in holiday 
cottages in our village (noting recent and current applications). The surge in Devon holidays 
reported by the press is a result of the pandemic and HM Government Lockdown policies and we 
do not expect this to continue into 2022.  
 
Evidence for more Glamping outlined in the Councils Tourism Study (albeit much of which  is 
mostly outdated as written in financial recession not a pandemic) suggests that the three market 
towns are the biggest draws, but all of which are now 12 years later a shadow of their former life. 
Retail as we know it disappears into online expressed by the many closed businesses in their 
centres making a visit to these towns a gloomy empty location after 4pm….  These towns are no 
draws only their huge free parking food supermarkets are a destination for tourists.  
 
Inevitably these buildings will bring more traffic to this site which is only served by a private road 
the upkeep of which is paid for by the owners. Historic highway reports are against any traffic 
increases and the businesses in the lane have out of hour’s restrictions working to prevent further 
disturbance to the occupiers (and owners). The junction of the access road to the Cadeleigh to 
Bickleigh highway is a difficult junction with restricted views and the steep hill to access, not a 
welcoming route to this destination and the quality of the surface is poor and potholed so not 
suitable for many drivers cars. 
 
So as with other attempted developments on single track roads in the Parish we do not believe this 
is the right place for what is obviously an attempt to create a new holiday business in an 
inappropriate location we request that our Councillor Bob Deed requests the Application is called 
in before the Planning Committee where it can be examined again in the light of local objections.” 
 

Page 88



AGENDA 43 

COUNTY HIGHWAY AUTHORITY - 29.03.21 - The County Highway Authority recommends that 
the Standing Advice issued to Mid Devon District Council be used to assess the highway impacts, 
on this application.  
 
Following a further request for advice due to correspondence received from the Chairman of the 
Parish Meeting and local residents, the following more detailed response was made: 
 
06.05.21 - The site is accessed off a private lane which is also a Public Footpath number 
Cadeleigh 2 which is via a C Classified County Route which is restricted to 60 MPH 
 
The number of personal injury collisions which have been reported to the police in this area 
between 01/01/2016 and 31/12/2020 is one slight in Nov 2020 which was approximately 100 
metres from the junction of the private road. 
 
There has been a number of objections to this application, which state previous Highway Officers 
comments. Unfortunately the guidance, and in particular the policies, including TR10, which was 
used on these previous applications have changed. The policy TR10 came from the Devon 
Structure Plan. This is no longer in use, having been removed by Government legislation some 
years ago. There was no direct replacement for the Structure Plan. The guidance which is used 
today is the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. This states in Section 9 paragraph: 
Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network 
would be severe.  
 
The existing access on to the Public Highway is sufficient for two cars to pass and therefore this 
proposal would not create a safety concern at the access. The Visibility splays at this access is 
suitable for the speeds in this area. 
 
The number of trips this proposal could generate will not be a severe effect on the Highway. 
Therefore the County Highway Authority has no objections to this application 
 
Recommendation: 
 
THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF 
DEVON COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, HAS NO OBJECTION TO 
THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT. 
 
COUNTY RIGHTS OF WAY - 14.05.2021 - The Public Rights of Way Team has a duty to assert 
and protect the rights of the public to the full and free enjoyment of public rights of way and to 
maintain the network. In addition it is also responsible for the maintenance of recreational trails 
and unsurfaced roads. 
 
Government guidance considers that the effect of development on a public right of way is a 
material planning condition (Rights of Way Circular 1/09 - Defra October 2009, paragraph 7.2) and 
that public rights of way and access should be protected and enhanced with opportunities sought 
to provide better facilities for users by adding links to existing networks (National Planning Policy 
framework paragraph 98). 
 
Devon County Council's Rights of Way Improvement Plan policy states that, working closely with 
LPAs, opportunities will be sought for improvements to the rights of way network through planning 
obligations where new developments are occurring. 
 

Page 89



AGENDA 44 

It is also the County Council's policy that a holding objection will be made against any planning 
application which fails to take account of an existing public right of way until the matter is resolved. 
 
Response 
 
The proposal as submitted does not affect public footpath No2, Cadeleigh, but we note access to 
the site runs along this public path. 
 
Should planning permission be granted the applicant must ensure that the path is kept open and 
available for the public to use during site preparation and construction. If a temporary closure is 
required the applicant would need to apply to the County Council for a Temporary Traffic 
Regulation Order.   It should be noted a temporary closure cannot be seen as an alternative to 
adequate safety measures to mitigate risk to public users, and furthermore, the suitability of other 
routes would also be a consideration. 
 
Please note that the grant of planning permission does not grant the right to close, alter or build 
over a right of way or road in any way, even temporarily, this includes, for example, a change in 
the surface, width or location. Nothing should be done to divert or stop up a public right of way or 
road without following the due legal process including confirmation of any order and the provision 
of any new path. In order to avoid delays this should be considered at an early opportunity. 
 
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT TEAM - 22.04.2021 - Comments from Sue Watts, Historic 
Environment Officer 
 
Devon County Historic Environment Team ref: Arch/DM/MD/36458a 
 
I refer to the above application and your recent consultation. Assessment of the Historic 
Environment Record (HER) and the details submitted by the applicant suggest that there is little 
potential for the survival of below-ground archaeological remains within the proposal site. 
However, the proposal site lies within c.450m of the site of an Iron Age defended settlement 
associated with prehistoric and medieval settlements, a scheduled monument (NHLE 1020130) to 
the south-east of Cadeleigh Court.  
 
Given the proximity of the proposed site to this nationally important designated heritage asset we 
would advise that Historic England are consulted with regard to any comments they may have on 
the proposed development and the setting of the monument.  
 
HISTORIC ENGLAND - Consulted on 30th April 2021. No response received. 
 
NATURAL ENGLAND - 12.04.2021 - Natural England has no comments to make on this 
application. 
 
PUBLIC HEALTH - 09.04.2021 
 
Contaminated Land: No concerns. (31.03.21). 
 
Air Quality: No concerns. (31.03.21). 
 
Environmental Permitting: No objection to this proposal. (24.03.21). 
 
Drainage: The applicant proposes providing 2 earth closet systems, one for each unit. Ablution 
and other grey water will be discharged into soakaways which will be at least 10m from the 
nearest watercourse. The EA are satisfied with this arrangement based on the small numbers of 

Page 90



AGENDA 45 

users (maximum 4). However their concern is just the potential for groundwater or the watercourse 
to be contaminated; our concern is public health. The applicant has suggested that solid waste 
from the earth closet system will be composted and used on their land. Our view is that guests are 
not likely to be familiar with the operation of these units and there is potential for personal hygiene 
to be compromised, particularly at the present time during the Covid pandemic when personal 
hygiene is so important. Emptying of the contents elsewhere on the land and then retention for 
composting and use as a mulch are also activities which could compromise the health of people 
carrying out these tasks. The applicant has not provided details of waste collection arrangements, 
particularly of other personal hygiene and contaminated waste. Perhaps the applicant could clarify 
how these matters would be addressed in this remote location (see updated response below). If 
nuisance arises because of the earth closet systems then alternative arrangements will need to be 
made, and this might be difficult in this location so close to a stream. Finally the intention is to 
locate the earth closet within the living accommodation. It is usual to site them in separate units 
because there is potential for odour if they are not properly managed or if too much liquid is 
present. (31.03.21). 
 
04.06.21 (ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER) updated response - Thank you for sending the 
additional information regarding the proposed earth closets.  I have reviewed the information and 
our original comments but my concerns remain regarding the public health implications of using 
this system for tourists on a permanent basis.  The drainage hierarchy on the FDA1 form is very 
clear and earth closets are not included on it, for good reason.  In practice it is not possible to keep 
urine and solid wastes separate, and there will inevitably be occasions when the toilet must be 
used for other human wastes (vomit etc).  We consider that personal hygiene is particularly 
important in situations such as this where the occupancy will change frequently.  We know that 
some people living off grid will use a personal earth closet, and that they are used elsewhere on a 
temporary basis which is uncontrolled, but we do not consider them to be suitable in a tourist 
setting on a permanent basis.  Therefore we maintain our objection to this proposal. 
 
Noise & other nuisances: No concerns. (31.03.21). 
 
Housing Standards: No comment. (29.03.21). 
 
Licensing: No comments. (25.03.21). 
 
Food Hygiene: No comments. (24.03.21). 
 
Private Water Supplies: If a private supply is to be used by more than one property or has a 
commercial function, The Private Water Supply (England) Regulations 2016 as amended will 
apply. A risk assessment and sampling regime will be necessary. The supply must not be used 
until the Local Authority (Mid Devon District Council) is satisfied that the supply does not constitute 
a potential danger to human health, including single domestic use. 
 
You must also register with the Local Authority (Mid Devon District Council) any private water 
supply. Failure to do so may result in a Section 85 Notice, with which failure to comply is an 
offence. 
 
Please contact Public Health at Mid Devon District Council on completion of proposal.  
  
IF MAINS WATER IS TO BE USED, WOULD HAVE NO COMMENT. (24.03.21). 
 
Health and Safety: No comments. (24.03.21). 
 
 

Page 91



AGENDA 46 

MDDC ECONOMIC DEVLEOPMENT OFFICER - 26.05.2021 - The applicant's business plan and 
marketing strategy provide a realistic business case with a clear marketing strategy and 
reasonable financial assumptions. They have a clearly defined market and have detailed a tourism 
offer which is qualitatively different from their competitors locally. I therefore have no objections to 
the proposal from an Economic Development perspective. 
 
(The Economic Development Officer’s full economic appraisal of the proposal is attached to the 
end of this report as APPENDIX A). 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
This planning application has been advertised by means of a site notice erected by the applicant, 
neighbour notification and by advertising in a local newspaper in accordance with the legal 
requirements for publicity on planning applications, and the Council’s Adopted Statement of 
Community Involvement October 2016).   
 
Correspondence has been received from six local residents respect to this application, of which 
five contributors have written to object, and one to support. The main issues are summarised 
below: 
 
Objection 
 

 The proposal will have an adverse impact on highway safety, both 
along the private track and on the main public highway. 

 The track is privately owned and is showing signs of subsidence, and 
has numerous potholes. It is also narrow with no formal passing places, and several blind 
bends. In a previous application for the conversion of a barn at East Court Barton in 2010, 
approval was recommended on the basis that vehicle movements didn’t increase. In 2005, 
the Highway Authority objected to a previous application for a live/work unit on the basis 
that the location was unsuitable for a new dwelling. This was based on the substandard 
nature of the approach roads, the substandard junction onto the nearby County Highway 
and the remoteness from an established settlement. The proposed development will 
increase use of the lane to the detriment of highway safety. 

 The junction with the main road is substandard with poor visibility. 
Vehicles exiting the lane and heading west usually have to carry out a three point turn on 
the highway. There are often vehicles parked on the private track just inside the junction, 
meaning that passing is not possible at this point. 

 In a letter from the Highway Authority to one of the contributors, sent 
during the course of this application, the Highways Development Manager states that they 
wouldn’t recommend pedestrians use the public highway, and also confirms that the 
visibility splay is not up to scratch. 

 This application should be compared to another application at Home 
Farm, where improvements were requested to the visibility splay.  

 The proposal will have a significant adverse effect and harmful impact 
on the character and appearance of the valley. The site is visible from along the lane and 
at points on the main road between Cadeleigh village and Bickleigh. Photos supplied by 
the applicant show the site at its least visible due to the hedge growth at this time of year. 
The site will be far more visible in winter. Also any new trees on the site will not offer 
screening as they are only at knee height, having been planted two years ago. These are 
understood to be slow growing broadleaf species. 

Page 92



AGENDA 47 

 The junction of the lane onto the main public highway is unsafe with 
poor visibility. 

 The owners of the private track have advised that while the applicants 
have a right of access to their property, they do not have a right of access for commercial 
purposes. It is suggested that rights of access for the proposal will not be granted. There is 
also disappointment that the applicant’s did not discuss their plans with the track owners. 

 There are already two business along the track (a blacksmiths and an 
events catering business), a cattle farm, 3 residential small holdings, a property with an 
agricultural tie and a solely residential property. 

 There will be an adverse impact on the residential amenity of local 
residents due to sound travelling easily within this enclosed valley. Late night activities will 
ruin the peace and harmony of this small community. The prevailing west to south westerly 
wind means that properties on the lane pick up sounds from at least a quarter of a mile 
away, including conversations at the bottom of the valley. Some residents are able to hear 
conversations in properties at the other end of the lane. Being off-grid, it is likely that users 
would bring their own entertainment such as musical instruments or stereos. It is also 
unclear how the controls suggested in the management plan could be adequately policed. 

 The units would be in full view of the nearest property, causing issues 
of overlooking. 

 Each unit is to be supplied with a log-burner, fire pit and log fired pizza 
oven. A single log burner in a nearby property already causes smoke to hang in the valley 
on cooler days. Having up to six more log burning features will be unacceptable. 

 Concerns that the proposed low-level lighting and head torches would 
be insufficient to safely navigate the routes from the car park/track to the accommodation 
at night, particularly with it being in close proximity to unprotected bodies of water. 

 Lighting would have an adverse impact on the character of the area 
and on local ecology. 

 Commercial waste collections would not be viable as bin lorries cannot 
navigate the track to Heronsfield House. Any commercial wheelie bins would have to be 
kept at the top of the track on neighbouring land, which is considered to be unacceptable. 

 Concerns have been raised about the proposed foul waste 
arrangements, particularly in respect to storage and with human waste being spread onto 
the land and potentially leaching into the river Burn and Exe. A composting toilet is likely to 
cause groundwater contamination close to the river/borehole supply. 

 Despite the applicant’s suggestion, it is unlikely that users would arrive 
by public transport, or use public transport, cycle of walk to access nearby local facilities. It 
is most likely that users will be dependent on a motor vehicle. The ‘quiet country road’ 
referred to for users to walk or cycle along, is a very steep hill with many blind bends and 
no lighting. Over the years there have been vehicle collisions, vehicles overturning and 
collisions with horse riders due to erratic driving of tourists and some locals. It would be 
unsafe for visitors to walk this road, particularly if pushing a pram. 

 It is unfortunate that this would lead to the loss of historic agricultural 
land. The main property at Heronsfield House also has an agricultural tie, which the 
applicant’s will probably seek to remove. 

 Concerns that this will set a precedent for further expansion of the 
business, if approved, with additional harm caused. 

 There are already several other glamping and holiday let businesses 
locally, it is not considered that there is an existing need, as required by Local Plan policy 
DM22. 

 The language used in the Economic Development Officer’s economic 
appraisal doesn’t read as in impartial assessment of the proposal. It is contradictory to 
responses received for other similar development in the area. 

Page 93



AGENDA 48 

 There is a risk to security along the lane with additional visits by non-
regular residents. 

 
Support 
 

 Support for a neighbour willing to invest in a sustainable tourism 
business, an industry that is a big part of Devon’s income, and has been hard hit due to the 
world wide pandemic. 

 The lane is already well used with several residential properties, which 
may be expected to contain babies and children, along with generating other residential 
activities. There are also several holdings with animals, and other 24 hour activities, as well 
as other businesses. These business, industrial, agricultural and domestic uses make this 
a busy but generally peaceful working environment that would not be significantly affected 
by a small off gird holiday use. 

 It is understood that there are no restrictions or covenants placed on 
the use of the track, with it being open to continuous use for any reason. 

 
 
MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS AND OBSERVATIONS 
 
The main material considerations in respect of this application are:  
 
1) Principle for development in this location  
2) Design and impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area 
3) Highway safety and access  
4) Impact on residential amenity 
5) Drainage 
6) Other issues 
 
1) Principle for development in this location 
 
The site is located outside of any defined settlement boundary, in an open countryside location 
where policy S14 of the Mid Devon Local Plan, restricts development to agricultural and other 
appropriate rural uses, including ‘appropriately scaled retail, employment, farm diversification, 
tourism and leisure related development. 
 
Policy DM22 supports proposals for new or expanded tourism, visitor or leisure facilities within or 
adjacent to defined settlements. Elsewhere, the nature of the proposed development must justify a 
countryside location and minimise environmental impacts, avoiding an unacceptable traffic impact 
on the local road network. Development proposals must; 
 
a) Respect the character and appearance of the location; 
b) Where appropriate, involve conversion or replacement of existing buildings; and 
c) Demonstrate that the need is not met by existing provision within nearby settlements. 
 
The supporting text to this policy outlines that the justification for the development will be provided 
through a marketing strategy and business plan to explain how the development will achieve a 
high quality tourism product that meets demand. Proposals must demonstrate that their benefits 
outweigh any harm and that they do not cause an unacceptable impact to traffic on the local road 
network.  
 

Page 94



AGENDA 49 

In this case, the proposed development comprises the siting of two moveable cabins, one finished 
with timber cladding, the other with corrugated galvanised steel. These are proposed to be sited 
within a tree lined valley to the south of a private track and public footpath, serving as a means of 
access to a mix of residential properties, farmsteads and businesses. A car parking area for two 
vehicles is proposed within an existing barn that would be accessed from the track, with the 
proposed holiday units accessed via mown grass paths within the valley. 
 
As the site is not located within or adjacent to a recognised settlement boundary, the proposal is 
required to justify its countryside location. By way of background, the applicants have lived at the 
nearby Heronsfield House, which is sited immediately to the north of the application site. They 
purchased the house and adjoining land over two years ago and have since invested in sustaining 
and improving the biodiversity of the site, which comprises a variety of grasses, sedges and 
wildflowers. There are also existing trees and hedges to the site boundaries and alongside the 
Burn, a river passing through the centre of the site. The applicants were also successful in 
applying for a Countryside Stewardship Grant, and as a result have planted 5400 trees across 15 
acres of land. While the grant has assisted in the initial works on site, the applicants have advised 
that the ongoing costs of maintaining the site and providing further enhancements will need to be 
entirely borne by them. The proposed development is intended as a form of rural diversification, 
allowing the applicants to generate income from the land, allowing them to maintain and invest in 
the environment, whilst also adding to the local tourist economy. 
 
In respect to seeking to justify how the development will achieve a high quality tourism product, 
which will benefit local businesses, the environment, communities and visitors in the long-term, as 
well as fulfilling an unmet need, the applicant has provided information within the submitted design 
and access statement and detailed business plan and marketing statement to support their case. 
This outlines that the proposal would comprise a ‘back to nature’ style glamping in a private and 
tranquil environment, The units are proposed to have limited internal floor space each with a 
kitchen, area, double bed and log burner within the main space, and a bathroom with basin, wc 
and composting toilet. The aim is to target the units at the 35 plus couples market, with space for 
two adults only, and potentially a baby. A small amenity space will be mown into the adjoining 
grass, where users will have access to a fire pit and log burning pizza oven. Otherwise the site is 
intended to be a quiet, peaceful location, where visitors can enjoy the local environment. 
 
Within the submitted business plan and marketing strategy document, the applicants have 
identified that in recent years there has been a growing trend nationally in respect to short break 
holidays, with increased opportunities for the provision of alternative ‘glamping’ style 
accommodation, which promote low impact and low carbon products and experiences in rural 
areas, to enhance rural tourism.  This is supported by research carried out by Canopy & Stars, a 
national marketing and booking agent in glamping accommodation, who reference the growing 
market for this type of holiday accommodation and the expected revenues.  
 
In addition to the national picture, the applicants cite the Mid Devon Tourism Study and 
Destination Management Plan how the proposed development will support the objectives of these 
by providing accommodation suited to capitalising on the short break and weekend stays by 
couples mainly over the age of 35 years old, and without children. The applicant intends to build 
upon the identified demand for tourism offerings by providing a quiet rural location to enjoy the 
surrounding countryside.  
 
The applicant has also identified good linkages to local businesses such as the Cadeleigh Arms, 
and the facilities available at Bickleigh. Whether it will be desirable to visitors, or not, the applicant 
have noted that there is also a reliable bus service at Bickleigh Bridge, which is less than a mile 
away and can be accessed by foot. This then has good access to both Tiverton and Exeter, 
including Exeter St David’s train station. The site is well-placed to take advantage of local footpath 

Page 95



AGENDA 50 

that continues to the west of the site, along the track towards Cadeleigh. Additionally, the site is 
relatively well located in respect to the M5, and other main highway routes with good accessibility 
to settlements such as Exeter, Tiverton and Taunton. The applicant has also identified good 
linkages to a variety of rural business in the locality. 
 
The accommodation would be advertised through Canopy and Stars, in addition to possibly via the 
applicant’s own website and on social media. Financial projections indicate that this would be a 
viable business opportunity. 
 
The proposal and supporting information has also been assessed by the Council’s Economic 
Development Officer, who is supportive of the proposal. They have advised that they have no 
objections based the business plan and marketing strategy providing a realistic business case with 
a clear marketing strategy and reasonable financial assumptions. They consider the applicant to 
have identified a clearly defined market and detailed a tourism offer which is qualitatively different 
from their competitors locally, thereby fulfilling an as yet unmet demand for this type of 
accommodation. The Economic Development Officer has also noted that the whole ethos of the 
development  in providing a low-impact, environmentally friendly accommodation, which would 
allow visitors to connect with the natural world in a beautiful and peaceful setting such as this can 
only be achieved in a countryside location. 
 
Overall, it is considered that the tourist accommodation is acceptable in principle, and meets the 
aims and objectives of Local Plan policy DM22 in respect to justifying a countryside location, and 
demonstrating that the need is not met by existing provision within nearby settlements. 
 
2) Design and impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area 
 
In addition to the requirements of Local Plan policy DM22 criteria (a) that ‘development proposals 
must respect the character and appearance of the location’, Policy DM1 of the Mid Devon Local 
Plan 2013-2033 requires designs of new development to be of high quality, demonstrating a clear 
understanding of the characteristics of the site, its wider context and the surrounding area.  
Development should make a positive contribution to local character, creating visually attractive 
places that are well integrated with surrounding buildings, streets and landscapes.  
 
Policy S1 of the Local Plan requires good sustainable design that respects local character, 
heritage, surroundings and materials, creates safe and accessible environments, designs out 
crime and establishes a strong sense of place.  The policy seeks to protect landscapes, visual 
quality and biodiversity. 
 
The proposal is for two low impact units of accommodation to be sited discreetly within the 
application site. They would both be well-separated from each other to ensure privacy for 
occupiers, and would be located to the south side of the river Burn, also to the south of well-
established hedge and tree planting. The available screening will ensure that they are not highly 
visible from public view. It has been suggested that the site will be visible from the eastern part of 
the access track, and from places on the Cadeleigh to Bickleigh road, however any views will be 
limited and not to such a degree that the proposed development would be considered to cause 
significant harm to local landscape character. While the lower parts of the valley are undeveloped, 
they are closely related to the existing development along the track and public footpath, and would 
be viewed in the same context as this existing development on occasions. Generally though, the 
units will be tucked away discreetly where their overall impact will be limited. It is proposed to 
provide a seating area with access to a fire pit and log fired pizza oven, however these amenity 
areas are to be limited to approximately 11.25 square metres and will be demarcated by mowing 
the grass shorter rather than any physical marking or treatment. In protecting the visual amenities 
of the site and surrounding area in the long-term it is considered reasonable to impose conditions 

Page 96



AGENDA 51 

to ensure that the accommodation provided on site is limited to the units proposed, in the locations 
indicated, and that no fencing or other means of enclosure are provided within the application site. 
 
It is also considered appropriate to remove permitted development rights for the provision of 
external lighting to the buildings and on the site, other than that indicated within the submission. In 
that respect, the lighting proposals are identified within an additional statement from the applicant. 
In this they identify that the site will be lit by nine low level solar lights only, in four distinct 
locations. These will be positioned so there is one at the site entrance, two to the bottom of the hill 
where guests would turn right to the units, two as guests would cross a marshy strip and four on 
the corners of a concrete bridge that crosses the river. The route will otherwise be marked by 
mowing a path so it will be obvious to users if they are leaving the path. Additionally, reflective 
strips are proposed at regular intervals, which would show the way with guests using torches or 
head lights to be supplied with each unit. 
 
In commenting on the proposal, the County Historic Environment Team, mention that there is little 
potential for the survival of below ground archaeological remains at the site, however they do note 
that that there is a Scheduled Ancient Monument, in the form of an Iron Age defended settlement 
about 450 metres to the west of the site, just to the south east of Cadeleigh Court. It is suggested 
that Historic England be consulted in case they wish to make any comments on the proposed 
development and the setting of the monument. Due to the presence of this historic feature, 
consideration will have to be given to the impact that the development will have on the significance 
of this heritage asset. Paragraph 192 of the NPPF advises that “in determining applications, local 
planning authorities should take account of:  
 

a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and putting 
them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  

b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to sustainable 
communities including their economic vitality; and  

c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.” 

 
The above requirements in respect to heritage assets are echoed in policy S9 of the Mid Devon 
Local Plan, which includes the requirement that “development will sustain the distinctive quality, 
character and diversity of Mid Devon’s environmental assets through…the preservation and 
enhancement of Mid Devon’s cultural and historic environment, and the protection of sites, 
buildings, areas and features of recognised national and local importance, such as listed buildings, 
conservation areas, scheduled monuments and local heritage assets.” Policy DM25 also states 
that “heritage assets and their setting which are irreplaceable resources accordingly the Council 
will: 

a) Apply a presumption in favour of preservation in situ in respect of the most important 
heritage assets 

b) Require development proposals likely to affect heritage assets and their settings, including 
new buildings, alterations, extensions, changes of use and demolitions, to consider their 
significance, character, setting and local distinctiveness, and opportunities to enhance 
them. 

c) Only approve proposals that would be likely to substantially harm heritage assets and their 
settings if substantial public benefit outweighs that harm or the requirements of the NPPF 
are met. 

d) Where a development proposal would lead to less than substantial harm, that harm will be 
weighed against any public benefit, including securing optimum viable use; and 

Page 97



AGENDA 52 

e) Require developers to make a proportionate but sympathetic assessment of the impact on 
setting and thereby the significance of heritage asset(s)” 

In assessing the impact of the development, against the aforementioned local and national policy 
requirements, the proposal is considered to be acceptable. Historic England have chosen not to 
comment and the County Historic Environment Team have considered the proposal and raised no 
objections, other than requesting that Historic England be consulted. Noting the distance between 
the proposed development, and the heritage asset, the limited physical development associated 
with the proposal, and the lack of concern raised by the appropriate statutory consultees, it is 
considered that there will be no demonstrable harm to the significance of this heritage asset. 
 
3) Highway safety and access  
 
Policy DM3 of the Local Plan requires development to ensure safe access to the transport 
network.   
 
The site is accessed along a private track, which joins the main road between Cadeleigh village 
and Bickleigh. This road is an unnamed classified County ‘C’ road. 
 
Concerns have been received from the Chairman of Cadeleigh Parish Meeting, and local residents 
in respect to an increase in traffic using the local road network, and also safety concerns with the 
use of the private track and junction with the public highway. 
 
Regarding the local road network, it is suggested that there has been a growing increase in traffic 
movements along what are predominantly narrow rural lanes, as a result of additional 
development, including tourist accommodation and the increased use of larger vans for food and 
other deliveries. In relation to the lane, it is advised that this is about 300 metres from the public 
highway to the application site and is in poor condition, in addition to being single lane with no 
passing places. It is advised that the junction onto the main road is also sub-standard, with poor 
visibility. The contributors objecting, are concerned that the additional usage associated with the 
development will lead to highway safety issues along the track, and at the junction, particularly due 
to visitors being unfamiliar with the area. It is advised that in considering previous applications 
along the lane, particularly one in 2005, the Highway Authority objected to an increase in use of 
the lane, citing substandard nature of the approach roads and the junction. 
 
In this case, the Highway Authority initially advised that the County Standing Advice should be 
applied, however later provided more detailed comments in response to the concerns raised. In 
this they refer to the previous comments made, which related to policy TR10 from the now defunct 
Devon Structure Plan. This however having been removed, is no longer in use, with no direct 
replacement, The guidance used today is contained within the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and states that “development should only be prevented or refused on highway 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 
impacts on the road network would be severe.” In considering the proposed development, the 
Highway Officer notes that between 01/01/2016 and 31/12/2020 the number of personal injury 
collisions reported to the police in this area is one slight in November 2020, which was 
approximately 100 metres from the junction with the private track leading to the site. Despite the 
speed limit of the main road being 60 mph, observed speeds are much lower. It is advised that 
there is space for two cars to pass at the junction with the public highway and the visibility splays 
are suitable for the access, noting observed speeds. It is therefore considered that the limited 
number of trips likely to be associated with the proposed development would not generate a 
severe effect on the Highway, and as such the Highway Authority have no objections to the 
proposal. 
 

Page 98



AGENDA 53 

It is acknowledged that these comments relate solely to the impact on the adopted public highway, 
in which case further consideration needs to be given to the private track. While this is single width 
of the majority of its length, there are at least two places along the length of the track, not including 
the junction with the public highway, where the track is wide enough for two vehicles to pass. 
Noting the relative low usage of the lane, and the low levels of additional traffic likely to be 
generated as a result of these two holiday cabins, it is not considered that there will be a 
significant risk to the safety of users of the lane, whether they be the occupiers of the local 
residences and business along the lane, pedestrians using the footpath, or holiday makers using 
the proposed accommodation. In comments received from local residents, it has been suggested 
that neither of these wider sections of track would be suitable for use as passing spaces as they 
are often used for parking of local vehicles. While some use of these areas for parking was 
observed on site, the length of the wider sections is such that would be expected to be sufficient 
width for passing at one of these spaces at least. Notwithstanding this, if two vehicles were to 
come across each other on the single width section, it is not considered unreasonable that one of 
the vehicles would be able to reverse safely to one of these wider sections of track nearer the 
application site, or to the wider area close to the road junction, even if they had to do so for a 
distance, due to the low usage of the lane, and the insignificant increase in traffic associate with 
the proposed development. This is the current situation that would be faced by existing users of 
the lane, with a small increase in traffic not considered to increase the risk significantly.  
 
In addition to the safety implications, it is proposed to provide two parking spaces within an 
existing building at the entrance to the site. The provision of one parking space for each unit is 
considered to be acceptable noting the nature of the development proposal. 
 
Overall, it is considered that there is a low risk to users of the private track as a result of the 
proposed development. Furthermore, the existing access onto the public highway is of sufficient 
width to enable vehicles to pass without having to carry out an additional manoeuvres on the 
unnumbered classified County Road. The Highway Authority have also advised that they consider 
that the additional traffic generated by the proposal would not create any severe impacts on the 
local highway network. As such, the proposed development is considered to be acceptable from a 
highway safety point of view, complying with the requirements of policy DM3 of the Mid Devon 
Local Plan and the relevant highway considerations of the NPPF. 
 
4) Impact on residential amenity 
 
Local Plan policy DM1 e) states that new development should create “visually attractive places 
that are well integrated with surrounding buildings, streets and landscapes, and do not have an 
unacceptably adverse effect on the privacy and amenity of the proposed or neighbouring 
properties and uses…” 
 
Objections have been received from local residents concerned about the ability of the units to 
overlook nearby properties, and the potential for unacceptable levels of noise disturbance, 
especially late at night. Concerns have also been raised about smoke generated by the use of log 
burners, fire pits and pizza ovens associated with the units. 
 
The proposed cabins would be sited approximately 180m and 300 metres from the nearest 
residential property, not including the applicant’s home, respectively. Due to their position on lower 
ground, which is relatively well-screened, their modest scale and their distance, it is not considered 
that there would be any adverse impact on residential amenity as a result of overlooking or 
overshadowing. 
 
In respect to the potential for noise and associated disturbance, concerns are also raised about 
the nature of the site within a valley, where it is advised that even low levels of noise are able to 

Page 99



AGENDA 54 

travel for some distance. In considering this matter, it is noted that while this is a quiet countryside 
location, the development is sited in the context of a small group of residential properties. Despite 
concerns raised, it is not considered that these units would generate types or levels of noise 
considerably different from the existing nearby residential use. The units are of a small scale 
designed to attract up to two adults, and potentially one small child, who would wish to enjoy the 
tranquillity of the site. While it is accepted that the behaviour of certain individuals cannot always 
be accounted for, the nature of the development is such that large rowdy groups of holidaymakers 
would not be able to be accommodated on site. The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer 
has been consulted and has raised no objections, noting the context of the site and the low 
occupancy levels anticipated.   
 
Furthermore, a Site Management Plan has been submitted in support of the application. This 
includes measures such as not taking group bookings, prohibiting additional visitors, guests being 
shown their designated parking space and the accommodation on arrival, prohibiting dogs, 
prohibiting the use of fireworks, requiring that no music or other amplified noise is played outside 
after 10pm and restrictions on lighting throughout the site. 
 
Overall, considering the small scale nature of the proposed accommodation and the proposed 
measures for management of the site, included within the submitted Site Management plan, it is 
considered that the proposal would not cause an unacceptable impact on residential amenity and 
as such, The proposed development therefore accords with Local Plan policy DM1. 
 
5) Drainage 
 
Local Plan policy DM1 f) states that new development should include “appropriate drainage 
including sustainable drainage systems (SuDS), including arrangements for future maintenance, 
and connection of foul drainage to a mains sewer, where available.” 
 
Local Plan policy DM4 also relates to pollution control, stating that “applications for development 
that risks negatively impacting on the quality of the environment through noise, odour, light, air, 
water, land and other forms of pollution must be accompanied by a pollution impact assessment, 
where necessary. Development will be permitted where direct, indirect and cumulative effects of 
pollution will not have an unacceptable impact on health, the natural environment and general 
amenity.” 
 
The proposed development includes the provision of a soakaway for the disposal of surface water 
and the provision of a ‘compost toilet’ for collection of foul waste. The applicant has identified that 
the particular type of toilet proposed is not a traditional compost or ‘earth closet’ system as is 
usually understood by the term but a modern waterless toilet, Swedish manufactured toilet that is 
specifically designed for off-grid living. The toilet separates urine and solids, with the urine being 
diverted to the nearby soakaway, along with other ‘grey water’ from the showers and hand basins, 
and solids being collected in a sealed container that is accessed from the outside of the cabin. The 
sealed container is lined with a compostable bag prior to use. Once collected, the applicant 
proposes to compost the waste. This would be done by placing in a composting bin, where it 
would then be stored for two years, while a further two bins are filled over this time. After two 
years, the resulting compost will be safe to use as a composting material for the trees on site. 
 
In response to this, concerns have been raised by the local residents in respect to the potential for 
contamination of the land and nearby watercourse. The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer 
has also raised concerns about the risk to public health, specifically the personal hygiene of the 
person emptying the waste. They also note that in terms of foul drainage arrangements, it is first 
expected that connection should be made to a mains sewer, if available. If not, which is the case 
here, it is first expected that a package treatment plant is provided, with a septic tank being the 

Page 100



AGENDA 55 

next best option. Earth closets are not included within the drainage hierarchy on the submitted foul 
drainage assessment form. 
 
Firstly considering the risk of contamination of the land and water, the soakaway is proposed at 
least 10 metres from the watercourse. Prior to submitting the application, the applicant sought the 
advice of the Environment Agency in respect to the proposed ‘grey water’ drainage arrangements, 
with the water from the showers, hand basins and urine from the toilet to be disposed of via the 
soakaway. In response to these discussions, the Environment Agency have confirmed that while 
these discharges would be classified as groundwater activity, the amount that would be 
discharged from these units would be acceptable, being of a small scale that would qualify for a 
‘de minimis exclusion’ and not require a permit. It is thereafter considered that the levels of ‘grey 
water’ being discharged would not be sufficient to lead to any adverse impact on the local water 
environment. The Environmental Protection Officer does not dispute the Environment Agency 
advice in this respect. 
 
In respect to solid waste, the applicant advises that World Health Organisation guidance states 
that such solid waste is safe and pathogen free after 12 months, or less in optimum conditions. By 
operating a three bin system, the applicant is taking an extra precautionary approach, leaving 
waste for at least two years before using as composting material. Again, with this precautionary 
approach, it is not considered that the final disposal of the solid waste would lead to any adverse 
effects of pollution to public health or to the local water environment.  
 
In considering the concerns of the Environmental Protection Officer, in respect to the impact on 
personal hygiene, and compliance with the established foul drainage hierarchy, it is acknowledged 
that there is no nearby mains sewer that could be accessed. Furthermore, the proximity to the 
watercourse, and difficulty in accessing the site of the two units would make the use of a package 
treatment plant or septic tank undesirable. The provision of such permanent solutions also goes 
against the objective of the development in providing a very low impact, off-grid development that 
is completely reversible in the future. 
 
The comments made in respect to the potential for mixing the waste and the health of those 
people clearing the waste is noted, however the very specific design of the proposed toilets mean 
that the waste will be fully sealed and able to be disposed of without risking the personal hygiene 
of the applicants, who intend to operate the site. It is also noted that the preference of the 
Environmental Protection Officer would be for toilet facilities to be provided separate from the living 
accommodation. Again, the design of the facilities would be such that all waste is able to be 
collected from outside of the unit, without the need for waste to be brought through the internal 
living accommodation.  
 
While the comments have been considered in detail and further solutions discussed, it is not 
considered that it would be reasonable to refuse planning permission on the grounds highlighted 
by the Environmental Protection Officer, based on the small scale nature of the proposal and the 
inability to provide alternative solutions that would better accord with the expectations of the foul 
drainage hierarchy. Furthermore, with the impact on the local water environment, and wider public 
health considered to be acceptable, there are not considered to be any substantial planning policy 
grounds to justify refusal in these particular circumstances. As such, the proposed drainage 
arrangements are considered to be acceptable, in accordance with policy DM1 and DM4 of the 
Local Plan. 
 
5) Other issues 
 
The application is supported by a preliminary ecology appraisal. This identified that there would be 
a small loss of semi-improved grassland, scrub and immature trees, although these habitats were 

Page 101



AGENDA 56 

advised to be common and widespread throughout the landholding, with their loss considered to 
be insignificant. No evidence of protected species were noted within the limits of the application 
site, although it is noted that there are opportunities within the site and surrounding landholding for 
badgers, bats, otter, dormice, other small mammals, nesting birds, reptiles, common amphibians 
and invertebrates. Overall, it was concluded that the small scale nature of the proposal, and its 
siting away from the watercourse would not adversely impact on any protected species potentially 
found on site. A condition requiring the development to be carried out in accordance with these 
precautionary measures is suggested. As such, there is no identified harm to local ecology and the 
scheme appropriately accords with policies S9 and DM1 of the Local Plan.  
 
Concerns have been raised about the disposal of general waste generated from the site. The 
applicants have confirmed that they propose to collect food waste, which will be composted on 
site. Bins will also be provided for dry recyclables and general waste, which will be bagged and 
stored in the existing barn for collection. The applicant has advised that having taken advice from 
the Council’s Trade Waste Officer, they are likely to use the trade waste sack system, which 
operates in a similar manner to home waste collections, albeit a paid for service.  
 
It is acknowledged that the track that links the application site to the public highway is a private 
track, under the ownership of occupiers of East Court Barton, a property at the end of the lane, to 
the north west of Heronsfield House. As a result of this, the applicant is required to serve notice of 
the application on the owners of the track. This has been done in the correct manner. 
Notwithstanding this, the owners of the lane have advised that the right of way is limited to 
domestic, and agricultural use only, and does not include any additional rights of access for 
business purposes. The owners have advised that any such use would need their permission and 
this would not be granted. The applicant has disputed this, advising that they have right of access. 
In support of the proposal, another local landowner, whose land and buildings are accessed along 
this track has suggested that there are no covenants or restrictions on the lane, with it accessible 
for continuous use. Notwithstanding these concerns, these are not planning matters and are 
between the parties to resolve.  While this is not ideal, lack of right of access would not be able to 
be used as ground for refusal. If the applicant does indeed need to gain consent from the owner of 
the track, this is something that they will be legally required to do, and without this they will not be 
able to implement any consent, if granted. Nonetheless, this is not a matter that can be considered 
from a planning perspective. In respect to the legal status of the application, the correct ownership 
forms have been completed, and appropriate notice served on the owners. 
 
A public footpath runs the length of the private track. The County Council Rights of Way Team 
have commented on the application advising that the proposal will not affect the public right of 
way. They do however note that the path is required to be kept open and available during site 
preparation and construction. Details have been provided of what the applicant is required to do 
should they need to apply for a temporary closure. An informative will be added to this effect. 
 
SUMMARY  
 
This application for the change of use of agricultural land and siting of two off-grid cabins to 
provide tourist accommodation is considered to be acceptable and supportable in policy terms. It is 
considered that the applicant has satisfactorily demonstrated that the proposal would achieve a 
high quality tourism product that will provide economic benefits to the local area and that may 
benefit, communities and visitors in the long-term. It is considered, on balance, that sufficient 
justification has been provided to support the provision of the units in this location. It is not 
considered that the proposal would have an unacceptable impact on the environment or on nearby 
heritage assets and the proposal is considered to be suitably designed to respect the character of 
the locality. The likely additional traffic arising from the holiday use is not considered to be 
significant and unlikely to result in any significant adverse impacts on the local highway network or 

Page 102



AGENDA 57 

on the safety of the private track used to access the site from the public highway. It is not 
considered that the proposal would result in any significant adverse impacts on the amenity of 
neighbouring properties, to public health or to the local water environment. The proposal therefore 
accords with policies S1, S9, S14, DM1, DM3, DM4, DM5, DM22 and DM25 of the Mid Devon 
Local Plan 2013-2033, and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 
CONDITIONS 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission. 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
plans and supporting information listed in the schedule on the decision notice. 
 

3. The accommodation to be provided within the holiday units hereby approved shall be 
occupied for holiday purposes only, and shall not be occupied as a person's sole, or main, 
place of residence. 
 

4. A register shall be kept of persons occupying the holiday units hereby approved for holiday 
purposes, which shall include their name, the address of their main residence and the 
period(s) of their occupation of the unit for such purposes (i.e. the dates of commencement 
and the end of each period of occupation), and the said register shall be made available for 
inspection by an authorised officer of the Local Planning Authority at all reasonable times. 
 

5. The development hereby permitted shall be restricted to no more than two units of holiday 
accommodation that shall be provided in accordance with the details submitted within the 
approved plans. 

 
6. Details of foul and surface water drainage provision, shall be implemented in accordance 

with the details contained within the submitted design and access statement, additional 
supporting information and approved plans. Such approved drainage scheme shall be 
installed prior to the development hereby permitted being first occupied and shall thereafter 
be retained and maintained at all times. 

 
7. The area allocated for parking on the submitted plans shall be kept clear of obstruction and 

shall not be used other than for the parking of vehicles in connection with the development 
hereby permitted. 

 

8. No means of external lighting or other external illumination shall be installed on any of the 
buildings hereby approved or operated on any part of the subject land, other than in 
accordance with the details of lighting submitted in support of this application, or unless 
details of such additional new lighting has first been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Such approved details, once implemented shall not 
thereafter be altered without the prior written agreement of the Local Planning Authority. 
 

9. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
recommendations detailed in the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (prepared by 
Seasons Ecology - dated December 2020) covering measures for the avoidance of harm to 
on-site habitat, protected species and nesting birds. 

 

Page 103



AGENDA 58 

10. The holiday accommodation hereby approved shall be operated in adherence with the 
submitted Site Management Plan (Oak Rivers Site Management Plan), at all times, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

11. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking and re-enacting 

that Order with or without modification) no development of the types described in Class [A] 

of Part [2] of Schedule 2 shall be undertaken on the premises. 
 

 
REASONS FOR CONDITIONS 
 

1. In accordance with provisions of Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 
 

2. For the avoidance of doubt in the interests of proper planning. 
 

3. The site is outside of defined settlement limits in the open countryside, where permanent 
dwellings with unrestricted occupation would be contrary to adopted planning policy, 
however the application is considered to be in accordance with policy DM22 of the Mid 
Devon Local Plan 2013-2033. 

 
4. The site is outside of defined settlement limits in the open countryside, where permanent 

dwellings with unrestricted occupation would be contrary to adopted planning policy, 
however the application is considered to be in accordance with policy DM22 of the Mid 
Devon Local Plan 2013-2033. 
 

5. For the avoidance of doubt as to the extent of the development hereby permitted. 
 

6. To ensure that the site is appropriately drained in the interests of public health, in 
accordance with policies S9 and DM1 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 and the 
aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
7. In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with policy DM3 of the Mid Devon Local 

Plan 2013 and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

8. In the interests of residential amenity and to safeguard the amenities and character of the 
area and that of any protected species, in accordance with policies S1, S9, DM1 and DM22 
of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 and the aims and objectives of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
9. For the conservation and protection of local habitats, legally protected species and nesting 

birds, in accordance with policies S9 and DM1 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033, the 
provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework, and to ensure compliance with The 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 

 
10. In the interests of residential amenity and to safeguard the amenities and character of the 

area, in accordance with policies S1, S9, DM1 and DM22 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 
2013-2033 and the aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

11. To ensure that the character and appearance of the locality are protected and to avoid 

overdevelopment in the interests of local amenity. 

Page 104



AGENDA 59 

 

 

 
 
 
INFORMATIVES 
 

The applicant/developer’s attention is brought to the comments of the Devon County 
Council Rights of Way Team, dated 7th May 2021. These provide advice and guidance in 
respect to the applicant/developer’s obligations in respect to the operation of the adjoining 
Public Right of Way. These comments can be viewed on the Council’s website. 

 
 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on public authorities in the exercise of 
their functions to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance equality of 
opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do 
not share it and foster good relations between different people when carrying out their activities.  
No persons that could be affected by the development have been identified as sharing any 
protected characteristic. 
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 came into force on 2nd October 2000. It requires all public authorities 
to act in a way which is compatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. This report 
has been prepared in light of the Council's obligations under the Act with regard to decisions to be 
informed by the principles of fair balance and non-discrimination. 
 
In accordance with Paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework, the Local Planning 
Authority has worked proactively and positively with the applicant. This has included carrying out 
pre-application discussions and further negotiations/discussions during the application process. 
 
In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, the Local Planning Authority has also 
involved the community in the consideration of this application. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 105



AGENDA 60 

APPENDIX 1 
 
21/00453/FULL - HERONSFIELD HOUSE, CADELEIGH 
 
ECONOMIC APPRAISAL 
 
Summary 

 

The applicant’s business plan and marketing strategy provide a realistic business case with a clear 

marketing strategy and reasonable financial assumptions. They have a clearly defined market and 

have detailed a tourism offer which is qualitatively different from their competitors locally. I 

therefore have no objections to the proposal from an Economic Development perspective. 

 

Business Proposal  

What is the business proposal? Two off-grid, low impact mobile cabins which will 

be marketed to individuals and couples wanting “to 

connect with the natural world in an 

environmentally sensitive and sustainable way” 

 

Have they provided a sufficiently detailed 

business plan and marketing strategy? 

 

The applicants have provided a sound business 
plan and marketing strategy with good analysis of 
the market, and reasonable assumptions in their 
projections. 
 

Is this a realistic and sustainable business 

proposition? 

 

Yes. The financial projections seem reasonable, 
although an 85% occupancy in year three may be 
difficult to achieve. 
 

Is this a ‘high-quality tourism product’ 

(paragraph 4.68)? 

 

Potentially. If they manage to achieve the high 
standards they set out in their business plan, then 
this will be a high quality tourism product. 
 

Economic Benefit  

Will the business create any new paid 

employment? 

 

No new employment is identified in the application  

Increased revenue Yes – projected income in the first year is £13,000 

rising to £23,000 in the third year 

How will the development benefit the local 

economy? 

This is not addressed in detail in the application 

Page 106



AGENDA 61 

 

Demonstrating Market Need  

Is there any evidence of demand for this  

product? 

Yes, the business plan provides a good summary 

of available evidence. Nationally there is increasing 

demand for short stay, environmentally friendly 

accommodation, catering for couples wanting a 

green experience. 

 

What other holiday accommodation is 

available in the area? 

 

There are a number of other sites in the area 

providing a glamping experience, but these are 

mainly targeted at the family market – Exe Valley 

Glamping (4 units) and Valleyside Escapes (3 

units) in Bickleigh, offer large safari tents (sleeping 

6). Orchard Retreats offers 3 yurts (sleeping 4). 

Upcott Roundhouse sleeps 10! 

 

There are shepherd’s huts at West Farleigh, 

Cheriton Fitzpaine, Binnerleigh Farm, Kennerleigh 

and at Stockleigh Pomeroy catering for couples, 

but these are in a more domestic, less 

environmentally raw settings. 

 

Is there anything distinctive about the 

proposal, which will make it more 

attractive in the market, or complement the 

local tourism offer? (e.g. in terms of 

quality, location, facilities etc.)  

Compared to other holiday accommodation locally, 

this development will be distinctive in its high 

environmental standards and the extent of the 

‘back to nature’ experience it offers. 

They propose bespoke construction using 

environmentally friendly materials, off-grid services, 

and minimal landscaping to retain the natural feel 

of the location and its relation to the river, while 

offering a luxury experience in finish and feel. 

 

Have they demonstrated a qualitative or 

quantative gap in the market? 

 

The proposed development will provide an offer 

which is qualitatively different than its competitors 

and will therefore meet a gap in the market. 

 

Page 107



AGENDA 62 

  

Does the proposed development justify a 

countryside location? 

The whole ethos of this development will be to 

provide a low-impact, environmentally friendly 

accommodation which will allow visitors to connect 

with the natural world in a beautiful and peaceful 

natural setting. This could only be achieved in a 

countryside location. 

 

 

 

Assessment Principles 

 

“The right development in the right location” 

 

There is a presumption in favour economic growth & legitimate competition – cf. DM22 Proposals 
for new or expanded tourism, visitor or leisure facilities will be supported within or adjacent to 
defined settlements.  
 

However, 

 

Proposals for tourism and leisure developments ‘in the countryside’ must demonstrate: 

 The economic benefits outweigh any potential adverse impacts (on the character and 
amenity of the local area) 

 They meet an identified need, which is not met by existing provision 

 The nature of the proposed development justifies a countryside location 
 

Key Questions 
 

 Is this a realistic and sustainable business proposal?  
o Is expected income and expenditure realistic? 
o How are they going to manage and market the property? 

 Have they demonstrated a market need?  
o Have they provided evidence of a qualitative or quantative gap in the market? 
o Do they demonstrate an understanding of local / national market trends?  

 Have they demonstrated a gap in provision in the local area? 
o What other holiday accommodation is available in the area? – Do they demonstrate 

a clear understanding of the competition? 
o Is there something distinctive about their offer within the market? 
o How will the development complement the local tourism offer? 

 Will the development create a net economic benefit?* 
o Is this proposal a diversification from an existing business that will make the main 

business more sustainable? 

 Does the development justify a countryside location? 
o Is the development integrated visually or environmentally into the countryside 
o Does the development engage visitors in the countryside and/or educate them 

about it 
o Proximity to a specific feature or amenity 

Page 108



AGENDA 63 

 
*Net Economic Benefit (growth – displacement) 

 

Growth Displacement 

New jobs created (direct / indirect)  

Increased revenue  

Potential for market growth?  

o Increased overall number of visitors 
o Widen the type of visitors 

 

Not just taken visitors from another provider 

Increased visitor spend  

Benefits to the local economy 

o Increased spend in local shops 
o Links to specific attractions 

 

  

 

Planning Policy 

 

NPPF, paragraph 83 

a) the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas, both 
through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new buildings;  
b) the development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural 
businesses;  
c) sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments which respect the character of the 
countryside; and  
d) the retention and development of accessible local services and community facilities, 

such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural buildings, public 

houses and places of worship. 

 

Local Plan Policy S14 - Countryside  

Development outside the settlements defined by Policies S10-S13 will preserve and where 

possible enhance the character, appearance and biodiversity of the countryside while promoting 

sustainable diversification of the rural economy. Detailed development management policies will 

permit agricultural and other appropriate rural uses, subject to the following criteria:  

 

a) Affordable and low cost housing to meet local needs, gypsy and traveller 

accommodation, residential conversion of appropriate existing buildings, replacement 

dwellings, housing essential to accommodate a rural worker and accommodation ancillary 

to a dwelling;  

b) Appropriately scaled retail, employment, farm diversification, tourism and leisure related 

development (including appropriate conversion of existing buildings);  

Page 109



AGENDA 64 

c) Appropriately scaled and designed extensions and other physical alterations to existing 

buildings;  

d) Agricultural and equestrian development;  

e) Community facilities, such as educational facilities, buildings associated with public open 

space, transportation and infrastructure proposals (including green infrastructure); and  

f) Renewable energy and telecommunications. 

 

DM22 – Tourism and Leisure Development 

Proposals for new or expanded tourism, visitor or leisure facilities will be supported within or 
adjacent to defined settlements.  
 
Elsewhere, the nature of the proposed development must justify a countryside location and 
minimise environmental impacts, avoiding an unacceptable traffic impact on the local road 
network. Development proposals must:  

a) Respect the character and appearance of the location;  
b) Where possible, involve conversion or replacement of existing buildings; and  
c) Demonstrate that the need is not met by existing provision within nearby settlements. 

 

 

Paragraph 4.68 of the policy supporting text states:  
  
“Applications for tourism and leisure development in the countryside will need to be justified by the 
applicant. The Council will require a marketing strategy and business plan to be submitted, to 
explain how the development will achieve a high quality tourism product that meets demand. 
Proposals must demonstrate that their benefits outweigh any harm and that they do not cause an 
unacceptable impact to traffic on the local road network. Tourism and leisure development should 
benefit local businesses, the environment, communities and visitors in the long-term, so the 
Council will seek the right form of development in the right location, with evidence that the need is 
not already being met by existing provision. In demonstrating unmet need for tourism proposals 
outside settlement limits, applicants should have regard to the Council’s Tourism Study, available 
on the Mid Devon District Council website.” 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 110



AGENDA 65 

 
Plans List No. 3 

 
Application No. 21/00276/MFUL 
 
Grid Ref:  283067 : 102459  
 
Applicant: Mr J Denno  
   
Location: Land at NGR 283084 102432 (Fanny's Lane)  

Sandford  
Devon  
  

   
Proposal: Erection of 13 dwellings to include associated landscaping, public open space and 

infrastructure  
 
 
Date Valid:      1st April 2021 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 111



AGENDA 66 

APPLICATION NO:  21/00276/MFUL 
 

MEMBER CALL-IN 
 
Members of the Planning Committee held on 26 May 2021 agreed that 21/00276/MFUL for the 
erection of 13 dwelling at Land at NGR 283084 102432 (Fanny’s Lane) Sandford, Devon, be 
brought before the committee for determination and that a site visit take place. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Grant permission subject to conditions and the signing of a S106 agreement to secure the 
following: 
 
1. Three affordable houses in accordance with a scheme to be agreed with the Local Planning 

Authority. 
 

2. A financial contribution of £44,340 towards funding improvements which seek to address air 
quality within the Crediton Air Quality Management Area in line with Policies S12 (Crediton) 
and CRE11 (Crediton Infrastructure) and the relevant guidance in the supporting SPD on the 
provision and funding of Air Quality mitigation, whereby a financial contribution of £ 4,434.00 
would be required for each new unrestricted residential unit created. A project has been 
allocated for provision and improvement of footpath and cycle links into and within the 
designated Air Quality Management Area. 

  
3. A financial contribution of £5768 towards public open space provision in the Parish of Sandford 

in line with the requirements of Policy S5 (Public Open Space). This figure takes into account 
the public open space to be provided on site which has been subtracted from the off site 
financial contribution. The project which has been allocated for Improvements to Play Area 
including new adult exercise equipment at Sandford Play Area in Sandford. 

 

4. Provision of on site public open space and details of Management Company to maintain the 
public open space in perpetuity.  

 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
The applicant seeks planning permission for the erection of 13 dwellings to include associated 
landscaping, public open space and infrastructure on land at NGR 283084 102432 (Fanny's Lane), 
Sandford. The development comprises 13 dwellings of which two would be bungalows with the 
rest being two storey dwellings and the proposal includes a mix of 2, 3 and 4 bed homes. Three of 
the dwellings would be affordable dwellings (plots 1 - 3). 
 

This site comprises an open field, bounded along the northwest corner by the residential 
properties along Creedy View which were constructed a few years ago. Further to the north is the 
village hall and its car park and to the west of the site is Park House (a listed building) and its 
grounds (which are also located in the Conservation Area for Sandford) with the east of the site 
being bounded by properties in Brady Close. Sandford Footpath no.23 runs west to east across 
the lower part of the site, with further residential properties to the south located at a lower level due 
to the ground sloping down from north to south. 
 
The site is currently located inside of the settlement boundary for the village of Sandford where the 
principle of residential development is acceptable subject to the development being designed to 

Page 112



AGENDA 67 

meet other adopted policy requirements. The site is outlined as an allocated housing site within the 
Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 under Policy SA1 - Fanny’s Lane, Sandford. This policy states: 
 
A site of 1.5 hectares at Fanny’s Lane, Sandford is allocated for residential development, subject 
to the following:  
a) 27 dwellings with 30% affordable housing;  
b) Buffer strip of planting or open space to protect the setting of the listed Park House and 
Sandford Conservation area; and  
c) Careful design and landscaping to protect views towards Sandford and the historic core around 

St Swithun’s Church. 

APPLICANT’S SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
Plans, Planning Statement, Design and Access Statement, Ecological Appraisal, Arboriculutral 
Report Flood Risk Assessment, Transport Statement, Waste Audit Statement, Heritage Statement. 
 

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
09/01870/MFUL – PERMIT date 17th August 2010 
A mixed development of 13 open market eco-houses and 6 affordable eco-houses; new access 
and estate road; additional car parking facilities for the Village Hall; closure of the existing Parish 
Hall Car Park entrance; provision of a children's play area for the Parish Hall; highway 
improvements to Fanny's Lane; footpath link to Snows and Meadowside Road (Revised Scheme) 
 
13/00498/MFUL - PERMIT date 13th February 2014 
A mixed development of 12 open market houses and 7 affordable eco-houses; new access and 
estate road; additional car parking facilities for the Village Hall; closure of the existing Parish Hall 
Car Park entrance; provision of a children's play area for the Parish Hall;  highway improvements 
to Fanny's Lane; footpath link to Snows and Meadowside Road; retention and renovation and use 
for car parking (Revised Scheme)   
 
13/00525/MFUL - DWD date 6th April 2017 
Application to replace extant planning permission 09/01870/MFUL (to extend time limit).  A mixed 
development of 13 open market eco-houses and 6 affordable eco-houses; new access and estate 
road; additional car parking facilities for the Village Hall; closure of the existing Parish Hall Car 
Park entrance; provision of a children's play area for the Parish Hall; highway improvements to 
Fanny's Lane; footpath link to Snows and Meadowside Road (Revised Scheme)   
 
14/00339/LBC - PERMIT date 20th May 2014 
Listed Building Consent for repairs to stone wall and infilling of opening; repairs and re-rendering 
of block wall to include infill between piers; demolition and replacement of brick wall and repairs to 
estate fence   
 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES 
 
Mid Devon Local Plan Review 2013 – 2033 
S1 - Sustainable development priorities  
S2 - Amount and distribution of development  
S3 - Meeting housing needs  
S5 - Public open space  
S8 - Infrastructure  
S9 - Environment  

Page 113



AGENDA 68 

S13 - Villages  
DM1 - High quality design  
DM3 – Air Quality and Transport 
DM4 - Pollution  
DM5 - Parking  
DM25 - Development affecting heritage assets  
DM26 - Green infrastructure in major development 
 

Policy SA1 - Fanny’s Lane, Sandford. This policy states: 
 
A site of 1.5 hectares at Fanny’s Lane, Sandford is allocated for residential development, subject 
to the following:  
a) 27 dwellings with 30% affordable housing;  
b) Buffer strip of planting or open space to protect the setting of the listed Park House and 
Sandford Conservation area; and  
c) Careful design and landscaping to protect views towards Sandford and the historic core around 
St Swithun’s Church. 
 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Sandford Parish Council – 8th June 2021 
 
Following a Public Meeting on 20th May 2021, and Parish Council discussions regarding this 
planning application, we would like to submit the following comments. 
 
1. Whilst the Parish Council do not oppose the application we, and a high percentage of 
Parishioners attending the Public Meeting, do wonder whether the right type of homes are being 
proposed? Does Sandford really need more Executive type homes? 
There is clearly an absence of "affordable" properties in Sandford. This means many younger 
residents, as well as older residents who want to downsize, are forced to move into Crediton to 
find "affordable" properties. Any attempts for moving back to their home village are thwarted by the 
lack of "affordable" Homes. Many residents have told us they were wanting the number of 
dwellings reduced to the 8 described in the local plan. Whilst MDDC say 'they' must make best use 
of the land available, the need in Sandford is for cheaper dwellings rather than more executive 
style houses. 
 
2. There is a huge concern, from the residents of Meadowside, that back on to the site, that their 
properties will be flooded due to the location of the proposed attenuation tanks/ponds. 
We feel that these are NOT acceptable in the location current shown on the plans. 
If the ponds do become the preferred option we would request that a trench is dug (filled with 
aggregate) with a drain pipe to take away the excess water in the direction of the sewage works. 
 
3. The consensus from the Parish is that Zinc roofs are not suitable and they should match the 
current Creedy View development roofs. 
 
4. We are concerned that the present Creedy View 1 attenuation tanks have yet to be adopted and 
feel that this is necessary before any Construction works begins on Creedy View 2. 
 
5. Any conveyance of surplus land to a Sandford organisation needs to be at no legal cost to the 
recipient. 
 

Page 114



AGENDA 69 

6. The future care of the Ha Ha needs to be attended to by the Management Committee, and not 
Sandford Parish Council or Sandford Millennium Green. Alternatively the responsibility lies with the 
owner of the property who's land this falls on. The Management Committee will need to have 
access for repairs etc. 
 
7. No soil or spoil should be deposited below the Furlongs footpath as this could in time cause a 
potential hazard of it slipping down the bank onto the homes in Meadowside. 
 
8. The Management Committee needs to be set up and running within 6 months of the first 
properties being occupied. 
 
9. The monies allocated to the Clean Air Fund should be used toward the creation of the proposed 
Footpath and Cycle Way connecting Sandford with Pedlars Pool. Also with the path leading to 
Meadowside and Snows. 
 
10. The impact of additional traffic on the already busy Fanny's Lane needs to be addressed and 
resolved. All construction vehicles need to access the site from the Upton Hellions end of Fanny's 
Lane rather than travelling through the centre of the village. Conditions also need to be put in 
place that deliveries do not take place at busy times of the day including when children are arriving 
at and leaving Sandford School. 
 
11. It is recommended that sufficient fast electric car re charging points are included within the 
development as this need will become more and more a priority in future. We also suggest a car 
recharging point connected to the current Creedy View 1 car park.           
 
Highway Authority – 22nd April 2021 
 
The site is accessed off an unclassified County Route which is restricted to 30 MPH 
The number of personal injury collisions which have been reported to the police in this area 
between 01/01/2015 and 31/12/2019 is none. 
 
The Site Layout Plan shows connection into the Public Right of Way 23 and also footway 
connections in to Creedy View. There is access to the local bus stop in the Square which is within 
the Manual for Streets Guidance distance. The Village of Sandford does have facilities within the 
village of a School and Community Store, which are all within walking distance. 
 
The Transport Statement shows the parking provision for each property meets with the Mid Devon 
Local Plan Policy DM 5 although no mention of electric charging points. This is a site also 
allocated within this Local Plan SA1 although only 8 dwellings are allocated. 
The number of trips that 13 dwellings will create at peak times during the day would equate to one 
vehicle per minute extra on the highway network, which is an estimated figure taken from TRICS 
database which a is nationally accepted database. This number would not have a severe impact 
on the highway network. 
 
The Highway Authority has no objection to the proposed development, if it is the applicant's 
intention to offer any of the highway included in the application for adoption as maintainable 
highways, permission under the Town and Country Planning Act should not be construed as 
approval to the highway engineering details necessary for inclusion in an Agreement under 
Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980. 
 
Recommendation: 
The Head of Planning, Transportation and Environment, on behalf of Devon County Council, as 
Local Highway Authority, may wish to recommend conditions on any grant of planning permission 

Page 115



AGENDA 70 

 
1. Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and 
approved a Construction Management Plan (CMP) including: 
(a) the timetable of the works; 
(b) daily hours of construction; 
(c) any road closure; 
(d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with such 
vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays inc.; 
9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and 
Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 
(e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and the 
frequency of their visits; 
(f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, 
crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction phases; 
(g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building 
materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with 
confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for 
loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local 
Planning Authority; 
(h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 
(i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and 
(j) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit 
construction staff vehicles parking off-site 
(k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations 
(l) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 
(m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking. 
(n) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement of 
any work; 
 
2. The proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, 
sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, road maintenance/vehicle 
overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, car parking and street furniture shall 
be constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing before their construction begins, For this purpose, plans and sections 
indicating, as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of 
construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 
REASON: To ensure that adequate information is available for the proper consideration of the 
detailed proposals. 
 
3. In accordance with details that shall previously have been submitted to, and approved by, the 
Local Planning Authority, provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water 
so that none drains on to any County Highway 
REASON: In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway 
 
DCC Flood & Coastal Risk Management Team – 23rd April 2012  
 
We are pleased to see that two above ground basins are proposed to attenuate the runoff at this 
site. However, the applicant should rerun the attenuation based on FEH data rather than FSR 
which we no longer accept as it is out of date. 
 
The FRA mentions how infiltration testing has yet to be undertaken by a Geotechnical 
Investigation and Contamination Assessment Report AB/SR/20156/GICAR details the results of 
infiltration testing. It is recommended that the FRA is updated to reflect this.  

Page 116



AGENDA 71 

 
The applicant should consider the use of a cut off drain or similar on the eastern boundary, within 
the area of public open space, to reduce the risk of exceedance flows flowing towards properties 
on Brady Close. 
 
We would be happy to provide another substantive review if additional information is submitted to 
the local planning authority. 
 
DCC Flood & Coastal Risk Management Team – 13th July 2021 
 
Recommendation: 
We have no in-principle objections to the above planning application, from a surface water 
drainage perspective. If the Planning Case Officer is minded to grant planning permission in this 
instance, I request that the following pre-commencement planning condition is imposed: 
 

 No development hereby permitted shall commence until the following information has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
(a) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood Risk Assessment Weaver's 
Way Sandford 32002-BPC-ZZ-XX-RP-C-0000 
(b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt runoff from the site during 
construction of the development hereby permitted. 
(c) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water drainage 
system. 
(d) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site. 
(e) Evidence there is agreement in principle from South West Water 
No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works have been approved and 
implemented in accordance with the details under (a) - (e) above. 

 
Reason: The above conditions are required to ensure the proposed surface water drainage system 
will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, adjacent land 
or downstream in line with SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and national policies, including NPPF 
and PPG. The conditions should be pre-commencement since it is essential that the proposed 
surface water drainage system is shown to be feasible before works begin to avoid redesign / 
unnecessary delays during construction when site layout is fixed. 
 
Observations: 
Following my previous consultation response FRM/MD/00276/2021, dated 21/04/21, the applicant 
has submitted additional information in relation to the surface water drainage aspects of the above 
planning application, for which I am grateful. 
 

 Flood Risk Assessment, Weavers Way, Sandford, 32002-BPC-ZZ-XX-RP-C-0000 
 
The applicant has proposed a feasible surface water drainage strategy in line with our SuDS for 
Devon Guidance (2017). The strategy comprises two attenuation basins which will provide storage 
of additional runoff, treatment of the runoff as well as biodiversity and amenity benefits. The basins 
have been designed with a freeboard of 300 mm. The basins have been designed to be cascading 
in nature with two flow controls restricting rates to the lowest feasible discharge rate. Furthermore, 
the applicant has proposed cut of trenches along the southern and eastern boundaries. 
 
Natural England – 19th April 2021  
 
Natural England has no comments to make on this application. 

Page 117



AGENDA 72 

 
 
Public Health – 20th April 2021 
Contaminated Land No concerns once constructed, but in view of the close proximity of the 
sewage pumping station and the potential for unforeseen contamination elsewhere on the site we 
would recommend that the 'unexpected contamination' condition is included on any approval. 
13.04.21 
Air Quality No concerns 13.04.21 
Environmental Permitting No objection to this proposal 01.04.21 
Drainage No concerns 13.04.21 
Noise & other nuisances No concerns once constructed although the standard CEMP condition 
should be included on any approval. 13.04.21 
Housing Standards House types C1 and C2 ' the bedrooms are inners rooms with no primary safe 
means of escape in the event of a fire. Recommend that a proper hall is created at the foot of the 
stairs with access directly out of the property as the stairs currently descend directly to the living 
room which is considered to be a high risk area. 9/4/21 
 
Case officer note – please be aware that planning permission is not required for internal changes 
to dwellings. Any matters regards fire would be picked up via building control which is a separate 
matter to planning.  
 
Licensing No comments 06.04.21 
Food Hygiene No comments 01.04.21 
Private Water Supplies If a private supply is to be used by more than one property or has a 
commercial function, The Private Water Supply (England) Regulations 2016 as amended will 
apply. A risk assessment and sampling regime will be necessary. The supply must not be used 
until the Local Authority (Mid Devon District Council) is satisfied that the supply does not constitute 
a potential danger to human health, including single domestic use. 
You must also register with the Local Authority (Mid Devon District Council) any private water 
supply. Failure to do so may result in a Section 85 Notice, with which failure to comply is an 
offence. 
Please contact Public Health at Mid Devon District Council on completion of proposal.  
IF MAINS WATER IS TO BE USED, WOULD HAVE NO COMMENT. 01.04.21 
Health and Safety No comments 01.04.21 
 
Waste Planning Authority – 9th April 2021 
 
I am contacting you in the County Council's role as the Waste Planning Authority with regard to the 
above planning application.  
 
Within the submitted Waste Audit Statement, the applicant has made a good attempt to consider 
the waste issues posed on this development by explaining some of the targets for reuse, recycling, 
and recovery of waste, in particular, the reuse of 50% of the soil and topsoil for on-site landscaping 
which in turn aims to divert waste away from landfill and is in accordance with policy W4 of the 
Devon Waste Plan.  
 
However, the following points need to be addressed in this statement: 
O Explain the method of auditing the waste. This should include a monitoring scheme and 
corrective measures if failure to meet targets occurs ; 
O Predict the amount of waste that will be generated once the development is occupied. (in 
tonnes); and 

Page 118



AGENDA 73 

O Additional information on the reuse, recycling and recovery of waste during the construction 
phase. We acknowledge that, as stated in section 3.5 of this statement, this will be covered by the 
CEMP in due course. 
 
We would expect the information stated above to be provided at this stage of the application. As 
such our preference is for the statement to be updated to include this information.  
Alternatively, if the applicant does not wish to do this at this stage, we request that a condition is 
attached to any consent to require the submission of a more detailed statement in advance of the 
commencement of development.  
 
Devon County Council has published a Waste Management and Infrastructure SPD that provides 
guidance on the production of Waste Audit Statements. This includes a template set out in 
Appendix B, a construction, demolition and excavation waste checklist (page 14) and an 
operational waste checklist (page 17). Following the guidance provided in the SPD will enable the 
applicant to produce a comprehensive waste audit statement that is in accordance with Policy W4: 
Waste Prevention of the Devon Waste Plan. This can be found online at: 
https://www.devon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-policy/supplementary-
planning-document 
 
DCC Education – 12th April 2021  
 
The proposed increase of 13 family-type dwellings, will generate an additional 3.25 primary pupils 
and 1.95 secondary pupils. There is currently capacity at the designated primary school (Sandford) 
and secondary school (QE) for the number of pupils likely to be generated by the proposed 
development. Therefore a contribution towards education infrastructure will not be sought for this 
development. In addition, the development is within statutory walking distance of both schools, 
therefore an education transport contribution will also not be sought. 
 
MDDC Housing Options Manager - 9th April 2021 
 
Please note the current demand for those living or working in the Parish of Sandford 
 

Sandford Housing Needs Requirement Size 

Housing Type 1BH 2BH 3BH 4BH 5BH 

General Needs 0 0 0 0 0 

Step Free 1 0 1 0 0 

Maximum of 3 Steps 1 0 0 0 0 

Wheelchair Accessible 0 0 0 0 0 

Grand Total 2 0 1 0 0 

 
South West Water – 14th April 2021  
 
Please find enclosed a plan showing the approximate location of a public 375mm surface water 
sewer and a public 150mm foul sewer in the vicinity. Please note that no development will be 
permitted within 3 metres of the sewer, and ground cover should not be substantially altered. 
 
Should the development encroach on the 3 metre easement, the sewer will need to be diverted at 
the expense of the applicant.  
 
Further information regarding the options to divert a public sewer can be found on our website: 
 

Page 119

https://www.devon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-policy/supplementary-planning-document
https://www.devon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-policy/supplementary-planning-document


AGENDA 74 

www.southwestwater.co.uk/developer-services/sewer-services-and-connections/diversion-of-
public-sewers/  
 
Clean Potable Water 
South West Water is able to provide clean potable water services from the existing public water 
main for the above proposal. The practical point of connection will be determined by the diameter 
of the connecting pipework being no larger than the diameter of the company's existing network. 
 
Foul Sewerage Services 
South West Water is able to provide foul sewerage services from the existing public foul or 
combined sewer in the vicinity of the site. The practical point of connection will be determined by 
the diameter of the connecting pipework being no larger than the diameter of the company's 
existing network. 
 
The applicant can apply to South West Water for clarification of the point of connection for either 
clean potable water services and/or foul sewerage services. For more information and to download 
the application form, please visit our website: 
 
www.southwestwater.co.uk/developers  
 
Surface Water Services 
The applicant should demonstrate to your LPA that its prospective surface run-off will discharge as 
high up the hierarchy of drainage options as is reasonably practicable (with evidence that the Run-
off Destination Hierarchy has been addressed, and reasoning as to why any preferred disposal 
route is not reasonably practicable):  
 
1. Discharge into the ground (infiltration); or where not reasonably practicable, 
2. Discharge to a surface waterbody; or where not reasonably practicable, 
3. Discharge to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system; or where not 
reasonably practicable, 
4. Discharge to a combined sewer. (Subject to Sewerage Undertaker carrying out capacity 
evaluation) 
 
Having reviewed the applicant's current information as to proposed surface water disposal for its 
development, please note that method proposed to discharge into the ground (infiltration) is 
acceptable and meets with the Run-off Destination Hierarchy.  
 
I trust this provides confirmation of our requirements, however should you have any questions or 
queries, please contact the Planning Team on 01392 442836 or via email: 
DeveloperServicesPlanning@southwestwater.co.uk. 
 
Conservation Officer – 28th April 2021 
 
I cannot agree that the location of Plot 8 is mitigated by a bungalow and existing/enhanced  tree 
planting and I wish it to be noted I maintain my objection to Plot 8 which is harmful to the setting of 
the listed building and the edge of the Conservation Area.  
 
The historic orientation of Park House its main entrance and principle south elevation and the 
openness of wide views across the valley to the south and east with Parkland appearance are a 
significant part of its setting. The bungalow set within a few metres of the boundary and in front of 
the building line of the south /east elevation would be harmful to the openness of views and to this 
established character. The Plot 8 can be easily accommodated in the land to the opposite side of 
the new access road and would remove this harm. I ask that you reconsider this opinion.  In 

Page 120



AGENDA 75 

addition its looks awkward and offers a poor end stop in the Street Scene images which only adds 
to the harm to the setting of the Listed Building (see Historic England advice GPA3) and this  poor 
design compromise of a bungalow  accentuates its poor siting.  
 
The applicant has indicated they have followed Historic England Advice GPA3 • Steps 1: identify 
which heritage assets and their settings are affected. 
• Step 2: assess the degree to which these settings make a contribution to the significance of the 
heritage asset(s) or allow the significance to be appreciated. 
• Step 3: assess the effects of the proposed development, whether beneficial or harmful, on that 
significance or on the ability to appreciate it. 
• Step 4: explore ways to maximise enhancement and avoid or minimise harm. 
 
The applicants Heritage Statement has not undertaken Step 2 and only in a final comment in its 
justification section does it refer to the south elevation. It offers no understanding of the setting and 
significance of the South elevation with the main entrance to this principle elevation or the 
significant views to the south and east from this entrance to the house. Or the importance of to this 
orientation to the south and east with the continuation of the Ha Ha feature across the lower part of 
the application site across from Park House gardens. There is no mention of how this setting 
makes a contribution to the significance of Park House and that this needs to be protected under 
NPPF 193 'Great Weight should be given to the assets conservation' and 194 Any Harm to or loss 
of the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alterations or destruction or from 
development within its setting) should require clear and convincing justification.  
 
The rest of the Heritage Statement is weak and does to address the required GPA 3 Steps or 
provide understating of the setting and its significance. The Heritage Statement is a simple 
exercise in supporting an already conceived layout and the poor siting of Plot 8 with a poor 
designed bungalow.   
 
Extracts from the Heritage Statement 
6.27 The image below is an aerial photograph from 2020 and the dwellings circled red are situated 
at the western end of the Creedy View development. Immediately to the south is Park House. As 
will be observed on site, the flank elevations of two story properties were allowed to immediately 
about the rear boundary of this grade II listed building. This arrangement has enclosed Park 
House on its very open northern boundary and, in our view, has had far more impact on the setting 
of Park House than the proposals which are being considered here.  
 
This sentence comes without assessment or apparent understanding of significance and setting, 
orientation and status of the respective elevations. The north elevation with outbuildings is clearly 
the least significant elevation and orientation and has far less impact on significance to the setting 
of Park House than this current proposal that harms directly the principle and most significant 
south elevation and its setting and views to the south and east.  
 
The Heritage Statement continues 
6.30 Furthermore, due to the presence of the “ha ha” feature to the south of plot 8, a revised open 
space arrangement that left a ‘corridor’ running north/south alongside the boundary with Park 
House would not provide useable space or an accessible route due to the significant change in 
ground levels in this location. Therefore, the inclusion of open space in the north western corner of 
the site with access from the Creedy View development to the Weaver’s Way scheme, with a 
bungalow sited to the south of this open space area strikes the most appropriate balance in this 
location. The overall solution proposed provides better permeability through the new development 
whilst offering an appropriate solution to heritage issues.  
 

Page 121



AGENDA 76 

I walked the site again yesterday the level changes are relatively consistent across the site and the 
Ha Ha that runs below he site is part of the  original grounds and formal setting of Park House that 
enables the open views to the south and east of the House. This open aspect to South and East 
provides and supports its status - and is a  significant part of its setting that are harmed by the 
inclusion of a poor design bungalow as proposed.  
 
6.32 Finally, we would suggest that development to the east of Park House is entirely appropriate 
given the orientation of the main facades of the listed building are to the north and south. (Not 
North - South and East) - but I agree with the comment 'The southern aspect of the property 
provides the most dramatic outlook and there is clearly a tangible setting to this elevation.' They 
have indicated this at the end this should form part of Step 2 the assessment of significance.  
 
The Heritage Statement is poor and does not provide the required understating of Significance of 
Park House or its setting and does not therefore enable a proper understanding of the proposal 
and the harm to the setting. It is not fit for purpose, does not follow the Steps in GPA 3 and does 
not provide a justification for Plot 8 bungalow.  
 
For these reasons I maintain my strong objection to Plot 8 in this location and this should be 
relocated or refused. 
 
On a design matter while the Small terrace Type C need to consider enclosed porch as per nearby 
development at Newton St Cyres (see phot attached) as this would enhance a currently very 
ordinary small dwelling type and help to define and ground the small dwelling.  
 
The stone quality and coursing is important and should follow local traditions - we can condition 
this. 
 
Similarly the Render should not be the smooth finish which collects dirt and often weathers poorly 
and I would suggest alternatives either a roughcast render giving a texture to the render or painted 
brickwork again offering a texture. 
 
Conservation Officer – 9th August 2021 
 
I walked the site and have read the additional Heritage Statement.  
 
The historic Tithe mapping 1840 and the 1st edition OS mapping from 1880's show that the 
footpath route appears to have been diverted to run along a ha ha feature between these dates. 
This ha ha has a dry stone Devon bank to the north edge and this extends about 50 m into the 
adjoining field (the site)  the other change during this mid-19th century was the introduction of a 
Lodge house replacing a former barn to the entrance off the lane due west of the front of Park 
House.  This formalises this eastward progression of the carriage way from the property access to 
the House entrance in front of the porch. This progression is the approach to the house and 
predisposes a direct East view from the Lodge to the house and beyond as you approach the 
house and its central door way and porch.  
 
In addition the ha ha feature enabled and reinforced the planned view from the front of house both 
south and southeast toward the Creedy Park parkland rising to the south beyond the valley.  
 
In my view this direct formalising to the approach from west to east, the extension of the ha ha 
walled bank at least 50 m beyond the immediate garden area to the adjoining land to the east and 
the views to south and south east from the house reinforces the significance of the adjoining land 
especially this immediate 50 m or so of this adjoining field as part of the planned landscape and 

Page 122



AGENDA 77 

formal setting of Park House. I therefore do not accept the view expressed in the Heritage 
Statement 
 
'The extension of the ha ha due east into what was pasture at the time of its creation is an 
accident of land levels' 
 
I therefore retain my strong objection to the siting of any dwelling in this location to the north of the 
ha ha bank where the current bungalow is proposed being harmful to the understanding and 
experience of the formal setting of grade II listed Park House.  
 
As previously indicated the proposed dwelling in this location can be re-sited to the north and this 
land bounded by the Park House boundary to the west and the additional section of ha ha walled 
bank to the south should form the open space for the development. 
 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 
28 letters of representation were received, 27 of which were objection and the other was one of a 
general comment and a petition with 99 names addresses and signatures of residents of Sandford 
Village opposing the development was received. The grounds of objection are summarised as 
follows: 
 

 1 or 2 bed housing would help younger residents move out from home and get on the property 
ladder (especially affordable housing). This is important to create a vibrant community with a 
mix of people. However if smaller houses were to come forward, we may need to accept more 
than 8 properties being built. 

 The development could have an impact on wildlife. 

 Total number of houses do not match the remaining 8 allocated for MDDC within site SA1.  

 13 dwellings represents a 62% increase on Policy SA1. This over allocation is unjustifiable 
taking into account the Local Plan Policy S13 Rural Areas, which covers Sandford Parish. 

 There was no community involvement prior to this application being submitted that indicated 
the site would be over developed beyond its current agreement. 

 Plot 7 is of particular contention due to loss of light and excessive shadowing with further 
concern raised when trying to assess the impact through site drawings provided. 

 Site section Dwg 1445/P201 revB section A-A has been taken through Creedy View No.3, not 
No.2 which is the house more directly adjacent to the proposal but more importantly is on a 
lower elevation. Drawings do not demonstrate the impact of light and shadowing, which we 
would expect to be provided with given the close proximity.  

 The site does not meet NPPF sustainability criteria, specifically local amenities, infrastructure 
and employment. The developer acknowledging the new residents will likely commute via car 
further adding to traffic issues associated with school drop-off and pickup, combined with a 
restricted visibility T junction between Fanny's Lane and Church Street.  

 The site clearly cannot accommodate additional housing and the proposals do not respect the 
locally distinct character of the village, as this is not an urban site. 

 The approved development of over 250 houses at Creedy Bridge provides scope for a huge 
number of improvements to the areas social fabric and has a suitable wider road network. 
Therefore this development is not justified. 

 With respect to Traffic and Accidents and the National Planning Policy Framework Section 9. 
Promoting sustainable transport, the application does not have a sufficient response and 
should be refused. 

 The application submitted does not identify the significant impacts or mitigate increase in traffic 
on Fannys Lane and subsequent danger to pedestrians and cyclists, particularly children 
accessing the school. 

Page 123



AGENDA 78 

 It builds on a large part of the only green open space in the upper part of the village.  

 There are questions about sewage disposal which have not been satisfactorily answered.  

 Hard surfaces will surely increase the amount of run-off in heavy rain, reducing the capacity of 
the field to absorb water which seems very likely to result in problems for the residents of 
properties below the field on Meadowside Road. 

 The footpath from Meadowside up past the village hall towards the school has been used for 
generations. Diverting it seems wrong.  

 There doesn't seem to be sufficient provision for affordable housing.  

 Bio-diversity will be further reduced through the loss of habitat, including protected species. 

 The development makes a gesture to the environment and sustainability by specifying air 
source heat pumps but we shouldn't be considering new build properties that are not equipped 
with solar panels particularly given the orientation of this site. 

 The proposed development pushes green space to the edges and may not be open to all. 

 Any development should include green space as a central corridor through the development 
linking Creedy View and the footpath at the bottom of the field.  

 Although privately owned because it has not been farmed over the years the field has become 
an informal village space and a vital amenity for health and well-being. Most roads are simply 
too dangerous to walk along safely due to the absence of pavements and footways.  

 There is a need for additional housing in the village but more thought needs to be given to 
location, density, affordability, and environmental sustainability. 

 My back gate is a few metres from this site and I use this space 2 or 3 times a day to walk and 
enjoy a very special view of the Creedy Valley and the Raddon Hills. There is no other public 
space to enjoy this elevated view in Sandford.  

 Fanny's Lane is a single track lane already heavily congested, the east end of which ends in a 
very steep, sharp and narrow junction. The route up Rose and Crown hill is under even more 
pressure, and is regularly jammed /closed due to traffic congestion and incidents at the tight 
corner with Sandford Square.  

 This site is 2.5 miles from Crediton town centre, and station, and has very limited bus service.  

 The houses should be adhering to a much higher standard of low carbon impact. 

 Can the council please insist paths are not concreted but permeable, and that they are not lit 
up? Light pollution in the UK is a growing threat to the health and well-being of people and 
wildlife. 

 This proposal has been presented to the community at a time when so many restrictions are 
still in place, thus limiting the chances of community meetings.  

 There are families, with children at the primary school, have given their time to community 
groups such as cubs, scouts and the school. They have had to move into Crediton to find a 
suitable and affordable home for their family. These are the people Sandford should be 
retaining within the village.  

 This field provides an important, safe and accessible space for residents of Sandford village 
and provides an alternative green space to the Sandford Millennium Green which is at the 
bottom of a very steep hill.  

 Rather than in-filling the green spaces it would be much more beneficial to the future of the 
village if this was retained as a green area for residents to use.  

 With the village hall beside it, the potential to relocate the village stores to this area and car 
parking, this area could be a central hub to welcome residents and visitors. 

 The building process would involve heavy plant and transport coming in and out of the small 
lanes within the village. Recently there have been a number of accidents/incidents involving 
lorries and large vehicles within the village.  

 The plans for sewerage are woefully inadequate. Raw sewage has surfaced near to the 
children's playground due to the inadequacies of the current sewerage system. 

Page 124



AGENDA 79 

 There will be an increase in traffic and the application does not give priority to cycle 
movements or identify the additional risks to school children accessing Fannys lane. 

 The Application does not address the needs of people with limited mobility. 

 The application is not minimising the scope for conflicts between vehicles, cyclists and 
pedestrians accessing Fannys lane or Sandford Village. 

 The developers submitted Transport Statement (Revision B) statistics do not correspond with 
the reality of recent collision data. 

 The proposal should be refused due to this increase in risk to our communities' young children. 

 The junction of Fannys Lane onto church street is blind so represents a highway danger.  

 In terms of Drainage and Flood Risk, the development is at odds with the NPPF. 

 The Developer has produced the Appendices regarding drainage which is widely ambiguous 
and unclear. This is unacceptable for a major scheme and should be refused. 

 A geological fault is mapped to cross the site. Although no evidence of this was observed in 
this investigation, geological faults can result in abrupt changes in ground conditions, locally 
weaker ground conditions and/ or near surface groundwater. Should any of these be 
encountered during foundation construction, the foundation recommendations provided below 
may need to be revised. The application therefore contravenes the above NPPF. 

 Grade II Listed Park House Lodge and conservation area is immediately adjacent to the site. 
Mid Devon District Council states that Design standards will be higher where planning 
permission is required, Conservation areas are areas with a special character or quality which 
should be preserved or enhanced. 

 The Developers design statement contravenes local planning policy guidelines by proposing 
build materials that are alien and give no respect to the locally distinct architecture. Use of 
Metal sheet roofs and timber cladding are alien to the locally distinct character of the village 
and are not in keeping of Sandford's historic environment and show no respect of the visual 
historic architectural characteristics of the village 

 The development will have a hugely adverse impact on the character of the neighbourhood 
and on the residential amenity of neighbours. This includes loss of daylight and an increase in 
light pollution at night. The application housing layout, including construction heights, mass 
and density shows no respect to privacy of surrounding properties and therefore in line with 
Planning Policy Framework guidelines, should be refused. 

 The bulk and massing of areas of the development due to the close proximity to existing 
established 'in keeping' buildings is over-bearing, out of scale and out of character in 
appearance compared to the existing surrounding developments. 

 A higher standard of development is expected where it affects the setting of a listed building in 
this case Park House. The Mid Devon District Council are under a legal duty to have particular 
regard to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance of a 
Conservation Area. Similarly, a development which would adversely affect the setting of a 
Listed Building should be refused. 

 I wish to remind the Planning authority that the South Eastern section of the proposal indicated 
as the area for flood water surface ponds is not within the designated SA1 plot.  

 Rural areas are expected to accommodate 10% of housing for Mid Devon - I feel Sandford has 
already played its part; additional developments are not necessary. 

 Concerned about the plan for the 2 basins for surface water which are sited at the bottom of a 
slope very close to the fence line of many properties on Meadowside Road. Has the impact of 
storing water in the 2 basins been fully considered in relation to the foundations of the 
Meadowside Road properties which are all built into the hill to some extent - for example, is 
there an increased risk of soil slippage/subsidence to these existing properties as a result of 
the proposed development? 

 The bridge at the bottom of the village, by Mill Lane, is not able to cope with a steady stream of 
heavy construction vehicles. 

Page 125



AGENDA 80 

 Where will household drains be routed? 

 I am concerned about the extra strain on the sewage facility located nearby. This often 
appears to be under pressure due to the red light that appears as part of the sewage system 
which I have witnessed on many occasions as I walk past. 

 There is no provision for self build homes as promoted by central government 

 I understood that a quarter of the land would be gifted to the village by means of the existing 
Millennium Green group which exists to preserve open space and wildlife habitats. This is not 
apparently happening according to the plans I have seen, except for one small corner adjacent 
to Snows.  

 This development would seem to be motivated by the capitalisation of building on this open 
natural space and does not heed any of the needs of our community. 

 The requirements for additional housing to be built, as driven by Central government targets 
and not local need, could be met by the smaller and more suitable developments already in the 
pipeline and has already been over-subscribed in the MDDC area by an average of 39% in the 
past 3 yrs. 

 If this application is to be considered at all it should meet agricultural and other rural business 
needs, and it should encourage appropriate economic diversification to support the rural 
economy and provide employment for local people in a sustainable way. There is no provision 
for any employment to support an increase in population so this application should be refused.  

 If this application is to be considered there should be sufficient infrastructure provided to meet 
the needs of the economy and people brought in to the area concurrent with the construction 
of housing. Existing Doctors' surgeries are at full capacity, so it must be ascertained with 
health professionals whether there can be sufficient health capacity to meet increased patient 
demand and if not, the application should be refused. 

 The development is contrary to numerous policies in the Mid Devon Local Plan. 

 As the application with the proposed buildings does not look similar to the adjacent Creedy 
View development it should be refused.  

 The children’s play area built from the first phase will not be large enough to accommodate the 
children resulting from this development. 

 Additional water run-off from site will damage foundations of neighbouring property.  

 The development should be accessed from Brady Close. 
 
An objection was received from the CPRE on the following grounds: 

 Proposal and design evolution unsupported by requisite assessments such as a Landscape 
and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) 

 Outstanding comments remain to be answered such as to drainage and heritage matters 

 Failure to justify increased scale/type of development (quantum) 

 Poor quality place making with the development not considered against the National Design 
Guide 

 Failure to quantify the biodiversity net gains resulting from this proposal 

 Community Engagement as the development has resulted in significant objection 

 What are the economic, social and environmental net gains of this development for the 
community of Sandford to justify the intensification of built form in this important historic setting 

 

MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS AND OBSERVATIONS 

 
The main issues in the determination of this application are: 
 
1. Principle of development/planning policy 
2. Highways and highway safety 
3. Drainage and Flood Risk 

Page 126



AGENDA 81 

4.  Public open space and green infrastructure (GI) 
5. Design of development and impact on landscape and ecology 
6. Impact on Heritage Assets 
7. Living conditions of the occupiers of nearby residential properties 
8. S106 Obligations and local finance considerations 
9. Sustainable development balance. 
 
1. Principle of development/planning policy 
 
S.38[6] of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that applications for planning 
permission must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The National Planning Policy Framework is noted as one such 
material consideration. The National Planning Policy Framework outlines three dependant 
objectives of sustainable development; economic, social and environmental.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) outlines that development should be guided 
towards the most sustainable locations available, including previously developed or underused 
land in settlements. The Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 was adopted in 2020 and sets out the 
growth strategy for the District that seeks to balance social, environmental and economic 
objectives. Policy S1 states that development will be concentrated at Tiverton, Cullompton, and 
Crediton. Policy S13 (Villages) which recognises Sandford states that development will be limited 
to proposals within their defined settlement limits and to allocations for:  
a) Small scale housing, employment, tourism and leisure;  
b) Services and facilities serving the locality; and  
c) Other limited development which enhances community vitality or meets a local social or 
economic need. 
 
The site is located within the settlement boundary of Sandford where small scale residential 
proposals could be considered acceptable in principle in accordance with policy S13 subject to the 
development being designed to meet other adopted policy. The site is outlined as an allocated 
housing site within the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 under Policy SA1 - Fanny’s Lane, 
Sandford. This policy states: 
 
A site of 1.5 hectares at Fanny’s Lane, Sandford is allocated for residential development, subject 
to the following:  
a) 27 dwellings with 30% affordable housing;  
b) Buffer strip of planting or open space to protect the setting of the listed Park House and 
Sandford Conservation area; and  
c) Careful design and landscaping to protect views towards Sandford and the historic core around 
St Swithun’s Church. 
 
It is noted that the above policy is based on providing 27 dwellings across the site whereas this 
development would represent a second phase of development with planning permission already 
being implemented on part of the site for 19 dwellings. Planning Permission 13/00498/MFUL 
approved a mixed development of 12 open market houses and 7 affordable eco-houses; new 
access and estate road; additional car parking facilities for the Village Hall; closure of the existing 
Parish Hall Car Park entrance; provision of a children's play area for the Parish Hall; highway 
improvements to Fanny's Lane; footpath link to Snows and Meadowside Road; retention and 
renovation and use for car parking (Revised Scheme) on part of the allocated site. 
 
Therefore based on the policy wording, this would mean that a development of 8 dwellings would 
still be possible. However, the proposal is for 13 dwellings. Having consulted with the Forward 
Planning Team, this figure of 27 dwellings would not prevent a residential development of an 

Page 127



AGENDA 82 

increased number of dwellings being considered and accepted, as the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) seeks to make the most efficient use of land with the assessment to be made 
as to whether the layout and density of the residential development is appropriate and fits into the 
context of the site and surrounding area.  
 
With respect to other relevant policies within the saved Development Plan, Policy S1 (Sustainable 
development priorities) of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 seeks to manage growth in a 
sustainable way to support the diverse needs of communities, including the provision of affordable 
housing and making the most efficient use of land. Policy S3 (Meeting housing needs) seeks to 
meet the diverse housing needs of the community, including the provision of affordable dwellings 
across the District.  
 
The layout plan submitted shows how the layout for the residential development of 13 dwellings 
would be achieved which has been considered to be acceptable and below the planning matters of 
the development are considered further. 
 
2. Highways and highway safety 
 
Policy DM1 of the Mid Devon Local Plan states that new development should be safe and 
accessible based upon and demonstrating the principle of creation of safe and accessible places 
that also encourage and enable sustainable modes of travel such as walking and cycling. Policy 
DM5 states that sufficient vehicle parking and bicycle storage must be provided. In addition to 
these policies, any proposal must not adversely affect the safe functioning of the highway in line 
with policies S8 (Infrastructure) and DM3 (Transport and air quality) of the Mid Devon Local Plan 
2013-2033.  
 
The main access into the site would be via the adopted highway of Creedy View and would appear 
to be acceptable in principle, subject to meeting the required width and alignment and visibility 
splays where the new estate road joins the adopted highway. With regard to the required on-site 
parking provision, it is noted that the current layout identifies 2 spaces per residential unit which 
would be in accordance with Policy DM5 where by the residential parking standard is 1.7 spaces 
per unit. The Local Highway Authority has raised no objections to the proposals recommending a 
number of conditions such as a Construction Environment Management Plan which have been 
included in the officer recommendation. 
 
Notwithstanding concerns raised by objectors to the number of dwellings proposed and associated 
traffic levels travelling across the surrounding road network, on balance, given that the Local 
Highway Authority have not raised an objection to the proposal on highway safety grounds with the 
site being allocated for residential development, the development is considered to comply with the 
above policies of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033. 
 
3. Drainage and flood risk 
 
The NPPF states that when determining any planning applications, local planning authorities 
should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Where appropriate, applications should 
be supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment. Major developments should incorporate 
sustainable drainage systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. The 
systems used should take account of advice from the lead local flood authority, have appropriate 
proposed minimum operational standards, have maintenance arrangements in place to ensure an 
acceptable standard of operation for the lifetime of the development; and where possible, provide 
multifunctional benefits. 
 

Page 128



AGENDA 83 

Policy S9 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 guides development to locations with the lowest 
flood risk and seeks to ensure development does not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. The 
application site is within flood zone 1. Therefore the main consideration relates to how foul 
drainage and surface water drainage would be dealt with.  
 
The applicant has stated within the application form that foul sewage will connect to the mains 
sewer and surface water will be disposed of by way of a sustainable drainage system. The Public 
Health Department has raised no objection on drainage grounds. Policy DM1 of the Local Plan 
requires appropriate drainage including sustainable drainage systems and connection of foul 
drainage to a mains sewer where available. Policy DM26 of the Local Plan relating to green 
infrastructure requires major development proposals to demonstrate flood and water resource 
management. 
 
The Lead Local Flood Authority (Devon County Council) initially raised objections to the 
development as it did not consider that the drainage issues at the site and in relation to the 
proposed development had been adequately addressed. Concerns have been received over the 
capacity of the foul drainage system but South West Water has raised no objection to the 
development. The applicant has carried out further assessment work and provided further 
information to the Lead Local Flood Authority during the course of the application, to address their 
concerns relating to surface water drainage. The LLFA are now satisfied that with the provision of 
conditions attached to the planning permission, the development site can be provided with 
adequate drainage facilities such that it would not increase the flood risk elsewhere.  
 
Given the location of the proposed SUDs drainage basins on a higher ground level to existing 
neighbouring properties to the south along Meadowside Road, concerns were raised by residents 
that given the position of the works proposed and the significant drop in land (a few metres), 
depending on the materials used it could result in significant flooding of their properties. The Flood 
Risk Team at Devon County Council were therefore consulted to provide additional information on 
this matter. The comments received were ‘The basins are designed with a 300 mm freeboard and 
there are cut off trenches proposed along the southern and eastern boundaries of the site to 
manage any potential overtopping of the basin (although we really wouldn’t expect there to be any 
considering the conservative nature of the design standard).’ Notwithstanding the views of the 
Flood Risk Team, a condition has been recommended for the final construction details of the 
basins to be approved by the LPA in order to provide further assurances for neighbouring 
residents over the stability of the works. 
 
On this basis, the drainage strategy is considered to comply with policies S9, DM1 and DM26 of 
the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033. 
 
4. Public open space and green infrastructure (GI) 
 
Public open space is required from the development in line with Policy S5 (Public Open Space). 
Within the parish boundaries of Tiverton, Cullompton and Crediton and the parishes containing 
villages defined in Policy S13 which Sandford would apply, the following standards for the 
provision of high quality open space will be applied: 
 

Type of open space  Quantity standard 
(square metres per 
dwelling)  

Access standard  

Allotments  6  300 metres or 6-7 
minutes’ walk time  

Page 129



AGENDA 84 

Amenity green space  23.5  300 metres or 6-7 
minutes’ walk time  

Parks, sport and 
recreation grounds  

35 include both public 
and private grounds 
(excluding education 
sites)  

600 metres or 12-13 
minutes’  
walk time  

Play space (children)  1.5  300 metres or 6-7 
minutes’ walk time  

Youth space 
(teenagers)  

0.5  600 metres or 12-13 
minutes’  
walk time  

 
Given the proposed number of dwellings, the policy requirement would allow for an off site 
financial contribution towards the provision or improvement of existing public open space in the 
village. However, within the planning submission, it is noted that the application site has a redline 
area of 1.43Ha, with the statement made that over half of this (0.78ha) is being provided as high 
quality public open space (POS). In addition to this, that the POS shown along the southern 
boundary is to be gifted to the ‘Sanford Millennium Green Trust’ by the family who currently own 
the site, and this land can be incorporated as part of the open space offer with this development. 
 
As commented upon within the supporting text, the balance of onsite and offsite provision 
according to site size is set out in the policy, but the Council will consider on a case-by-case basis 
any proposals that seek to justify a different solution. A planning obligation would be used to 
control the long-term maintenance of onsite open space through a management company. 
 
In line with ‘The Provision and Funding of Open Space Through Development’ SPD, having taken 
into account the usable public open space to be provided within the development, it has been 
calculated that a financial contribution of £5768 towards public open space provision in the Parish 
of Sandford in line with the requirements of Policy S5 (Public Open Space) is required. This figure 
takes into account the public open space to be provided on site which has been subtracted from 
the off site financial contribution. The project which has been allocated for Improvements to Play 
Area including new adult exercise equipment at Sandford Play Area in Sandford. In addition to the 
provision of public open space on site and the off site financial contribution it should also be noted 
that the first phase of the development approved under 13/00498/MFUL provided a children’s play 
area by the village hall. 
 
Policy DM26 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 requires major development proposals to 
demonstrate that GI will be incorporated within the site to provide biodiversity mitigation, flood 
management, green corridors and public rights of way linking the site to the wider GI network, and 
new GI such as the creation of woodland. The NPPF states that planning decisions should protect 
and enhance public rights of way and access, including taking opportunities to provide better 
facilities for users. The submitted layout plan indicates the areas of Green Infrastructure in and 
around the site and therefore it is considered that the policy requirement can be satisfied. 
 
5. Design of development and impact on landscape and ecology 
 
The NPPF states that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological 
value and soils, recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the wider 
benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services. Development should minimise impacts on 
and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks. If 
significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through locating 

Page 130



AGENDA 85 

on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, 
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused. Planning decisions should seek to 
limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes 
and nature conservation. 
 
The site is not located within a designated landscape although given the topography of the site 
where land falls from north to south, the development will be viewed from a number of public 
vantage points. Policy DM1 (High quality design) outlines: 
 
Designs of new development must be of high quality, based upon and demonstrating the following 
principles:  
a) Clear understanding of the characteristics of the site, its wider context and the surrounding 
area;  
b) Efficient and effective use of the site, having regard to criterion (a);  
c) Positive contribution to local character including any heritage or biodiversity assets and the 
setting of heritage assets;  
d) Creation of safe and accessible places that also encourage and enable sustainable modes of 
travel such as walking and cycling;  
e) Visually attractive places that are well integrated with surrounding buildings, streets and 
landscapes, and do not have an unacceptably adverse effect on the privacy and amenity of the 
proposed or neighbouring properties and uses, taking account of:  
i) Architecture  
ii) Siting, layout, scale and massing  
iii) Orientation and fenestration  
iv) Materials, landscaping and green infrastructure  
f) Appropriate drainage including sustainable drainage systems (SUDS), including arrangements 
for future maintenance, and connection of foul drainage to a mains sewer where available;  
g) Adequate levels of daylight, sunlight and privacy to private amenity spaces and principal 
windows;  
h) Suitably sized rooms and overall floorspace which allows for adequate storage and movement 
within the building together as set out in the Nationally Described Space Standard with external 
spaces for recycling, refuse and cycle storage; and  
i) On sites of 10 houses of more the provision of 20% of dwellings built to Level 2 of Building 
Regulations Part M ‘access to and use of dwellings’.  
 
In terms of the layout and scale of the development which includes two bungalows with the rest of 
the properties proposed being two storey, it is considered that this is generally acceptable in 
principle. The scheme is for 13 dwellings which represents a net increase of 5 dwellings above the 
policy target but the proposal results in a good fit and a better density across the site, which is not 
considered to represent overdevelopment. In terms of the dwellings, final details for materials are 
to be conditioned with the Conservation Officer suggesting types of render or painted brick to be 
used for walls and also to the use of stone within the development.  
 
The Design and Access Statement states that windows for the dwellings have been designed to resemble 

Georgian windows proportions, found in the centre of the village but seeks to achieve more 
contemporary look to it by utilising delicate windows frames in dark colour. Roofs are to be clad in 
two contrasting materials, slate and standing seam metal roof, which would creating a varied 
roofscape. I note that concerns have been raised to the use of metal roof material but in the 
context of the site, it is not considered that the use of this material would warrant a refusal of the 
planning application. The general design of the dwellings and orientation are considered to be 
acceptable and they meet the nationally described space standard. 
 

Page 131



AGENDA 86 

In relation to the wider landscape, adjacent housing, vegetation and rural landscape, there is the 
need to reduce any impact of any lighting or light pollution on that landscape, as the introduction of 
development in this area will have an effect on the landscape and views. A condition is therefore 
recommended to agree the external lighting of the site. Retention of hedgerows and other natural 
landscape assets on site would help to provide some screening of the development and ground 
the proposal in its setting, whilst protecting habitats and offer valuable natural amenity within the 
development. Members are advised that the landscape impacts of a development on this site 
would have been considered prior to allocating the site within the Local Plan and in any event, 
mitigation proposals in terms of landscaping form part of this application. 
 
With regards to protected species and habitats an ecological appraisal was submitted which 
outlined a number of recommendations and mitigation measures to ensure protected species were 
safeguarded. In addition to this, biodiversity enhancements for bat roosting and bird nesting were 
outlined to result in biodiversity gains, and it is noted that landscaping is proposed across the site. 
A condition is therefore recommended for the development to be carried out in accordance with 
the recommendations within the ecological appraisal and for confirmation of the biodiversity 
enhancement measures installed throughout the development to be provided prior to occupation of 
the dwellings. 
 
Therefore in light of the above, it is considered that the design, landscape and ecology proposals 
are capable of complying with policies DM1 and S9 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 and 
the provisions of the NPPF. 
 
6. Living conditions of the occupiers of nearby residential properties 
 
Paragraph 130 of the NPPF outlines that planning policies and decisions should ensure that 
developments:  
 
a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but over 
the lifetime of the development;  
 
b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective 
landscaping;  
 
c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built environment and 
landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate innovation or change (such as 
increased densities);  
 
d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets, spaces, building 
types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit;  
 
e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate amount and mix of 
development (including green and other public space) and support local facilities and transport 
networks; and  
 
f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, 
with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and 
the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.  
 
This is reflected in policy DM1 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 - 2033 which sets out that new 
development should respect the privacy and amenity of neighbouring residents. The siting of the 
dwellings and orientation of windows is such that it is considered that a residential development 
has been designed to be in accordance with this policy, with adequate separation between the 

Page 132



AGENDA 87 

proposed dwellings and existing neighbouring properties. Cross section plans have been provided 
which outline that plot 7 will have a finished floor level approximately 2m lower to the existing 
neighbouring properties along Creedy View and the orientation is such that plot 7 will be side on to 
the rear of the existing neighbouring properties with adequate separation to prevent any 
overbearing impact or overshadowing. 
 
A condition has been recommended to remove permitted development rights on the dwellings 
closest to the properties of Creedy View and also to the bungalow on plot 8 given the proximity to 
the Conservation Area and a listed building, which could be impacted upon through certain 
additions to the units which could be possible through permitted development rights. 
 
7. Impact on Heritage Assets 
 
To the west of the site is Park House (a listed building) and its grounds which is also within the 
Conservation Area. In coming to this decision the council must be mindful of the duty as set out in 
section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the listed building, its setting and features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses and the duty as set out in section 66 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the listed building, its setting and features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses, and have given it considerable importance and weight in the 
planning balance.  
 
Policy DM25 (Development affecting heritage assets) of the Local Plan Review outlines that 
Heritage assets and their settings are an irreplaceable resource. Accordingly the Council will:  
 
‘a) Apply a presumption in favour of preserving or enhancing all designated heritage assets and 
their settings;  
b) Require development proposals likely to affect the significance of heritage assets, including new 
buildings, alterations, extensions, changes of use and demolitions, to consider their significance, 
character, setting (including views to or from), appearance, design, layout and local 
distinctiveness, and the opportunities to enhance them;  
c) Only approve proposals that would lead to substantial harm or total loss of significance of a 
designated heritage asset where it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss is 
necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss or the 
requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework are met;  
d) Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the 
proposal, including securing its optimum viable use; and  
e) Require developers to make a proportionate but systematic assessment of any impact on the 
setting and thereby the significance of heritage asset(s).’ 
 
The Conservation Officer has viewed the proposals and visited the site noting that it's an informal 
open space which has public footpaths running across well used and which also acts as a soft foil 
to edge of Conservation Area. The Conservation Officer does not object to the majority of the 
proposed layout which leaves paths and edge of open space but has raised concern to the setting 
the Park House LB and plot 8 as this in his opinion projects out in front of the building line of the 
listed building and is likely to be visible as the Listed Building is approached. Therefore the 
solution put forward is to relocate plot 8 to the north and keep the edge as buffer zone POS with 
pathway. 
 
A Heritage Statement was submitted as part of this application and the Heritage Consultant is of a 
differing professional opinion to the Council’s Conservation Officer. As the Case Officer, and 

Page 133



AGENDA 88 

having been on site and noting the existing vegetation along the boundary with the neighbouring 
listed building and that plot 8 would be a bungalow, it is considered that notwithstanding the views 
of the Conservation Officer the location would be acceptable on balance as the public open space 
to the north of plot 8 is preferable to a building plot location in order to prevent long alleyways to 
the existing footpath, and this open space is an integral part of the layout design. 
 
Through assessing the development, it is considered that the level of harm in this instance would 
be less than substantial and the benefits of the development would outweigh this harm given the 
delivery of affordable housing, on site pubic open space and financial contributions towards air 
quality mitigation and off site public open space. Also to preference for the location of the public 
open space, pedestrian linkages across the site, the difference in ground levels and existing 
established tree screen along the boundary. 
 
8. Section 106 obligations 
 
The s106 requirements are set out in full at the start of this report. 
 
Policies S12 (Crediton) and CRE11 (Crediton Infrastructure) outlines the requirements for the 
provision of an off-site financial contribution towards funding improvements which seek to address 
air quality within the Crediton Air Quality Management Area. The Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) sets out the relevant contributions levels arising from new residential 
development as is the case with this proposal. In accordance with these policies and the relevant 
guidance in the supporting SPD on the provision and funding of Air Quality mitigation, a financial 
contribution of £ 4,434.00 would be required for each new unrestricted residential unit created. 
Therefore a financial contribution of £44,340 is required towards funding improvements which seek 
to address air quality within the Crediton Air Quality Management Area in line with adopted policy. 
A project has been allocated for provision and improvement of footpath and cycle links into and 
within the designated Air Quality Management Area. 
 
As noted earlier in the report, on site public open space is to be provided and details of 
Management Company to maintain the public open space in perpetuity will be required within the 
S106 agreement. In addition to the on site provision, a financial contribution of £5768 towards 
public open space provision in the Parish of Sandford in line with the requirements of Policy S5 
(Public Open Space) is proposed. This figure takes into account the public open space to be 
provided on site which has been subtracted from the off site financial contribution. The project 
which has been allocated for Improvements to Play Area including new adult exercise equipment 
at Sandford Play Area in Sandford. 
 
On the matter of affordable housing for this scheme of 13 dwellings, 3 affordable dwellings are 
proposed on the basis of 30%. The site allocation Policy SA1 - Fanny’s Lane, Sandford outlined 
that there should be a development of 27 dwellings with 30% affordable housing so this figure is in 
line with the policy requirement setting out the necessary percentage.  
 
It has been noted that Planning Permission 13/00498/MFUL approved a mixed development of 12 
open market houses and 7 affordable eco-houses; new access and estate road; additional car 
parking facilities for the Village Hall; closure of the existing Parish Hall Car Park entrance; 
provision of a children's play area for the Parish Hall; highway improvements to Fanny's Lane; 
footpath link to Snows and Meadowside Road; retention and renovation and use for car parking 
(Revised Scheme) on part of the allocated site. However the amount of affordable dwellings 
provided at this time was based partly on an exception site given the location of the development 
at the time outside of a settlement limit. 
 

Page 134



AGENDA 89 

The Local Planning Authority has calculated the 30% based on a scheme for 13 dwellings rather 
than across a scheme for 32 dwellings representing the entire allocation. The applicant has 
commented that on the basis of a scheme for 32 dwellings whereby 7 affordable units have 
already been provided would mean that only two affordable dwellings would be required on this 
second phase. However they note that they are happy to provide 3 affordable dwellings and that 
the additional affordable unit is a benefit to the scheme which outweighs any harm such as to the 
impact on the setting of a heritage asset. 
 
The s106 would require the submission of an affordable housing scheme setting out the mix and 
tenure to be agreed prior to provision on site. The provision of affordable housing on site will be in 
accordance with triggers set out in the agreement. 
 
Paragraph 204 of the Framework and Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations 2011 (as amended) set tests in respect of planning obligations. Obligations should 
only be sought where they meet the following tests: 
- Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
- Directly related to the development; and 
- Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 
It is considered that each of these obligations satisfies the relevant tests above. 
 
9. Planning balance 
 
The application should be approved unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the NPPF and the 
Mid Devon Local Plan, taken as a whole. The application is in full and there are no technical 
reasons why the application should not be approved, subject to the required mitigation set out in 
the report above. Impacts on biodiversity and landscape can be adequately mitigated through the 
design, layout and landscaping plans submitted, and the increase in traffic on the local road 
network is acceptable to the Highway Authority, subject to conditions. 
  
The delivery of 13 new homes, including the securing of 30% affordable housing (3 units) weighs 
in favour of approval of the application. Also weighing in favour of the approval is the financial 
contribution towards public open space and air quality mitigation. There could also be some 
modest benefits to the local economy, arising from construction and sales and additional spending 
by local residents on local services and facilities. The site is identified for development within the 
Local Plan and is located within the existing settlement limit for the town within walking distance of 
the centre where existing facilities and services can be found. Weighing against approval of the 
application is the concern identified by the Conservation Officer to the potential impact on the 
setting of a nearby listed building. 
 
However, taking all the above into consideration, your officers consider that the balance weighs in 
favour of approval of the application. Other matters put forward in favour of the development 
include an absence of harm to ecology, flooding, drainage and highway safety. Nonetheless, these 
are mitigating factors rather than benefits and the weight to be given to them is therefore limited. 
 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on public authorities in the exercise of 
their functions to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance equality of 
opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do 
not share it and foster good relations between different people when carrying out their activities.  
This is called the Public Sector Equality Duty or "PSED".  No persons that could be affected by the 
development have been identified as sharing any protected characteristic. 

Page 135



AGENDA 90 

 

CONDITIONS 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 

the date of this permission. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

listed in the schedule on the decision notice. 
 
3. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of The Town and Country Planning [General 

Permitted Development] [England] Order 2015 [or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification] no development of the types referred to in Classes A, AA, 
B, C, D and E of Part 1, Schedule 2 relating to the extension and alteration of the dwelling, 
extensions or alterations to its roof, the insertion of windows and/or roof lights, porches and the 
provision of outbuildings, shall be undertaken within the dwellings curtilage for plots 1 - 8 
without the Local Planning Authority first granting planning permission. 
 

4. Prior to their use on site, details or samples of the materials to be used for all the external 
surfaces of the buildings shall first have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
materials shall be so retained. Notwithstanding details provided, the Council’s Conservation 
Officer has set out that the stone quality and coursing should follow local traditions and with 
respect to render, suggests alternatives such as a roughcast render or painted brickwork to 
offer a texture. 

 
5. All planting, seeding, turfing or earth reprofiling comprised in the approved details of 

landscaping shall be carried out within 9 months of the substantial completion of the 
development or first planting season (whichever is sooner). Any trees or plants which, within a 
period of five years from the completion of the development die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of 
similar size and species. Once provided, the landscaping scheme shall be so retained. 

 
6. Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and 

approved a Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) including: 
(a) the timetable of the works; 
(b) daily hours of construction; 
(c) any road closure; 
(d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with such 
vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays inc.; 
9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and 
Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 
(e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and 
the frequency of their visits; 
(f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, 
crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction 
phases; 
(g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building 
materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with 
confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for 
loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local 
Planning Authority; 
(h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; 

Page 136



AGENDA 91 

(i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and  
(j) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit 
construction staff vehicles parking off-site  
(k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations 
(l) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 
(m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking. 
(n) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement 
of any work; 
 
The CEMP shall also identify the steps and procedures that will be implemented to minimise 
the creation and impact of noise, vibration, dust and waste disposal resulting from the site 
preparation, groundwork and construction phases of the development and manage 
Heavy/Large Goods Vehicle access to the site. It shall include details of the hours of operation 
and measures to be employed to prevent the egress of mud, water and other detritus onto the 
public and any non-adopted highways. Once approved the CEMP shall be adhered to at all 
times, unless otherwise first agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

 
7. The proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting, 

sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, road maintenance/vehicle 
overhang margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, car parking and street furniture 
shall be constructed and laid out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local 
Planning Authority in writing before their construction begins. For this purpose, plans and 
sections indicating, as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method 
of construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
8. In accordance with details that shall previously have been submitted to, and approved by, the 

Local Planning Authority, provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface 
water so that none drains on to any County Highway. 

 
9. Any dwelling constructed shall not be occupied until the access, parking and turning areas 

associated with that plot have been provided in accordance with the approved plans. Following 
their provision these facilities shall be so retained. 

 
10. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 

development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to the 
Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in 
accordance with details to be agreed in writing by the Local Authority, and where remediation 
is necessary a remediation scheme, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification 
report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
11. No development hereby permitted shall commence until the following information has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
(a) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood Risk Assessment Weaver's 
Way Sandford 32002-BPC-ZZ-XX-RP-C-0000 
(b) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt runoff from the site during 
construction of the development hereby permitted. 
(c) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water drainage 
system. 
(d) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site. 

Page 137



AGENDA 92 

(e) Evidence there is agreement in principle from South West Water 
No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works have been approved and 
implemented in accordance with the details under (a) - (e) above. 

 
12. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

recommendations and mitigation outlined within the Ecological Appraisal, dated February 2021 
and produced by Richard Green Ecology Ltd. Prior to occupation of any of the dwellings 
hereby approved, details shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority to confirm the 
location of the ecological enhancement measures installed for the bird nesting provision and 
bat roosting provision as set out in the Ecological Appraisal. 

 
13. Prior to the first occupation of the dwellings hereby approved, details of any external lighting 

within the application site shall be submitted, to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority as part of a lighting strategy with external lighting installed in accordance with the 
agreed details. For the avoidance of doubt, new lighting on site shall be directed away from 
existing vegetation with any mature trees on site to be kept as dark as possible without 
compromising safety on site. 

 
14. Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a more detailed Waste Audit 

Statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  For 
the avoidance of doubt, the following points need to be addressed in this statement: 

 Explanation of the method of auditing the waste which should include a monitoring scheme 
and corrective measures if failure to meet targets occurs; 

 Prediction of the amount of waste that will be generated once the development is occupied (in 
tonnes); and 

 Additional information on the reuse, recycling and recovery of waste during the construction 
phase which would be in line with the CEMP to be approved. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Waste Audit Statement. 

 
15. Prior to the commencement of the engineering operations for the SUDs basins to the south 

east of the site, full details and method for their construction shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
REASONS FOR CONDITIONS 
 
1. In accordance with the provisions of Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 

2004. 
 
2. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
3. To safeguard the visual amenities of the area and amenities of neighbouring dwellings in 

accordance with policy DM1 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033. 
 

4. To ensure the use of materials appropriate to the development in order to safeguard the visual 
amenities of the area in accordance with Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 Policies S9 and 
DM1. 

 
5. To ensure that the development makes a positive contribution to the character and amenity of 

the area in accordance with policy DM1 of Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033 
 

Page 138



AGENDA 93 

6. To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities of neighbouring 
occupiers in accordance with Policy DM1 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033. 

 
7. To ensure that adequate information is available for the proper consideration of the detailed 

proposals. 
 
8. In the interest of public safety and to prevent damage to the highway. 
 
9. In the interest of highway safety, and to ensure that adequate on-site facilities are available for 

traffic attracted to the site in accordance with Policy DM5 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-
2033. 

 
10. To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring 

land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, 
and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with policy DM1 of Local Plan 
2013-2033. 

 
11. The conditions are required to ensure the proposed surface water drainage system will operate 

effectively and will not cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, adjacent land or 
downstream in line with SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and national policies, including 
NPPF and PPG. The conditions should be pre-commencement since it is essential that the 
proposed surface water drainage system is shown to be feasible before works begin to avoid 
redesign / unnecessary delays during construction when site layout is fixed. 

 
12. To ensure the protection of endangered species, under the European Habitats Directive and 

the Conservation of Natural Habitats and of Wild Fauna and Flora [Council Directive 
92/43/DDC] which is implemented in the UK by the Conservation [Natural Habitats & 
Conservation] Regulations 1994 [Statutory Instrument No 2716] amended in 2007 and in 
accordance with policy DM1 of Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033. 

 
13. To safeguard the amenity levels enjoyed by the occupiers of neighbouring properties and to 

protect wildlife in accordance with policy DM1 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033. 
 

14. In order to produce a comprehensive waste audit statement that is in accordance with Policy 
W4: Waste Prevention of the Devon Waste Plan. It is noted that the current Waste audit 
Statement needs to explain a number of targets. 

 
15. In order that the SUDS basins are structurally stable and to prevent any impact on the 

immediate occupiers of neighbouring property to the south. 
 

INFORMATIVES 

 
1. The Public Health Team advises the applicant that with House types C1 and C2 the bedrooms 

are inners rooms with no primary safe means of escape in the event of a fire. Therefore they 
recommend that a proper hall is created at the foot of the stairs with access directly out of the 
property as the stairs currently descend directly to the living room which is considered to be a 
high risk area.  

 
2. If a private supply is to be used by more than one property or has a commercial function, The 

Private Water Supply (England) Regulations 2016 as amended will apply. A risk assessment 
and sampling regime will be necessary. The supply must not be used until the Local Authority 

Page 139



AGENDA 94 

(Mid Devon District Council) is satisfied that the supply does not constitute a potential danger 
to human health, including single domestic use. You must also register with the Local Authority 
(Mid Devon District Council) any private water supply. Failure to do so may result in a Section 
85 Notice, with which failure to comply is an offence. Please contact Public Health at Mid 
Devon District Council on completion of proposal.  

 

REASON FOR APPROVAL OF PERMISSION/GRANT OF CONSENT 

 
The site is located within the defined settlement limit of Sandford being part of an allocation for the 
residential development of 27 dwellings, Policy SA1. Therefore the principle of residential 
development on this site is accepted and part of this allocation has been built out. The quantum 
and density of the development proposed is slightly more than that of the policy aspirations 
identified within the remaining land allocation for residential development within the local plan 
policy. The access into the site to serve a development of 13 dwellings is considered acceptable to 
the Highway Authority. It is considered that the overall design, scale and layout of the residential 
development is acceptable in this location not resulting in a significant detrimental impact on the 
landscape. The application should be approved unless any adverse impacts of doing so would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
NPPF, taken as a whole. It is noted that concerns have been raised to potential harm to the setting 
of a nearby listed building but it is considered that this harm is less than substantial with the 
benefits of the scheme outweighing the harm. There are no technical reasons why the application 
should not be approved subject to appropriate mitigation as proposed with drainage measured 
considered to be acceptable. Impacts on biodiversity and landscape can be adequately mitigated, 
and the access arrangement and increase in traffic on the local road network is acceptable to the 
Highway Authority. The delivery of 13 new homes, of which three will be affordable dwellings 
weighs in favour of approval of the application as do S106 contributions towards public open 
space, air quality mitigation and on site public open space. Taking all the above into consideration, 
the application is considered to be acceptable meeting the requirements of Policies S1, S5, S8, 
S9, S13, SA1, DM1 and DM5 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033. 
 

The Human Rights Act 1998 came into force on 2nd October 2000. It requires all public authorities 
to act in a way which is compatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. This report 
has been prepared in light of the Council's obligations under the Act with regard to decisions to be 
informed by the principles of fair balance and non-discrimination. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 140



AGENDA 95 

 
Plans List No. 4 

 
Application No. 20/02128/FULL 
 
Grid Ref:  305040 : 111760  
 
Applicant: Mr Thomas Dolan  
   
Location: Pleasant Streams  

Uffculme  
Cullompton  
Devon  

   
Proposal: Change of use of land for the provision of 6 permanent pitches for the use of gypsy 

and traveller family, formation of a new vehicular access, hardstanding and 
associated works  

 
 
Date Valid:      4th January 2021 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 141



AGENDA 96 

 
APPLICATION NO:  20/02128/FULL 
 
Site Visit: Yes  Date of Site Visit: 4th September 2021 
 
At the committee meeting on 18th August members resolved to defer the application to 
undertake a site visit, this is scheduled for Friday 4th September.  
 
MEMBER CALL-IN 
 
The application has been called in by Cllr Radford if recommended for approval to 
consider;   
 
1) The planning history of the site – planning permission was granted to the previous occupier on a 
personal basis only on the basis that it should return to agricultural use once occupation ceased. 
2) The site is within 400m of livestock. 
3) Whether the proposed development constitutes over-development of the site 
4) Whether the development would result in serious highway and traffic concerns. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Grant permission subject to conditions 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
Change of use of land for the provision of 6 permanent pitches for the use of gypsy and traveller 
family, formation of a new vehicular access, hardstanding and associated works.  
 
The site is located in the countryside to the south west of Uffculme and north east of Willand. The 
site is sited to the south of Uffculme Road with access currently achieved via the private lane 
which borders the eastern boundary of the site and also serves the properties at Selgars House 
and Selgars Mill to the south/ south east of the site. The site area extends to approximately 0.65 
hectares. An area of approximately 1.3 hectares in the south east corner of the site has previously 
been used for the siting of three mobile homes for residential occupation subject to a personal 
occupancy restriction (see planning history), the residential occupation by the previous traveller 
family is understood to have been ongoing for in excess of 25 years.  
 
This application seeks permission for the change of use of land for the provision of 6 permanent 
pitches for the use of gypsy and traveller family, formation of a new vehicular access, hardstanding 
and associated works. The new access is proposed to provide direct access from the B3440 
(Uffculme Road). The submitted plan indicates that pitches 1-4 would be provided in the northern 
part of the site, adjacent to the eastern boundary. Pitches 5 and 6 are proposed to be located to 
the south of the small belt of trees across the site. The plan indicates that a new hedgerow would 
be provided on a spoil bank to enclose the western boundary from the wider agricultural field. 
Additional planting is indicated to the northern boundary and the eastern boundary to infill the 
existing access point. The plan indicates that foul drainage would be managed via a package 
treatment system located in the agricultural land to the west. Surface water drainage is proposed 
to be managed via a soakaway.  
 
The southern part of the site and extending west beyond the site boundary is currently being used 
for the siting of mobile homes in breach of planning control. A poultry house and hardstanding has 
also been constructed to the west of the site, however regularisation is not sought for this as part 
of this application.  
 
 

Page 142



AGENDA 97 

 
APPLICANT’S SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
Application form 
Statement in relation to details of hard and soft landscaping  
Information regarding Devon Hedges 
Access appraisal technical note by Sanderson Associates 
Ultidrive porous tarmac brochure 
Wildlife trigger table 
Planning, Design and Access Statement 
FDA1 form 
Statement re lighting and drainage 
Site location plan & block plan 
Letter regarding gypsy traveller status 
 
Revised/additional information received 4th August  
Revised block plan – ref PLP/2021 REV E 
Preliminary ecological appraisal 
Google earth images 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
95/00218/FULL - PERMIT date 5th September 1995Renewal of previous temporary consent for 
the siting of a mobile home   
05/01511/FULL - WD date 15th September 2005Variation of conditions (1) and (2) of planning 
permission 4/25/95/0219/R to remove the personal permission and allow continued use of land for 
any Gypsy family and to allow the number of caravans to increase to 3 residential caravans in total 
on the site   
05/02300/FULL - PERMIT date 8th December 2005Continuation of the use of land for the siting of 
three mobile caravans (resubmission)   
09/01039/FULL- REFUSE Change of use of agricultural land to provide 12 permanent pitches for 
the use of gypsies & travellers including the construction of 6 double amenity blocks and formation 
of access 
11/01238/FULL - REFUSE date 12th April 2012Variation of condition 1 of planning permission 
05/02300/FULL to allow the siting of a further (fourth) caravan and removal of condition 2 of 
planning permission 05/02300/FULL (personal consent to the Hooke family only) to allow 
occupation of site by persons falling within the definition of a "gypsy"   (APPEAL DISMISSED 
8.3.13)   
20/02128/FULL - PCO date Change of use of land for the provision of 6 permanent pitches for the 
use of gypsy and traveller family, formation of a new vehicular access, hardstanding and 
associated works   
 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES 
 
Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 – 2033 
Policy S1 -Sustainable development priorities 
Policy S3- Meeting housing needs 
Policy S9 – Environment 
Policy S14 – Countryside 
Policy DM1 -High quality design 
Policy DM3 - Transport and air quality 
Policy DM4 – Pollution 
Policy DM5 – Parking 
Policy DM7 - Traveller sites 

Page 143



AGENDA 98 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
National Planning Practice Guidance 
 
Planning policy statement for travellers (PPTS) 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
HALBERTON PARISH COUNCIL - 24/01/2021 - The planning application should not be accepted 

and request for Councillor Radford to the call the application in on the following grounds: 

The land was designated agricultural land and site permission had only been granted to the 

previous owner for a single unit with a stipulation that it should return to agricultural use.  

The site was within 400m of livestock. 

It was an unauthorised development and an enforcement order had been issued and ignored. 

The proposed development constituted over-development of the site and raised serious highway 

and traffic concerns. 

30/03/2021 - After discussion, the Councillors of Halberton Parish Council unanimously 

RESOLVED that the committee should object to this application and firmly recommend its refusal 

as previously conveyed on 24th January 2021. Furthermore, the request for Councillor Radford to 

the call the application in should remain in place. 

The Council is mindful of the planning history of the site and the restrictions which were placed on 

the original permission which included a personal condition that the land be restricted to the 

resident applying for such permission in 2005. If the land was subsequently vacated by said 

resident and her dependents that the land should be restored to agricultural land and all caravans, 

hard standing and private drainage systems should be removed. 

It is the council's understanding that the above conditions remain in place and that if 'said resident 

or her dependents' are not living on the land then there is no change of use available and it should 

revert to agricultural land and new occupiers would not be permitted to develop the site. 

When the new occupiers of the site started major development works, the matter was referred to 

the Planning Enforcement Officers but this has not resulted in the work being stopped given that 

planning permission for such development does not exist. It is noted that the planning application 

refers to retrospective permission being sought. 

The site is outside any settlement area for development, is in open countryside and in very close 

proximity to Selgars House and the three surrounding properties. 

In addition, access to/from the site is onto a busy road subject to the national speed limit and 

without street lighting. Furthermore, there is not footpath on the main road leading to either Willand 

or Uffculme and thus local facilities and the bus service is very limited resulting in journey to/from 

the site being by motor vehicle. The Council thus has considerable concerns with regard to road 

safety. 

Page 144



AGENDA 99 

The Council is also given to understand that poultry cages have been erected in close proximity to 

the existing houses again an area for concern. 

Taking into consideration the legislation and policies on the provision of traveller/gypsy sites, the 

development of this particular land would appear to fall outside the current guidelines and be in 

direct conflict with the conditions set out in 2005, the Council would strongly re-iterate its view that 

the application should be refused. 

21/06/2021- At the Halberton Parish Council meeting on 8th June 2021, it was unanimously 

RESOLVED to write to you regarding the above application and to raise the Council's concern, 

and that of local residents, to the continued delay in MDDC making a decision on this application. 

As I am sure you will appreciate, the time taken to deal with the application is having an adverse 

effect on local residents. It is the Council's understanding that planning applications should be 

dealt with in a timely fashion and this application has been with MDDC for over six months. Whilst 

the delay continues potentially further unauthorised development of the site could and may have 

been undertaken. 

As you are aware, the Councillors of Halberton Parish Council unanimously RESOLVED that the 

committee should object to this application and firmly recommend its refusal as conveyed to you 

on 24th January 2021 and again on 29th March 2021. The Council is mindful of the planning 

history of the site and the restrictions which were placed on the original permission and that the 

matter has been referred to the Planning Enforcement Officers. The Council, in its letter of 29th 

March 2021, asked that Councillor Radford call the application in and the Council would request 

that the application is now dealt with exponentially. 

 

WILLAND PARISH COUNCIL - 01/02/2021 - Willand Parish Council discussed this application at 

a special meeting of the Planning Committee on 28 January 2021. It was the unanimous decision 

of the committee that it should object to this application and firmly recommend refusal. 

The members were aware of the planning history of the site and the restrictions which were placed 

on the original permission and a number of attempts to achieve variations to the conditions to 

remove a restriction and to enlarge the capacity of the site. In 2005 an approval was obtained and 

three applicable conditions were that - 1. no more than 3 caravans should be on site; 2. there was 

a personal condition to the resident restricting occupation to her and her dependents and the third 

condition is stated to be "In the event that the application site becomes no longer required for the 

purpose referred to in conditions 1 and 2 of this permission, the three mobile caravans shall be 

removed from the site along with the hardened areas therein and the private septic tank drainage 

system previously serving this development shall become definite and the land shall be restored to 

agricultural land." These conditions have been tested a number of times over the years but 

variations have been refused in the main. 

Members were also aware that in the summer of 2020 the site was offered for sale which led to 

nearby residents raising concerns with planning officers resulting in a clear assurance that "I have 

looked at the history of the site and past permissions and can confirm that the permission would 

only allow the caravans to be occupied by Mrs *** H**** and/or her dependants who also need to 

meet the definition of gypsies. This would therefore extend to her children and grandchildren." A 

request for clarification as to the status of the land met with the following officer response - "The 

Page 145



AGENDA 100 

land itself does not benefit from any change of use. If the caravans are not occupied by Mrs H**** 

or dependants as the condition requires then the piece of land would revert back to agricultural 

land." 

With this information members treated the application as for a gypsy traveller site outside of any 

settlement area for development and therefore in open countryside and in very close proximity to 

an existing small community of Selgars House and Selgars Mill which amounts to four dwellings. 

There are also Selgars Cottages in the vicinity. 

It is noted that new occupiers of the site started major works to develop the site in November 

2020. It is known that the matter was referred to the Planning Enforcement Officers yet works 

progressed through November and December. Councillors were concerned and disappointed to 

see that no meaningful action appeared to have been taken to stop the unapproved development 

and it has been allowed to expand making matters more difficult to recover the correct position. 

On the Application form at 5 a description of the application reads "Part retrospective application 

for the change of use of land to provide 6no permanent pitches for residential use by Gypsy & 

Traveller family with associated development including formation of a new access, hardstanding 

and new Devon banks." There is no mention at this point of poultry cages or stables but the 

stables are mentioned in other documents. No substantive evidence is provided in the papers to 

show that the applicant is a gypsy or traveller as defined in legislation. 

At 9 it refers to there being 6 existing car parking spaces which will be increased to 10. 

Photographs of the site show a lorry, container and other vehicles. 

At 13 it states that foul sewage will be dealt with by a 'package treatment plant' but elsewhere in 

the application papers it refers to removing one cess pit and replacing it with a more modern one. 

What is going to be approved? 

At 16 it states that there will be no gain of residential units, yet the application is for an increase 

from 3 to 6 when in fact there should be none. In the Design and Access Statement there is a 

reference to existing buildings being replaced by 4 further mobile units. This needs clarification. 

The Design and Access Statement contains unclear and confusing statements in contradiction of 

points made in other documents. 

It states: "do not intend to erect any further buildings so the landscape, visual impact and 

development will remain almost the same as it is now except for a small extension to the 

hardstanding." Members see this as a contradiction of what is sought and what has already been 

provided and can be observed on site. There are to be 6 permanent pitches instead of 3, there is 

to be more hardstanding, more fencing, the creation of new hedge banks, a new entrance onto the 

road with a drive through the site of tarmacadam and moveable stables. No mention is made of 

the comprehensive array of poultry pens which are evidenced in a photograph provided by an 

objector. 

It is stated that: "The only lighting will be that which is attached to the mobile homes." In the 

application papers is detail of a lighting scheme which includes lampposts situated around the site. 

Page 146



AGENDA 101 

It further states: "Overall, there would be little alteration to the appearance of the site and the 

development." Further into the document it states: "the site will be completely redeveloped." Much 

is made of agreeing to conditions but there has been no compliance to the original condition that 

the site should be returned to agricultural land if the previous owner and dependents left the site. 

Members note the Highway comments and the fact that great reliance is placed on documentation 

which is 11 years old. This is a straight stretch of road with the national 60mph speed limit and the 

new entrance is to be introduced in close proximity to two existing entrances. 

It is noted that MDDC Public Health has no objection but it is not clear that they have taken into 

account the extensive poultry pens, potential manure stores and flies all of which will be in close 

proximity to an adjoining property. 

The Design and Access Statement refers to requirements of a previous policy which has now been 

replaced by The Mid Devon Local Plan 2013 - 2033 which was adopted in July 2020 and it is on 

these policies that considerations have been made which lead to the objection and 

recommendation for refusal of this application. 

Policy S 1 

g) Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes through a diverse housing mix and by meeting 

the housing needs of all sectors of the community including the provision of accessible housing for 

the elderly and disabled, those wishing to build their own home, affordable housing and gypsy and 

traveller pitches. 

Earlier comment has been made as to substantiating the claim for the applicants being 

gypsies/travellers. 

Policy S 3 

e) A five year supply of gypsy and traveller pitches will be allocated on deliverable sites within Mid 

Devon to ensure that the predicted need for traveller sites will be met. A further supply of 

developable sites or broad locations for growth will be identified equivalent to a further ten years of 

predicted growth. The Housing Authority will seek to provide a public site for gypsy and traveller 

pitches within Mid Devon, subject to the availability of funding. 

2.31 As set out in the Government statement 'Planning policy for traveller sites' the government's 

aim is to ensure fair and equal treatment for gypsies and travellers in a way that facilitates the 

traditional and nomadic way of life of travellers while respecting the interests of the settled 

community. To achieve this aim the statement indicates that working collaboratively local planning 

authorities should make their own assessment of need for traveller sites and identify a five year 

supply of deliverable sites with a further ten year supply of developable sites or broad locations for 

growth on top of this. 

Further advice is contained later in the paragraph: 

The need for gypsy and traveller pitches will be accommodated by pitches within larger housing 

sites, for example at Tiverton Eastern Urban Extension, North West Cullompton, East Cullompton 

and Pedlerspool in Crediton. The Council's preferred approach is for on-site provision as part of 

Page 147



AGENDA 102 

larger housing proposals TIV1, CU1, CU7 and CRE5. Provision off-site will only be accepted 

where it is demonstrated that provision on a different site would achieve an acceptable outcome 

for Gypsies and Travellers as described in Policy DM7. Where such an acceptable outcome can 

be demonstrated, off-site provision must meet the requirements of Policy DM7, and a mechanism 

must be put in place to ensure that the pitches are delivered. 

It is submitted that the location of this application site does not fit into this policy as it is far 

removed from any of the planned sites. It should be noted that this will be a privately owned site 

and not for public use. 

Policy S14 Countryside 

Development outside the settlements defined by Policies S10-S13 will preserve and where 

possible enhance the character, appearance and biodiversity of the countryside while promoting 

sustainable diversification of the rural economy. Detailed development management policies will 

permit agricultural and other appropriate rural uses, subject to the following criteria: 

a) Affordable and low cost housing to meet local needs, gypsy and traveller accommodation, 

residential conversion of appropriate existing buildings, replacement dwellings, housing essential 

to accommodate a rural worker and accommodation ancillary to a dwelling; 

Paragraph 2.82 contains the following: National policy requires that new sites for travellers should 

be limited in open countryside that is away from existing settlements or outside areas allocated in 

the development plan. In certain circumstances the development of such sites outside of 

settlement limits will be appropriate, providing it can meet the criteria set out within Policy DM7 

(gypsy and traveller accommodation). 

Members are of the view that this site is in open countryside and not within areas identified in the 

plan and it does not meet the criteria of Policy DM7. It does not comply with National Policy which 

requires new sites for travellers to be limited in open countryside that is away from existing 

settlements or outside of areas allocated in the development plan. It will not preserve and where 

possible enhance the character, appearance and biodiversity of the countryside. 

Policy DM7 Traveller sites 

1. Planning applications for Pitches and Plots 

Planning applications for gypsy and traveller pitches, or plots for travelling showpeople, will be 

permitted where: 

a) Suitable onsite facilities will be provided including space for children's play; 

b) The proposal will have suitable environmental quality for residents including non-isolating 

boundary treatments; and 

c) The site will not cause unacceptable landscape or ecological impact and is not located in an 

area at high risk of flooding; 

d) Occupation will be limited to those who meet the Government's published definition of gypsies 

and travellers, including travelling showpeople or their dependents; and 

Page 148



AGENDA 103 

e) Safe and convenient access to local facilities is provided. 

Sites with associated employment or storage elements will be permitted where there is specific 

justification and the location, scale, and nature of the proposed development will not have harmful 

impacts on local amenity or the local environment. Gypsy and traveller accommodation may be 

included as part of the affordable housing requirement. 

2. Provision on allocated sites 

Gypsy and Traveller pitches on allocated sites (sought by Policies TIV1, CU1, CU7 or CRE5) 

should be provided on site unless it is demonstrated that off-site provision will achieve an 

acceptable outcome for Gypsies and Travellers taking into account: 

i) Pitch numbers 

ii) Site facilities; 

iii) Accessibility to services, including health and education; 

iv) Early delivery of serviced pitches or plots which are available for occupation; and 

v) The provision of an effective mechanism for delivery. 

Such sites must also meet the requirements of Part 1 of Policy DM7 above. 

4.28 To ensure that sites will meet the needs of the travelling communities and the settled 

community a criteria based policy will be operated as set out above to determine applications for 

traveller sites. In order to ensure that users of sites will have access to facilities, national policy 

indicates that local planning authorities should very strictly limit new traveller site development in 

countryside that is away from existing settlements or outside allocations in the development plan. 

Sites will therefore only be permitted where facilities will be accessible without recourse to a car 

either by walking, cycling or utilising public transport. However, sites must also be in locations 

where the local environment is of satisfactory quality, so locations adjacent to noisy or polluting 

land uses or in areas of floodplain will not be suitable. 

Members have concerns as to potential flooding risk from surface water and nearby water courses 

and ponds. The adjoining property has experience of flooding and this site could aggravate that. 

The site does not have safe and convenient access to local facilities. There is no footpath on the 

main road leading to either Willand or Uffculme. There is no street lighting and the road is subject 

of the national speed limit. The bus service is very limited and so most journeys to access facilities 

will have to be by motor vehicle. 

The site is very close to the settlement of Selgars House and Selgars Mill and some elements of it 

overlook windows in Selgars House. The poultry cages etc. are very close to the adjoining 

property. The site is also visible from the road. 

There are so many conflicts of information and areas of noncompliance with policy that this 

application should be refused. Reliance on dealing with issues by way of condition would appear 

to be inappropriate in the light of experience to date. 

Page 149



AGENDA 104 

18/03/2021- Willand Parish Council discussed this application at a special meeting of the Planning 

Committee on 18 March 2021. It was the unanimous decision of the committee that it should 

maintain its objection to this application and firmly recommend refusal. 

The representations made in the response by the Parish Council dated 1 February 2021 to the 

original retrospective planning application are still considered relevant and should be taken, in full, 

as being part of this latest response.  

Members are concerned that the application and updated/resubmitted papers do not contain 

sufficient and clear information with regard to a number of aspects. Inconsistencies and misleading 

information from the original application has not been addressed thereby inviting consultation on 

incomplete information. 

The continued reference to the use of or amendment to conditions to deal with any issues does 

not give confidence of enforceability particularly when balanced against the management and 

development of the site thus far. 

Status of Applicant. 

The status of the applicant to substantiate the description of being a gypsy or traveller family has 

still not been established. The Parish Councillors are aware of information that the applicant has 

an established business and personal address elsewhere which is suggested to have been a 

permanent address and not substantiating a nomadic lifestyle.  

Land ownership. 

Land ownership details are still not clarified on the application form certificate and Land Registry 

records appear to still show the land being registered to the previous owner. 

Block Plan  

The revised block plan is misleading in that it gives a false impression with large areas of green 

when a different picture would be conveyed if the roadway and the areas for hard standing were 

clearly identified to scale and in a different colour. It does convey the extent of the original, now 

unapproved site area, and shows how considerably large and intrusive the new site will be on the 

countryside. The substantive and large area of poultry cages are not shown and are still not part of 

the application yet they too add to the excessive visual adverse impact of the application if 

approved. 

It is suggested that the entrance gateway is not sufficiently distant from the main road to allow a 

lorry towing a caravan to completely clear the roadway. There is no evidence to show that there is 

any turning area sufficient to turn a lorry and caravan to ensure that vehicles can enter and leave 

the site in forward gear. 

Foul and Surface Water drainage 

The revised application shows that there will be five package treatment plants but there is no 

evidence to show why the site, if approved, cannot be connected to mains sewers. It is not 

considered that suitable and proven percolation tests have been carried out to show that the 

Page 150



AGENDA 105 

ground can cope with soakaways that will cater for the substantive area of proposed hard standing 

and new roadway. The ground falls towards Selgars House and Mill where there is a water course 

and ponds/lakes. This presents a potential danger for flooding or pollution from the site. 

Landscape and Environmental impact 

It is clear that the development of this site is already having an adverse and harmful environmental 

impact on the visual amenity of the countryside. The closed board fencing along the boundary with 

Selgars House is not conducive to countryside being more of an urban amenity. The proposed 

planting of non-native trees which will take a considerable time to establish screening should not 

be acceptable at this location and will further draw attention to this site not being conducive and 

integrated into the area.  

The proposed lighting is more in keeping with an urban housing estate than somewhere in open 

countryside. This will have a potential adverse impact on wildlife, particularly night 

hunters/foragers. There does not appear to be an up to date or relevant wildlife study. 

Conclusion. 

There is insufficient information for this application to be properly considered or approved. 

Because of this any consultees are responding to an incomplete application and unclear 

information. 

The application in respect of this unapproved development is already having a harmful impact on 

occupiers of adjoining properties and the visual amenity of the landscape and countryside. 

The application is in open countryside and is not compliant with policies in the NPPF or the MDDC 

Local Plan. 

The application should be refused and the site restored to open countryside in accord with 

previous decisions. 

 

UFFCULME PARISH COUNCIL - 08/02/2021 - Uffculme Parish Council opposes this application 

and recommends the Officer Refuse permission. 

The Council is aware of the history of the site and the previous permission granted. We 

understand that permission given under a previous application for the residence of one particular 

family on the site would be revoked to return the land to agricultural land when the site was 

vacated by the previous owner. Therefore we understand that this site should, in its entirety, be 

returned to agricultural land.  

The Council has strong concerns that the current owner shows no respect for proper planning 

process and or conditions as they have carried out extensive works on the site without the correct 

permissions - we appreciate the new owner may not have been in receipt of all of the details 

regarding the site and previous permissions, however, now that they are aware all development 

should have been halted.  

Page 151



AGENDA 106 

In the recently approved Local Plan there has been a designated sites for the gypsy and traveller 

community and we would expect the local planning authority to continue with the allocated sites 

within the new plan, rather than create new sites.  

The council has concerns over the very poor access to the site, especially given the very large 

vehicles that have been noted on site.  

Finally, this application was first brought to the attention of Uffculme Parish Council by concerned 

residents. The local planning authority did not initially consult Uffculme on this application.  

08/06/2021- The Parish Council opposes this application. 

The previous submission made stands, even though alternative plans and details have been 

provided. 

The Council has concerns over the sewerage plans given that the site is on a floodplain and 

whether all expected avenues have been explored adequately in respect of mains sewerage. 

The Council has concerns over the impact of heavy plant being kept on site and whether the 

necessary security of this would cause issue in respect of lighting and the impact of the site being 

seen from neighbouring AONB's. 

The land should be returned top Agricultural land as set out in the previous temporary planning 

permission. 

Uffculme Parish Council wholeheartedly supports Halberton Parish in opposing this application. 

 

HIGHWAY AUTHORITY – 20/01/2021- The site is accessed off the B3440 County Route which is 

restricted to 60 MPH. The number of personal injury collisions which have been reported to the 

police in this area between 01/01/2015 and 31/12/2019 is one slight accident in 2016. 

It is considered that an access can be achieved with suitable visibility, taking into account 

estimated speeds at this location, it is not considered that the impact will be severe or that there 

will be a safety concern with the proposal. The County Highway Authority agree with the Technical 

Note provided with this application and the previous comments made by Devon County Council. 

Therefore the Highway Authority has no objections to this application 

Recommendation: 

THE HEAD OF PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND ENVIRONMENT, ON BEHALF OF 

DEVON COUNTY COUNCIL, AS LOCAL HIGHWAY AUTHORITY, 

1. Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and 

approved a Construction Management Plan (CMP) including: 

(a) the timetable of the works; 

(b) daily hours of construction; 

(c) any road closure; 

Page 152



AGENDA 107 

(d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with such 

vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays inc.; 

9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and 

Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 

(e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and the 

frequency of their visits; 

(f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, 

crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction phases; 

(g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building 

materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with 

confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for 

loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local 

Planning Authority;  

(h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site;  

(i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and 

(j) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit 

construction staff vehicles parking off-site 

(k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations 

(l) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 

(m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking. 

(n) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement of 

any work; 

 

2. Visibility splays shall be provided, laid out and maintained for that purpose at the site access 

where the visibility splays provide intervisibility between any points on the X and Y axes at a height 

of 600mm above the adjacent carriageway level and the distance back from the nearer edge of the 

carriageway of the public highway (identified as X) shall be 2.4 metres and the visibility distances 

along the nearer edge of the carriageway of the public highway (identified as Y) shall be 215 

metres in both directions. 

REASON: To provide adequate visibility from and of emerging vehicles.  

3. No development shall take place until details of the layout and construction of the access have 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority. The approved details 

shall be implemented before the development is brought into use. 

REASON: To ensure the layout and construction of the access is safe and suitable 

4. The site access road shall be widened and maintained thereafter to not less than 6 metres for 

the first 10 metres back from its junction with the public highway and shall be provided with 10 

metre kerb radii at the junction 

REASON: To minimise congestion of the access 

16/03/2021- The Highway Authority has no further comments to make on this application. 

 

Page 153



AGENDA 108 

PUBLIC HEALTH - 18/01/2021 

Contaminated Land Condition - Contamination investigation and remediation strategy Info added 
under comments 14.1.21 
Air Quality No comments 4.1.21 
Environmental Permitting No objection to this proposal 04.01.21 
Drainage No comments 4.1.21 
Noise & other nuisances No comments 4.1.21 
Housing Standards No comment 18/1/21 
Licensing This will require a licence please contact licensing via licensing@middevon.gov.uk for 
further information. 14.01.21 
Food Hygiene No comments 04.01.21 
Private Water Supplies If a private supply is to be used by more than one property or has a 
commercial function, The Private Water Supply (England) Regulations 2016 as amended will 
apply. A risk assessment and sampling regime will be necessary. The supply must not be used 
until the Local Authority (Mid Devon District Council) is satisfied that the supply does not constitute 
a potential danger to human health, including single domestic use. You must also register with the 
Local Authority (Mid Devon District Council) any private water supply. Failure to do so may result 
in a Section 85 Notice, with which failure to comply is an offence. 
Please contact Public Health at Mid Devon District Council on completion of proposal. IF MAINS 
WATER IS TO BE USED, WOULD HAVE NO COMMENT 04.01.21 
Health and Safety No comments 04.01.21 
 
Condition - Contamination investigation and remediation strategy 
No development approved by this planning permission shall commence until a remediation 
strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site in respect of the 
development hereby permitted, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local 
planning authority. This strategy will include the following components: 
1. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 
I. all previous uses 
II. potential contaminants associated with those uses 
III. a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors 
IV. potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site 
2. A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed assessment of 
the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off-site. 
3. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in (2) and, 
based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation 
measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 
4. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate that 
the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete. Any changes to these 
components require the written consent of the local planning authority. The scheme shall be 
implemented as approved. 
5. In the event that unexpected contamination is found at any time during the approved 
development works that was not previously identified, the findings must be reported in writing 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. A new investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken in accordance with the requirements of condition 1 & 2 and where remediation is 
necessary a new remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
condition 3. This must be subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification 
plan must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority in 
accordance with condition 4. 
6. Where long term monitoring and maintenance has been identified as necessary, a monitoring 
and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the long-term effectiveness of the proposed 

Page 154



AGENDA 109 

remediation over a period to be agreed with the LPA, and the provision of plans on the same must 
be prepared, both of which will be subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme and when the remediation 
objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring and 
maintenance carried out must be produced, and submitted to the Local Planning Authority. This 
must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency Land Contamination 
Risk Management (LCRM). 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, are 
minimised and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable 
risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 
 
03/03/2021 - additional comments 
Contaminated Land: There is potential for some historic contamination on this site and therefore a 
Stage 1 contaminated land assessment should be carried out prior to determination. If the results 
of this indicate a concern then the following condition should be included in any approval: 
Condition - Contamination investigation and remediation strategy required 14.1.21 
Drainage: There is a criteria for foul drainage set by the EA and if the mains is within a certain 
distance of the curtilage the applicant must connect to it. The formula for this is 30m x the number 
of units, in this case 30 x 6 = 180m, or 30 x7 = 210m if they include the original unit (which they 
should do). The EA are requiring this because they want to reduce the number of package or 
private sewage treatment systems in order to protect the water environment. On this site people 
living nearby have confirmed that the ground is wet and the water table high so it is unlikely that 
discharging cleaned water via a land drainage system will be practicable, and the property next 
door seems to have suffered from surface water flooding originating from this site in the past. The 
percolation test, required if the mains sewer is too far away, should therefore be carried out before 
the application is determined. There are plenty of local consultants who will do these and they are 
working during the covid restrictions. Another reason for a mains connection on sites for travellers 
is that the occupiers may continually change so often no one takes responsibility for managing the 
private system, therefore increasing the risk of pollution sometime in the future. The current tank 
requires emptying every 6 months or so but the increase in numbers that 6 additional units could 
result in (up to 24 people) will substantially increase the volume of flow into this tank, mainly from 
washing machine and other ablution water. The cesspit would therefore need emptying much 
more frequently and this will quickly become difficult to manage. So if there is a main sewer within 
180 210m the applicant should be required to connect to it and therefore would not need to go to 
the expense of getting the percolation tests done and a quote for a PTP. They have filled in the 
foul drainage form but their answers to the questions are contradictory. South West Water will be 
able to confirm to the applicant where the nearest main sewer pipe is. 2.2.21 
Noise & other nuisances: 
Noise 
It appears that there are a large number of chickens being kept on the site for business purposes. 
There should be no, or few, cockerels but there is potential for noise, smell and flies to affect 
residents both on and off the site. The poultry enterprise needs to be registered with Defra so 
perhaps the applicant could provide more details of this so that we can determine whether the 
potential for nuisance is unreasonable and likely to impact on new and off-site residents. 
Lighting 
The proposed lighting columns using a carriage lamp type bulb holder with led lights are likely to 
cause local light pollution. The columns are plastic so not substantial enough for long term use. A 
more suitable system would be low height bollard type lighting, or if columns are used the bulb 
holder requires shielding and should incorporate a yellow filter so that upwards and lateral light 
pollution is avoided. 2.2.21 
 

Page 155



AGENDA 110 

05/05/2021- Thank you for the updated information regarding the availability of a foul public sewer 
in proximity to this site. The requirement is to connect to a foul sewer if there is one within 180m (6 
x 30m) of the site and SWW have now advised that the trunk main showing in the main road is not 
taking foul sewage. Therefore the only option is a private treatment system. We are very 
concerned about introducing multiple package treatment plants on this site, particularly as 
percolation testing by a drainage engineer has not been carried out and no information about the 
groundwater has been provided. It is clear from the presence of two very large ponds and the mill 
stream close by that the water table is likely to be high in this area; there is therefore a high risk of 
contamination. Package treatment plants cannot be located close to residential properties, and 
there must also be proper provision for a soakaway or drainage field in an appropriate location. 
We first requested more detailed clarification of the arrangements for a sustainable foul drainage 
system in our original comments in February 2021 and in the absence of this we do not consider 
that satisfactory provision has been made for foul drainage and would not be able to support any 
approval at this time. 
 
03/08/2021- EHO final comments on proposed foul water treatment system. I have considered the 

information provided by the applicant and his contractor on 2nd August regarding the proposed 

package treatment plant.  I have been to the site and seen where this will be located.  There are 

existing ditches along both the east and west boundaries of the land and it is proposed to 

discharge the cleaned water into one of these ditches (both of which are usually dry).  The ditches 

then run onto a surface water feature but only in times of heavy rainfall.  Therefore cleaned water 

discharged into them is likely to either soak away or flow away as is usual in these systems.  We 

therefore have no concerns relating to this proposal and recommend that the foul drainage 

scheme as designed is conditioned in any approval. We have no outstanding environmental health 

concerns in relation to any of the other matters in the email from the agent 

 
DCC- Policy and Project Coordinator (Vulnerable and Travelling Communities)- 
Thank you for your letter relating to the above.  I am happy to make the following observations in 
line with National and County Policy, and observations following a site visit to the above 
location with the applicant on 21st July 2021. 
  
Devon has only three local authority Gypsy Traveller sites:  Sowton, Exeter; this site is a long-
term residential site managed by Elim Housing, which holds a waiting list. Broadclyst, East 
Devon is managed by Elim Housing is leased by the County Council and offering new pitches are 
governed by the terms set by the landowner. Haldon, Teignbridge offers the only pitches for those 
identifying as New Travellers and is managed by Teign Housing.   
  
Whilst accommodation for the settled community is increasing in the South West there is 
still little provision for Gypsy and Traveller families. There are no agreed/emergency or transit sites 
in Devon and most of the traditional stopping places have been blocked off or developed for other 
purposes.  Due to this, it is becoming ever more essential for Gypsy and Traveller families to have 
an authorised stable base from which they may access services such as Health and 
Education, that the rest of us may take for granted. It also provides the security to travel for 
economic purpose, knowing that there is an authorised base on return.   
 
I met with Mr and Mrs Dolan and spoke at length about their travelling patterns and history, I can 
confirm that they also intend to travel for economic purpose in the future and use this private family 
site as a base, from which to access education and welfare services in between travelling. They 
meet the definition of Gypsy Traveller for planning purposes and their application should be 
treated as such.  There is a need within the family for 3 extra pitches and this will provide further 

Page 156



AGENDA 111 

pitches for their family who now have families of their own.  It is increasingly difficult for this 
community to go through the planning process without resentment or opposition from surrounding 
neighbours and community; a lot of this is steeped in the perception of what a Gypsy or a Traveller 
is, rather than who they are.  This family is willing to work with the local authority to overcome any 
planning issue that might come up and I hope that this be taken into consideration at decision 
stage.  The Communities Team supports the Dolan’s in their application. 
  
Small private sites continue to be the best option for local planning and housing authorities in 
relation to accommodation for Gypsies and Travellers.  Meeting this need in Devon is important if 
the number of unauthorised encampments and unauthorised developments are to reduce across 
the county, at the same time it allows local planning authorities to fulfil their responsibility to meet 
the accommodation need alongside other communities in Devon.  
 
The last time a needs assessment was carried out in this local authority area was in 2015.  At that 
point, formulas and techniques were used by an out of county consultancy firm who didn’t have the 
local knowledge and connection to the communities they were making assessments on at that 
time; it is my opinion working in this role for over 17 years, that the validity of figures being relied 
on for 2021 just isn’t reliable enough to satisfy the need that plainly exists with this family.  So, 
whilst on paper it could be said that the land supply for Gypsy Traveller pitches are being met up 
to 2024, in reality, it has to be asked, how many of those pitches are going to be deliverable and 
usable in that time frame?  When there is already in existence a site which could be extended by 
this family, who are willing to work sympathetically with the local authority.  
 
I would urge the decision makers for this application to also consider that if this is refused, not only 
would the 3 extra pitches not be provided, but there will also be a loss of 3 pitches in the process; 
this would be such a shame considering the site has been in existence as a Gypsy Travellers site 
for decades; with so few pitches being granted for this community in comparison with more 
general housing across the district area. 
   
The County Council has a range of responsibilities in planning matters and, on education, health 
and welfare grounds this application is supported, recognising the lack of pitches available 
on authorised sites within Devon.  
 
 
SOUTH WEST WATER- 12/03/2021- Following receipt of a Consultation Request for the above 
application, South West Water confirm that we hold no objection. 
 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
At the time of writing this report 22 letters of objection have been received and 6 letters of support, 
the key issues are summarised below; 
 

1. The council should require evidence of the nomadic lifestyle of the family  
2. The scale is too large for the area 
3. The proposal would be harmful to the character and appearance of the area by the degree 

of urbanisation, scale and density 
4. The proposed semi-permanent chalets do not match the aesthetic of other buildings in the 

area or heritage. Surrounding buildings are two storey stone and slate.  
5. The roof pitch of surrounding buildings is around 35 degrees, the proposed are flat or 

negligible incline 
6. The countryside in this area is being rapidly eroded e.g. Through expansion of Hitchcocks 

and Mid Devon Business parks and development at Junction 27 
7. The development is visible from the public highway  

Page 157



AGENDA 112 

8. The chalets have poor insulation standards and are not expected to meet sustainability 
targets 

9. Additional use of the driveway by the applicants has already caused big problems in the 
means by which other residents join the busy public highway 

10. The proposed new access would add another access route onto an already dangerous 
road 

11. The application does not relinquish access to the shared driveway, despite the new access 
proposed 

12. There have been two serious accidents and one slight along this stretch of road 
13. The grass banks along the lane have been driven on and littered 
14. The hardstanding poses an additional risk for surrounding properties 
15. Poultry houses have been constructed on site, these are not mentioned in the application 
16. The previous permission required the land to be returned to agricultural, this should be 

enforced 
17. Permission for further dwellings was previously refused 
18. The applicant has continued with intentional unauthorised development on the site  
19. The applicant removed a large proportion of the site’s hedgerow and trees without 

conducting a wildlife report 
20. The number of units proposed would dwarf the population at Selgars Mill/ House, change 

the atmosphere, increase sound pollution and increase pressure on local resources 
21. It is unclear why there is a need for doubling the capacity of what is already there 
22. The application falls outside the local plan  
23. The applicant fails to fit the definition of traveller for planning purposes 
24. The needs based argument is unfounded in this application 
25. The applicant is the owner of a site in Durham that was granted permission for up to six 

caravans for gypsy and travellers 
26. The development would result in damage to the environment both in terms of local 

residences and the need to preserve a ‘green corridor’ between Willand and Uffculme 
27. The development dominates the neighbouring properties 
28. The existing unauthorised mobile homes have very bright external lights that impact 

amenities of neighbours and biodiversity 
29. The development negatively impacts neighbouring businesses at Selgars Mill and 

threatens their viability 
30. The development is not appropriate in the countryside 
31. The layout does not make provision for children’s play or even modest garden areas 
32. The site does not have an existing watercourse as indicated on the FDA1 form. The wet 

clay soil is not suitable for soakaway systems. No percolation tests are provided.  
33. Concerns regarding increased risk of flooding to neighbouring properties 
34. There have been increased incidents of trespassing from people from Pleasant Streams 
35. The community burn plastic and other industrial waste on a daily basis which brings toxic 

fumes to Selgars Mill  
36. The dwellings would overlook neighbouring properties 
37. The site does not offer safe and convenient access to local facilities 
38. The site was never intended to become a permanent gypsy and traveller site 
39. Impacts to ecology have not been considered  

 
Support comments; 

- It is better that we pass these sites and there are more legal sites available than us not 
having enough sites in the area and force gypsy and travellers into living illegally and 
causing greater disruption 

- The proposal would provide homes for five families in a community 
- Everyone has a right to a home 
- The encampment is thoughtfully placed 

Page 158



AGENDA 113 

- Pleasant Streams has been a gypsy and traveller site for over 40 years, how is someone 
else living there different to someone buying a house 

- Selgars Mill is now home to multiple families and business so what is the difference in 
having multiple families here 

- The proposal would benefit the community 
 
MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS AND OBSERVATIONS 
 
The main issues in the determination of this application are: 

1. Policy and principal of development 
2. Highway and access  
3. Impact to the character and appearance of the area 
4. Design and amenities of future occupiers  
5. Impact to the amenities of neighbouring occupiers 
6. Flood risk and drainage  
7. Ecology and biodiversity 
8. Other issues  

 
1. Policy and principle of development 

 
Policy S1 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013- 2033 requires development to support the creation of 
sustainable communities through various priorities including a development focus at the larger 
towns; promoting sustainable transport by reducing the need to travel by car; by meeting the 
needs of all sectors of the community including gypsy and traveller pitches; requiring good 
sustainable design; meeting the challenge of climate change and managing flood risk; conserving 
and enhancing the natural environment and minimising impacts to biodiversity and geodiversity.  
 
Policy S3 sets out that a five year supply of gypsy and traveller pitches will be allocated on 
deliverable sites within Mid Devon to ensure that the predicted need for traveller sites will be met. 
A further supply of developable sites or broad locations for growth will be identified equivalent to 
ten years of predicted growth. The Housing Authority will seek to provide a public site for gypsy 
and traveller pitches within Mid Devon, subject to the availability of funding.  
 
Uffculme and Willand are both recognised as villages suitable for limited development within their 
defined settlement limits. However the site is located outside the settlement limits of both villages 
and in a countryside location where policy S14 states that development will preserve and where 
possible enhance the character, appearance and biodiversity of the countryside while promoting 
sustainable diversification of the rural economy. It states that detailed development management 
policies will permit agricultural and other appropriate rural uses including gypsy and traveller 
accommodation. Policy DM7 relates to traveller pitches and states; 
 
1. Planning applications for Pitches and Plots Planning applications for gypsy and traveller 
pitches, or plots for travelling showpeople, will be permitted where:  
 
a) Suitable onsite facilities will be provided including space for children’s play;  
b) The proposal will have suitable environmental quality for residents including non-
isolating boundary treatments; and  
c) The site will not cause unacceptable landscape or ecological impact and is not located in 
an area at high risk of flooding;  
d) Occupation will be limited to those who meet the Government’s published definition of 
gypsies and travellers, including travelling showpeople or their dependents; and  
e) Safe and convenient access to local facilities is provided.  
 

Page 159



AGENDA 114 

Sites with associated employment or storage elements will be permitted where there is 
specific justification and the location, scale, and nature of the proposed development will 
not have harmful impacts on local amenity or the local environment. Gypsy and traveller 
accommodation may be included as part of the affordable housing requirement. 
 
2. Provision on allocated sites Gypsy and Traveller pitches on allocated sites (sought by 
Policies TIV1, CU1, CU7 or CRE5) should be provided on site unless it is demonstrated that 
off-site provision will achieve an acceptable outcome for Gypsies and Travellers taking into 
account: 1i) Pitch numbers ii) Site facilities; iii) Accessibility to services, including health 
and education; iv) Early delivery of serviced pitches or plots which are available for 
occupation; and v) The provision of an effective mechanism for delivery. Such sites must 
also meet the requirements of Part 1 of Policy DM7 above. 
 
The NPPF refers to the Government’s planning policy for traveller sites (PPTS) which sets out the 
government’s approach to planning for traveller sites and is a material consideration in planning 
decisions. In assessing applications for traveller sites the PPTS sets out that; 
 
Local planning authorities should consider the following issues amongst other relevant matters 
when considering planning applications for traveller sites:  
a) the existing level of local provision and need for sites  
b) the availability (or lack) of alternative accommodation for the applicants  
c) other personal circumstances of the applicant 
d) that the locally specific criteria used to guide the allocation of sites in plans or which form the 
policy where there is no identified need for pitches/plots should be used to assess applications that 
may come forward on unallocated sites  
e) that they should determine applications for sites from any travellers and not just those with local 
connections 
 
Local planning authorities should very strictly limit new traveller site development in open 
countryside that is away from existing settlements or outside areas allocated in the development 
plan. Local planning authorities should ensure that sites in rural areas respect the scale of, and do 
not dominate, the nearest settled community, and avoid placing an undue pressure on the local 
infrastructure. 
 
When considering applications, local planning authorities should attach weight to the following 
matters:  
a) effective use of previously developed (brownfield), untidy or derelict land  
b) sites being well planned or soft landscaped in such a way as to positively enhance the 
environment and increase its openness  
c) promoting opportunities for healthy lifestyles, such as ensuring adequate landscaping and play 
areas for children d) not enclosing a site with so much hard landscaping, high walls or fences, that 
the impression may be given that the site and its occupants are deliberately isolated from the rest 
of the community  
 
27.If a local planning authority cannot demonstrate an up–to-date 5 year supply of deliverable 
sites, this should be a significant material consideration in any subsequent planning decision when 
considering applications for the grant of temporary planning permission. The exception is where 
the proposal is on land designated as Green Belt; sites protected under the Birds and Habitats 
Directives and / or sites designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; Local Green Space, an 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, or within a National Park (or the Broads). 
 
The Council’s land supply records for pitches indicates there are 15 pitches which have been 
delivered or which are consented and deliverable in the period 2019 – 2024, which meets the 

Page 160



AGENDA 115 

GTAA requirement for that period of 6 and the shortfall of 9 from the previous period. However, 
this alone would not necessarily mean that other sites cannot be considered. The GTAA is not 
considered to be an up to date reflection of household needs including households held on the 
Council’s waiting list (and these may have changed since the GTAA was undertaken in 2015). 
There is also concern with regard to the deliverability of some of the pitches in particular those 
secured through the outline planning permission for residential development at Creedy Bridge, 
Crediton (17/00348/MOUT). The condition on that permission is such that the applicant has 5 
years from the date of commencement of development on site in which to submit reserved matters 
for On-Site Travellers Pitches. As such the delivery of these pitches could take over 5 years to be 
implemented. The DCC response also questions whether the supply of pitches is deliverable. A 
public site has not been provided in the district and the Council is not able to identify any 
alternative available site to meet the residential needs of the applicant.  
 
The status of the applicant’s and intended occupiers as gypsy and travellers has been raised 
within representations received. For the purposes of this planning policy “gypsies and travellers” 
means: Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons who 
on grounds only of their own or their family’s or dependants’ educational or health needs or old 
age have ceased to travel temporarily, but excluding members of an organised group of travelling 
showpeople or circus people travelling together as such. In determining whether persons are 
“gypsies and travellers” for the purposes of this planning policy, consideration should be given to 
the following issues amongst other relevant matters: a) whether they previously led a nomadic 
habit of life b) the reasons for ceasing their nomadic habit of life c) whether there is an intention of/ 
living a nomadic habit of life in the future, and if so, how soon and in what circumstances. 
 
The DCC Policy and Project Coordinator (Vulnerable and Travelling Communities)  
Officer has been to site and spoke to the applicant at length about their travelling patterns and 
history, and has provided a response to the application which confirms that they consider that the 
applicant meets the definition of Gypsy Traveller for planning purposes and their application 
should be treated as such (see consultation response above).  There is a need within the family for 
3 extra pitches and this will provide further pitches for their family who now have families of their 
own.  
 
The site is located in a countryside location. Concerns have been raised in respect of the 
accessibility of services by sustainable means. The sustainability and accessibility of the site has 
been considered in relation to previous applications. The assessment made at that time has been 
taken into account and further considered in light of the current situation and policy position. The 
application site lies approximately 0.9km from Uffculme and 1km from Willand. Uffculme has a 
number of services and facilities including primary and secondary schools, pub, church, post 
office, shop and Magelake Hall. Willand also provides a variety of services including primary 
school, village hall, churches, church hall, pub, football club, shop, post office, doctors surgery, 
pharmacy and hair dressers. There is no footpath along the length of the Class II road providing 
access from the site to Willand or Uffculme. The road is relatively straight with free and fast flowing 
traffic. There is a regular bus service in both directions and onwards travel to Cullompton and 
Tiverton is achievable.  
 
At the time of the 11/01238/FULL the sustainability of the site and accessibility to local services 
was considered. The officer report states; “The provision of these bus services and the proximity of 
the site to both villages of Willand and Uffculme and beyond to the market town of Cullompton 
make the realistic availability of walking, cycling and using public transport to access local services 
high. […] the proposed site is considered to be in a location which is accessible to other forms of 
transport rather than a location which are reliant on the private car”. Whilst the appeal was 
dismissed, the Inspector also did not raise objection to the principle of development in this 
location.   

Page 161



AGENDA 116 

 
At this time, in the context of current policy position, the guidance in the PPTS and NPPF, it is 
considered that the site location would provide safe and suitable access to local facilities in 
accordance with policy DM7.  
 
The representations make the case that the site should be returned to agricultural use as that is 
what the previous permissions required once the occupation by the previous occupier was no 
longer required. The reasons for that condition relate to the policy position at that time which 
restricted residential development in the countryside but was justified by the “special needs for 
gypsy accommodation”. Notwithstanding the condition on the previous permissions, it would not 
prevent an application for planning permission being bought forward and which should be 
considered on its merits at this time in accordance with the relevant development plan and any 
other material considerations.  
 

2. Highway and access  
 
Policy DM3 requires development to ensure safe access to the transport network. The application 
proposes a new access from Uffculme Road to the north. The proposed access is 7.3m wide and 
visibility splays are proposed of 2.4m by 215m. The existing access would be closed by planting.  
 
The submitted transport technical note sets out that a development of 12 units on the site was 
previously considered and not refused on highway grounds. It considers that a 12m rigid vehicle 
would be able to enter and exit the proposed access and turn within the site. On this basis it 
considers that the proposed development is acceptable in terms of highway impacts.  
 
The Highway Authority have confirmed they have no objection to the scheme subject to the 
provision of visibility splays of 215m in both directions. The Highway Authority are satisfied that 
visibility splays of 215m can be achieved and recommend that these are secured by condition.  
 
There is sufficient room on site for the provision of parking in accordance with policy DM5.  
 
Whilst concerns have been raised with regard to highway safety, having regard to the comments 
of the Highway Authority it is not considered that the proposal would result in any unacceptable 
adverse impacts in terms of highway safety or capacity issues. The proposal includes provision of 
additional hedgerow planting to block up the existing access which will reduce the level of 
movements along the private lane. This can be secured by condition.  
 

3. Impact to the character and appearance of the area 
 
The application scheme proposes to provide the six pitches and associated access/ parking areas 
over a site area of approximately 6500sqm. The scheme partly uses an area at the south which 
has previously been used for gypsy and traveller occupation but significantly increases the site 
area further north and west. The site area is generally rectangular. It is bordered to the east by a 
substantial hedgebank with some tree planting, which borders the private lane to Selgars Mill/ 
Selgars House. The proposed scheme would impact the character and appearance of the site, 
particularly in terms of the change in character of the currently undeveloped area to the north as a 
result of the proposed hard surfacing and paraphernalia associated with the proposed residential 
use of the site. The proposed new access would also involve alterations to the existing northern 
boundary and open up views into the site from Uffculme Road. It is not disputed that the 
development will have an urbanising impact on this part of the countryside. The scheme proposes 
to enhance the planting along the norther boundary to infill any voids, the existing hedgerow to the 
east would be retained and additional native planting is proposed to infill the current access 
opening. A significant length of new native hedgerow on a bank is proposed to the east boundary 

Page 162



AGENDA 117 

which is considered to provide an enhancement to the character and appearance of the area and 
would help to contain impacts of the development in views from the west. The existing large trees 
within the site are proposed to be retained and additional landscaping is proposed around the 
south west corner. The proposed landscaping to the site boundaries are considered to strike a 
suitable balance between safeguarding the character and appearance of the area and the 
amenities of neighbouring occupiers without resulting in an isolating impact for future occupiers. 
 
The proposed lighting has been removed from the scheme and the applicant’s agent has 
confirmed they do not intend to provide any external lighting on the site as part of the application 
scheme. It is considered necessary to control the use of external lighting by condition in the 
interests of the character and appearance of the area, the amenities of neighbouring properties 
and ecology interests.   
 
The site is located in landscape character type 3E, Lowland Plains, the special characteristics of 
which include an arable landscape, agrarian character, notable estates and manor houses, intact 
orchards, wide open spaces with great landscape views, historic interest with archaeology and 
celtic settlements, roads following land contours and valued hedgerows with mature hardwood 
trees in hedgebanks.  
 
The site is clearly located in a countryside location. Uffculme Road links Uffculme to Willand, the 
area surrounding the site is predominantly of rural nature. However between the villages of 
Uffculme and Willand there are some existing developments which to some extent have altered 
the character, appearance and visual amenities of the surrounding area, this includes substantial 
commercial developments at both Langlands and Hitchcocks Business parks.    
 
Overall, whilst it is considered that the development would inevitably have an impact on the 
character and appearance of the site itself, it is considered that subject to appropriate conditions to 
secure appropriate landscaping and to control external lighting of the site, the impact would be 
acceptable. Having regard to the siting and topography of the site within its context, it is not 
considered that the proposed development would have a significant impact on the wider landscape 
of the countryside.  
 

4. Design and amenities of future occupiers  
 
The pitches are proposed to be sited in a linear arrangement. Each pitch includes two parking 
spaces and external space. Whilst there is limited designated garden areas, each pitch has 
reasonable external space and a grassed area. The layout is considered to provide an acceptable 
level of amenity for future occupiers and is not considered to result in overdevelopment of the site. 
Whilst concern has been raised regarding the proximity of the site to livestock it is noted that no 
objections have been raised on this basis by Public Health and it is considered that a suitable level 
of amenity would be achieved for occupiers.  
 
Concerns are raised regarding the sustainability credentials of the mobile homes that would be 
occupied on site. However the insulation value of the mobile homes is not the only consideration in 
the sustainability of the scheme and overall the principle of the provision of gypsy and traveller 
pitches is considered to be sustainable in this location.  
 

5. Impact to the amenities of neighbouring occupiers 
 
Policy DM1 states that development should not have an unacceptably adverse impact on the 
privacy and amenity of the proposed or neighbouring properties or uses. Policy DM7 requires that 
applications for gypsy and traveller plots will not have harmful impacts on local amenity. The 
Governments PPTS also seeks to ensure the interests of the settled community are respected and 

Page 163



AGENDA 118 

to reduce tensions between settled and traveller communities in planning decisions.  
 
The nearest neighbouring residential property is located at Selgars House adjacent to the south 
boundary. Selgars Mill is located to the south east and shares the access drive. Selgars Cottages 
are located to the east. The nearest property to the west is approximately 280m distant.  
 
Following discussions with the applicant’s agent the scheme has been amended to remove pitch 6 
from the south west corner of the site to reduce the impact to the amenities of occupiers of Selgars 
House. The location of pitch 6 as now currently proposed, is similar to the unit which has existed 
on the site under the previous permissions. As such and with the addition of obscure glazing to the 
windows on the south elevation it is not considered that there would be any significant adverse 
impacts in terms of loss of privacy or overlooking arising from the permanent siting of a pitch in 
that location.  
 
Concerns have been raised regarding the impacts arising from the poultry unit that has been 
erected on the agricultural land adjacent to the application site. The development that has been 
undertaken in that part of the land does not form part of this application and can be dealt with 
through planning enforcement and Public Health as necessary.  
 
The relocation of the access will reduce traffic movements along the private lane. Concerns in 
respect of flood risk and drainage implications are considered further below.  
 
The Council’s Public Health Team have not raised any objections in terms of noise or other 
nuisance. Overall, having regard to the siting, scale and design of the proposed development in its 
revised form, it is not considered that the proposed residential use would result in an unacceptable 
impact to the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and it is not considered that the scale of the 
proposal would dominate the nearest settled community.  
 

6. Flood risk and drainage  
 

Policy S9 requires that development will sustain the distinctive quality, character and diversity of 

Mid Devon’s environmental assets and minimise the impact of development on climate change 

through the provision of measures to reduce the risk of flooding to life and property, requiring 

sustainable drainage systems including provisions for future maintenance, guiding development to 

locations of lowest flood risk and avoiding an increase in flood risk elsewhere.  

The site itself is located in flood zone 1. However the site is located in relatively close proximity to 

flood zones 2 and 3 to the south of the site as well as the mill leat and pond associated with 

Selgars Mill. The site area extends to approximately 0.65 hectares, of which a significant 

proportion is proposed to be hard surfaced to provide access, parking and surfaced areas to site 

the proposed mobile homes on each pitch. A small part of the site in the south east corner is 

understood to have been previously hard surfaced as part of the previous occupation (see 

planning history). The application proposes to manage surface water run off from the mobile home 

units to a soakaway in the agricultural field to the west. It is proposed that the access and turning 

areas will be formed of porous asphalt and the pitch areas will be lined and a golden flint shingle 

laid. The implications to drainage and flood risk have been discussed with the Lead Local Flood 

Authority who are satisfied that the proposal is not likely to result in increased flood risk elsewhere. 

Their advice is that the drainage implications from the site can be adequately managed by further 

details to be submitted by condition. At the time of writing this report officers are awaiting advice 

from the Lead Local Flood Authority as to the wording of this condition and this will be reported to 

members as an update.  

Page 164



AGENDA 119 

 
7. Ecology and biodiversity 

 
Policy S1 requires development to minimise impacts on biodiversity and provide a net gain in 
biodiversity. Similarly policy S14 in relation to development in countryside locations requires 
development to preserve and where possible enhance biodiversity.  
 
The applicant has submitted a preliminary ecological appraisal in support of the application. The 
hedgerows on the site were considered to provide opportunities for foraging and commuting bats, 
the local surroundings provide good foraging and commuting habitat that is largely unlit. The 
ecologist considers that the proposals are low impact in relation to bats as there will be no 
significant loss of habitat but that the development has potential to devalue and degrade boundary 
habitats through light spill. The scrub and hedgerow were considered to offer suitable nesting 
habitat to common and widespread urban species.  
 
The report confirms that no further survey work is required at this time and makes 
recommendations for mitigation including a 2m protection zone around retained hedgerow habitat, 
precautionary measures in respect of any external lighting and the timing of works in relation to 
habitat removal (nesting birds). The application proposes the provision of approximately 110m of 
new native hedgerow planting and infill planting to existing hedgerows and therefore a significant 
net gain in the extent of hedgerow habitat can be secured. The ecologist also recommends that 
enhancements to biodiversity are achieved through the provision of three bird nesting boxes and 
two bat boxes should be installed on trees on the site. On the basis that the appropriate mitigation 
and enhancement measures are secured by condition it is considered that the proposed 
development is not likely to result in harm to protected species and a net gain in biodiversity can 
be achieved in accordance with policies S1 and S14 of the Mid Devon Local Plan and government 
advice in the NPPF.  
 

8. Other issues  
 
Intentional unauthorised development: The representations suggest that the occupation of the site 
and ground works that have been carried out are intentional unauthorised development. Intentional 
unauthorised development was set out as a material consideration when determining retrospective 
planning applications from 31st August 2015. The policy statement does not define what intentional 
unauthorised development is, the explanation relates to developing land without prior authorisation 
prevents measures being taken to mitigate or limit harm. In this case the applicants have carried 
out some ground works and are occupying part of the site without planning permission.  The 
actions that have been carried out have clearly caused friction with the local community. However 
in this case, it is considered that the unauthorised development have not prevented the proper 
application of planning policy and the impacts of the development are considered to be 
appropriately mitigated through the application scheme and details that can be secured by 
condition.  
 
Contaminated land: The Council’s Public Health team have advised that a contamination 
investigation and remediation strategy is required to ensure that risks from land contamination are 
suitably managed to prevent harm to future land users, neighbouring land, water and ecology. This 
is secured by condition.  
 
EIA: Due to its scale, nature and location this development will not have significant effects on the 
environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA Development. 
 

Page 165



AGENDA 120 

Public sector equality duty: In assessing this application the Council has had regard to the 

requirements of the public sector equalities duty within the Equalities Act to have due regard to the 

need to:  

a. eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 

prohibited by or under the Act  

b. advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it  

c. foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 

persons who do not share it.  

In respect of this application, the proposals relate to the provision of 6 traveller pitches for 

residential occupation by gypsy and travellers. The applicants share a protected characteristic of 

their race as gypsy and travellers which are not shared by the settled community who live in 

proximity to the site. Race is a protected characteristic identified by the Equalities Act 2010. The 

relationship between the traveller community and the settled community has been considered in 

the assessment of the application. The application is considered to be supportable in accordance 

with the development plan including policy DM7 which specifically relates to the provision of gypsy 

and traveller pitches. The LPA has worked with the applicants to revise the scheme to provide a 

policy supportable scheme and to achieve an acceptable impact to the settled community.   

 
CONDITIONS 
 
1. The date of commencement of development shall be taken as 4th January 2021, the date the 
application was registered by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
listed in the schedule on the decision notice. 
 
3. Within 3 months of the date of this decision and prior to any further works being undertaken on 
site, there shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, a phasing 
plan which shall include a programme of implementation of the approved scheme including the 
proposed access works, closing up of existing access, provision of drainage infrastructure and the 
landscaping (to be completed in accordance with details approved by condition 13). Thereafter the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved phasing plan unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 

4. Prior to any further works being undertaken on site, a remediation strategy to deal with the risks 
associated with contamination of the site in respect of the development hereby permitted, shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. This strategy will include the 
following components: 

a. A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 
I. all previous uses 
II. potential contaminants associated with those uses 
III. a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors 
IV. potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site 

b. A site investigation scheme, based on (a) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off-site. 

Page 166



AGENDA 121 

c. The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in (b) 
and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the 
remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken. 
d. A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (c) are complete. Any 
changes to these components require the written consent of the local planning authority. 
The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 

 
5. In the event that unexpected contamination is found at any time during the approved 
development works that was not previously identified, the findings must be reported in writing 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. A new investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken in accordance with the requirements of condition 4 and where remediation is 
necessary a new remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
condition 4(c). This must be subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification 
plan must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority in 
accordance with condition 4(d). 
 
6. Where long term monitoring and maintenance has been identified as necessary, a monitoring 
and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the long-term effectiveness of the proposed 
remediation over a period to be agreed with the LPA, and the provision of plans on the same must 
be prepared, both of which will be subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme and when the remediation 
objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring and 
maintenance carried out must be produced, and submitted to the Local Planning Authority. This 
must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency Land Contamination 
Risk Management (LCRM). 
 
7. Prior to any further works being undertaken on site to implement the permission hereby 

approved the Planning Authority shall have received and approved a Construction Management 

Plan (CMP) including: 

(a) the timetable of the works; 

(b) daily hours of construction; 

(c) any road closure; 

(d) hours during which delivery and construction traffic will travel to and from the site, with such 

vehicular movements being restricted to between 8:00am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays inc.; 

9.00am to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and 

Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; 

(e) the number and sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and the 

frequency of their visits; 

(f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, 

crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction phases; 

(g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload building 

materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste with 

confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway for 

loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local 

Planning Authority;  

(h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site;  

(i) the means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and 

Page 167



AGENDA 122 

(j) details of proposals to promote car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit 

construction staff vehicles parking off-site 

(k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations 

(l) The proposed route of all construction traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. 

(m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker parking. 

(n) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to commencement of 

any work. 

 

8. No works relating to the formation of the new access shall take place until details of the layout 

and construction of the access have been submitted to and approved in writing by the County 

Planning Authority.  

 

9. The site access road shall be widened and maintained thereafter to not less than 6 metres for 

the first 10 metres back from its junction with the public highway and shall be provided with 10 

metre kerb radii at the junction.  

10. Visibility splays shall be provided, laid out and maintained for that purpose at the site access 

where the visibility splays provide intervisibility between any points on the X and Y axes at a height 

of 600mm above the adjacent carriageway level and the distance back from the nearer edge of the 

carriageway of the public highway (identified as X) shall be 2.4 metres and the visibility distances 

along the nearer edge of the carriageway of the public highway (identified as Y) shall be 215 

metres in both directions. 

11. The retained hedgerow habitats on site shall be protected for the duration of the works on site 

by the installation of a protective fence details of which shall be submitted to, and approved in 

writing by, the Local Planning Authority prior to installation on site. The fence shall be installed at 

least 2m from the base of the retained hedgerows for the duration of the works on site.  

 
12. The development hereby permitted allows for the provision of 6 pitches only.  Occupiers of this 
site will need to comply with the definition of a gypsy or traveller, being persons of nomadic habit 
of life whatever their race or origin, including such persons who on grounds only of their own or 
their family’s or dependants’ educational or health needs or old age have ceased to travel 
temporarily, but excluding members of an organised group of travelling showpeople or circus 
people travelling together as such. 
 
13. No more than 6 caravans, as defined in the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 
1960 and the Caravan Sites Act 1968, as amended shall be stationed on the site at any time. Any 
caravans positioned on the site shall be capable of being lawfully moved on the public highway. 
 
14. Within 3 months of the date of this decision, notwithstanding the information submitted, a 
scheme of hard and soft landscaping including details of a the proposed hedgerow planting and a 
hedgerow establishment and maintenance plan, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. All planting, seeding and turfing comprised within the approved 
scheme, including the proposed new hedgerow and ‘additional planting’ depicted on the approved 
plans, shall be carried out in accordance with the details and timing agreed in accordance with the 
phasing plan to be approved in accordance with condition 3. Any trees or plants, including existing 
specimens to be retained, which within a period of 5 years from completion of the development 
die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next available 
planting season with others of a similar size and the same species.  

Page 168



AGENDA 123 

 
15. Within 3 months of the date of this decision, there shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority details of the proposed foul drainage systems including 
arrangements for future maintenance. Only such approved systems shall be used for the 
management of foul drainage from the development hereby approved.  
 
16. The development shall be undertaken in full accordance with the recommendations, mitigation 
and enhancement measures contained in the submitted preliminary ecological appraisal (Western 
Ecology, dated 3rd August 2021). The proposed enhancement measures as set out at section 7 of 
the report shall be provided within 6 months of the substantial completion of the development.  
 
17. Prior to the installation of any exterior lighting on the site full details including design, siting and 

illumination-type shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval. Only lighting that 

has been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority shall be installed and operational.  

18. Within 6 months of the date of this decision, the windows within the south elevation of the 

caravan on pitch 6 shall be obscure glazed in accordance with details that shall have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The obscure glazing shall be 

retained in perpetuity.  

 
REASONS FOR CONDITIONS 
 

1. In order to establish a legal commencement date for the development to enable the 
development to be monitored by the Local Planning Authority. 
 

2. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

3. To ensure the provision of access, drainage and landscaping features in a timely manner in 
relation to the provision of the residential pitches in order to safeguard the character and 
appearance of the area, the amenity of neighbouring occupiers in accordance with policies 
S14, DM1 and DM7 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013- 2033. 

  
4. To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological 
systems, are minimised and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 
 

5. To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological 
systems, are minimised and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 

 
6. To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological 
systems, are minimised and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 
without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. 
 

7. In the interests of highway safety and the general amenity of the area. 
  

8. To provide adequate visibility from and of emerging vehicles.  
 

Page 169



AGENDA 124 

9. To ensure the layout and construction of the access is safe and suitable 
 

10. To minimise congestion of the access 

11. In the interests of the character and appearance of the area and biodiversity in accordance 

with policy S14 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033. 

12. For the avoidance of doubt and to outline the special circumstances for this development 
within a countryside location in line with Policy S14 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-
2033. 
 

13. In order to protect the character, appearance and general amenity of the area of 
countryside in accordance with policy S14 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033. 
 

14. To ensure that the development makes a positive contribution to the character and amenity 
of the area in accordance with policy DM1 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013-2033. 
 

15. To ensure foul drainage is appropriately managed in the interests of the environment and 
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers in accordance with policy DM1 of the Mid Devon 
Local Plan 2013-2033.  
 

16. In the interests of nature conservation and in accordance with the guidance contained in 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

17. To safeguard the character and appearance of the area, the amenities of neighbouring 
occupiers and ecology in accordance with policies S14 and DM1 of the Mid Devon Local 
Plan 2013-2033.  
 

18. In accordance with the details shown on the submitted block plan and to safeguard the 
amenities of neighbouring occupiers in accordance with policy DM1 of the Mid Devon Local 
Plan 2013-2033. 

 
REASON FOR APPROVAL  
 
The proposed change of use of land for the provision of 6 permanent pitches for the use of gypsy 
and traveller family, formation of a new vehicular access, hardstanding and associated works is 
considered to be supportable in policy terms. It is not considered that the proposed development 
would result in significant harm to the character and appearance of the rural area subject to the 
imposition of planning conditions or detrimentally impact amenity of any neighbouring property. 
The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in terms of its impacts to highways, 
drainage and ecology. Overall it is considered that the proposal is supportable in accordance with 
policies S1, S3, S9, S14, DM1, DM3, DM4, DM5, DM7 of the Mid Devon Local Plan 2013- 2033 
and government advice in the NPPF and Planning Policy for Traveller Sites.  
 
 
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 came into force on 2nd October 2000. It requires all public authorities 
to act in a way which is compatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. This report 
has been prepared in light of the Council's obligations under the Act with regard to decisions to be 
informed by the principles of fair balance and non-discrimination. 
 
 

Page 170



AGENDA 125 

 

 

 

 

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



Major Applications with no Decision (Since last Committee Close Date) 
 
Members are asked to note that some major applications will be dealt with under the delegation scheme. Members are also 
requested to direct any questions about these applications to the relevant case officer. It was resolved at the meeting of Planning 
Committee on 21st March 2018 that with the exception of small scale proposals, applications for ground mounted solar PV arrays 
recommended for approval be brought before the Committee for determination. 
 

Application No Target Date Location Proposal Name Expected 
Decision Level 

 

21/01512/MARM 
 
25th October 2021 

 
Land at NGR 306965 
113252 (North of Belle 
Vue) 
Ashley Road 
Uffculme 
Devon 
 
 

 
Variation of condition 1 of 
planning permission 
19/01344/MARM to allow 
changes to plots 3, 4, 11, 12 
and 13 to enable a home office 
to be provided - Reserved 
Matters for the erection of 16 
dwellings with formation of 
access and associated works 
following Outline approval 
17/00106/MOUT 

 
Mr Daniel Rance 

 
DEL 

 

21/01552/MARM 
 
3rd November 2021 

 
Land at NGR 295508 
103228 (Silverdale) 
Silverton 
Devon 
 
 

 
Reserved matters for the 
erection of 20 dwellings with 
details of access, appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale 
following outline approval 
18/02019/MOUT 

 
Mr Daniel Rance 

 
DEL 

P
age 173

A
genda Item

 9



Application No Target Date Location Proposal Name Expected 
Decision Level 

 

21/01576/MOUT 
 
9th November 2021 

 
Land at NGR 298976 
112882 (Hartnoll Farm) 
Tiverton 
Devon 
 
 

 
Outline for the extension of 
existing business park for up to 
3.9ha of employment land and 
up to 150 dwellings with 
associated infrastructure and 
access with all other matters 
reserved 

 
Mrs Christie 
McCombe 

 
DEL 

 

P
age 174



 

INDEX REPORT 1 

 

LIST OF APPEAL DECISIONS FROM 29th July 21 to 26th August 21 
 
 

Application No Description Location Officer 
Recommendation 

Committee or 
Delegated  

Decision Appeal Type Inspector 
Decision 

         
 

20/01155/HOUSE  
 
Retention of garden room 

 
3 Bridge Cottages 
Lapford 
Crediton 
Devon 
EX17 6QS 
 

 
Refuse permission 

 
Delegated Decision 

 
Refuse 
permission 

 
Householder 
Appeal   

 
Appeal 
Allowed 

 
 
 
20/00317/CLU  

 
Certificate of lawfulness for the 
existing use of buildings and 
land on the 489 acre holding for 
agricultural use, including 
commercial storage within 3 
buildings 

 
Land and Buildings at 
NGR 289445 98605 
Winscott Barton 
Newton St Cyres 
Devon 
 
 

 
Refuse Certificate of 
Lawful Use 

 
Delegated Decision 

 
Refuse 
permission 

 
Written 
Representations   

 
Appeal 
Allowed 

 
 

        

 
 

P
age 175

A
genda Item

 10



T
his page is intentionally left blank



MDDC Report [title] 
v 

1 

PLANNING COMMITTEE       AGENDA ITEM
        
8TH SEPTEMBER 2021 
 
REPORT OF MYLES JOYCE, INTERIM DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
MANAGER, PLANNING, ECONOMY AND REGENERATION 
 
PLANNING AND BUILDING CONTROL PERFORMANCE  
 
Reason for Report: 
To provide the Committee with information updating on the performance of aspects 
of the planning function of the Council. Building Control performance information is 
also provided although this is primarily reported to the Building Control Partnership 
Joint Committee.  
 
Matters for Consideration: 
Performance against targets, the Government’s performance assessment and 
resources within the Planning Service. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: For information and discussion. 
 
Financial Implications: Planning performance has the potential for significant 
financial implications in the event that applications are not determined within 26 
weeks or an extension of time negotiated beyond the 26 week date. In that instance 
if requested, the planning fee is returned. Through the issue of planning permissions 
for new dwellings the service enables the award of New Homes Bonus money to the 
Council. 
 
Budget and Policy Framework: None directly. 
 
Legal Implications: The Government monitors planning performance in terms of 
speed and quality of decision-making. In the event minimum standards are not met, 
an authority may be designated as underperforming with special measures applied 
that allow applicants for major development to apply for permission direct from the 
Planning Inspectorate and bypassing local decision-making.  
 
The speed measure is twofold: firstly, the percentage of major applications 
determined within 13 weeks as measured over a 2 year period and secondly the 
percentage of non- major applications determined within 8 weeks as measured over 
a 2 year period. Accordingly, it is important to continue to meet these targets. 
 
The quality measure is also twofold: firstly the percentage of all major applications 
determined over a two year period that have been overturned at appeal and 
secondly, the percentage of all non-major applications determined over a two year 
period that have been overturned at appeal. The target for both measures is less 
than 10%.  It is important to continue to meet these targets. 
 
Risk Assessment: Financial risk because of fee return and the designation of 
planning authorities in special measures for underperformance is referred to above. 
These aspects are actively monitored, to allow priorities to be adjusted as required to 
reduce the risk. The speed and quality of the determination of major applications has 
been the subject of Government performance indicators for some time. However, it 

Page 177

Agenda Item 11



MDDC Report [title] 
v 

2 

should be noted that the application performance data reported does include a 
significant reliance upon agreeing extensions of time with the applicant. Whilst this is 
allowed within the performance reporting system requirements of the Government, it 
is an indication of a service carrying a high number of applications on hand and 
application assessment being overly protracted. It is proposed that during 2021 that 
effort is made to systematically reduce the reliance on extensions of time.  
 
Equality Impact Assessment: No equality issues identified for this report.  
 
Relationship to Corporate Plan: The effective operation of the planning function of 
the Planning, Economy and Regeneration Service including the processing of 
applications is central to achieving priorities in the Corporate Plan. 
 
Impact upon Climate Change: No climate change issues are identified arising from 
this report on service performance.  
 
1.0  APPLICATION DETERMINATION PERFORMANCE 
 
1.1 The Government uses speed and quality of decision indicators as the main 

means of assessing planning application performance. These indicators with 
performance requirements are set our major and non-major applications as 
follows: 

 
Speed:  

 Majors: More than 60% of major applications determined within 13 
weeks (over 2 year period). The Mid Devon figure over the last 2 year 
period was 73% but 91% for Q1 of 2021-22. 
 
The most recent national dataset for the 24 month period to the end of 
December 2020 places the performance for Mid Devon in the 4th 
quartile nationally (England) over this period.  
 

 Non majors: More than 70% of non-major applications determined 
within 8 weeks (over 2 year period). The Mid Devon figure over the 
last 2 year period was 91% and 91% for Q1 of 2021-22. 
 

 
Quality: 

 Majors: for applications determined over a 2 year period, no more 
than 10% of ‘major’ decisions to be overturned at appeal. The Mid 
Devon figure over the last 2 year period was 5.77% but 7.1% for Q1 of 
2021-22. 
 
The national dataset for the 24 months to the end of March 2019 
placed the performance of Mid Devon in the 4th quartile nationally 
(England) over this period. 
 

 Non-majors: This indicator of quality of decision-making is 
measured over a 2 year assessment period: no more than 10% of 
‘non major’ decisions to be overturned at appeal. The Mid Devon 
figure over the last 2 year period was 4.55% but 0.43% for Q1 of 2021-
22. 

Page 178



MDDC Report [title] 
v 

3 

 
The national dataset for the 24 months to the end of March 2019 
placed the performance of Mid Devon in the 1st or top quartile 
nationally (England) over this period; however, the percentage 
overturned has increased since then, with an expected reduction in 
performance. 

 
1.2 Application determination performance data against national and local 

indicators over the last few years is attached at Appendix 1. The latest 
performance results for quarter 1 of 21/22 indicates that the national planning 
performance indicators for the speed and quality of planning application 
decision making have been met and exceeded by the service and has 
improved since last year ad in comparison with preceding years. However, in 
some areas is not performing favourably when compared with that of others 
nationally. This is particularly the case with major applications due to a higher 
percentage being overturned at appeal than other Councils and less emphasis 
on agreeing extensions of time towards the beginning of the 2 year assessment 
period which is affecting the speed of decision making performance figure.  

 
1.3 For all applications determined within 8 or 13 weeks, the performance figures 

include those where there has been an agreed extension of time. This is in 
accordance with the methodology for reporting planning application 
determination set out by the Government. However, there is significant reliance 
upon extensions of time in order to meet the Government’s national indicators 
for speed of decision-making. Whilst the negotiation of extensions of time is 
allowed within the Government’s methodology, it is masking applications taking 
a long to be determined, with several extensions of time and with protracted 
assessment and rounds of negotiation. It is intended that during 2021 progress 
will be made to significantly improve decision-making so that it is more decisive 
and to reduce reliance upon extensions of time.  

 
1.4 The start of the financial year 2021/22 has continued on from 2021/22 

remaining highly challenging, with significant changes required to rapidly move 
to predominantly working from home and electronic means rather than paper 
plans. The service has been sustained although site visits were temporarily 
suspended and alternative methods utilised including maps, videos, 
photographs and the internet. The holding of Planning Committee meetings has 
also been affected during this period with transfer to virtual meetings and most 
recently the change to hybrid meetings. This has required careful scheduling of 
applications on agendas to seek to ensure that their length is manageable. A 
large number of applications required scheduling for Planning Committee 
consideration. Although this has more recently become more manageable with 
special additional  Committee meetings, one per month in June-September 
inclusive. During the later part of the first quarter of 2021-22 real site visits were 
also recommenced albeit in line with Covid-19 guidelines. This has been 
especially important for planning enforcement matters. 

 
1.5 This period has also seen high staff turnover and the appointment of an interim 

Development Management Manager and other interim staff. At time of writing 
this report there has been an ongoing issue with staff vacancies affecting 
performance, especially outputs and has slowed the effort of reducing the 
backlog of planning applications (set as cases received at or before 8th April 

Page 179



MDDC Report [title] 
v 

4 

2021. This is currently now below 70 from 234 when the backlog was targeted 
in late May. The backlog will not be removed as the reaming matters are 
awaiting sign off of related legal agreements and/or decisions to be made at 
Planning Committee. Nevertheless, it is anticipated that the planning 
applications backlog will be managed by the end of Q2 of 2021-22. 

 
1.6 At the time of writing the staff situation is as set out below: 
  

 Development Management Manager –take up permanent post 1st 
September 2021 

 Area Team Leader- Principal Planning Acting position since this month 
 Two Principal Planning Officers – agency planner cover 
 Planning Officer –agency planning cover 
 Tree Officer- take up post 27th September 
 Administration and Performance Manager returned from long term sick 

leave 16th August 
 
1.7 At time of writing this report, there are some 318 live applications on hand, 

which is encouraging as it is a clear downward trends leading to an overall 
more manageable caseload. Only one officer has a caseload of over 50 which 
is a significant improvement on the situation at the start of 2021-22 when 
several had caseloads of 60-70 applications which is unsustainably high. The 
service is not currently accepting new pre-application advice requests in order 
to focus on applications.  

 
2.0 Planning enforcement 

 
2.1 The Local Enforcement Plan was agreed by Council on 21st February 2018. It 

sets out prioritisation criteria for compliant investigation together with 
performance standards. Scrutiny Committee considered a report on the 
enforcement of planning control at the meeting on 14th September 2020 where 
it was resolved to set up a working group to consider this area in more detail. 
The working group is currently holding a programme of meetings prior to 
formulating a report to Scrutiny Committee. 
 

2.2 The appendix shows a fall-off in the proportion of initial actions within 15 days. 
This is a result of suppressed site visit activity due to Covid-19 an officer being 
off long term sick and Activity within the enforcement part of the planning 
service by quarter is at Appendix 1. The following graphs show enforcement 
cases: 

 
Planning Service 
Performance   

Target 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 

Enforcement site visits 
undertaken within 15 
days of complaint 
receipt 

87% 92% 81% 95% 89% 63% 

 
2.3 The table overleaf shows the reduction in site visits with the number of 

enforcement cases received remaining constant. This shows the live 
caseload as increasing appendix shows a fall-off in the proportion of initial 
actions within 15 days. This is a result of suppressed site visit activity due 

Page 180



MDDC Report [title] 
v 

5 

to Covid-19 an officer being off long term sick and Activity within the 
enforcement part of the planning service by quarter is at Appendix 1. The 
following graphs show enforcement cases 

  

 
 

2.3 The table above shows the fall in site visits undertaken whilst the cases 
received remains similar in number to previous quarters. A reduction in cases 
closed as therefore led to an increase in live enforcement cases but only to 
levels typically seen at most times in the last couple of years. 

 
2.4 The vacant enforcement officer post is to be re-advertised and in the 

meantime two enforcement officers have been recruited on an agency basis 
to deal with the existing backlog and cases going forward. Consequently, it is 
hoped that the statistical returns revert back to the returns on previous 
years/quarters shown above.     
 

 
3.0 BUILDING CONTROL. 

 
3.1 Mid Devon’s Building Control service operates in partnership with North Devon 

Council as NMD Building Control. The partnership service has been operational 
since April 2017 and under normal conditions is delivered from offices in South 
Molton. A Joint Committee oversees the delivery of the functions of the 
partnership service. 2020 has seen a continued consolidation realising the 
benefits of the partnership.  
 

3.2 The Building Control service has exceeded the performance target relating to 
the assessment of full plans applications. Response times for plan checking 
have improved throughout each of the year and are now consistently above 
target.  

 
 

Planning Service 
Performance   

Target 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 

Building Regulations 
Applications examined 
within 3 weeks 

95% 93% 94%  84% 99% 90% 

Building Regulation Full 
Plan applications 
determined in 2 months 

95% 96% 96%  99% 98% 100% 

 

Details Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Total Initial Site Vists carried out in the Quarter 113 97 94 83 25 73 90 44 34
New enforcement cases registered (in quarter) 109 107 120 73 56 80 65 64 68
Enforcement Cases closed (in quarter) 107 82 128 84 41 63 87 67 47
Committee authorisations sought               1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Outstanding cases at end of Quarter 180 205 197 199 214 233 212 205 216

Planning contravention notices served (PCN) 4 4 2 1 1 1 1 0 1
Breach of condition notices served 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0
Section 215 (untidy land) 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0
NOT330 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
REPNOT 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
ENFCOU 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0
ENFDEV 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0
TEMSTO 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0

Total Notices Served 6 5 2 1 1 0 3 3 1 0 0 0

Enforcement Notices Served

2019/2020

Enforcement Notices Served

2020/2021 2021/2022

Enforcement Notices Served

Page 181



MDDC Report [title] 
v 

6 

3.3 The graph below indicates the number of applications received per month. 
Application numbers have recovered strongly from the substantial drop in the 
first quarter of this financial year, culminating in the highest number of 
applications in October in the last five years. Activity remains high.  

 
 
Contact for Information:   Jenny Clifford, Head of Planning, Economy and 

Regeneration 
jclifford@middevon.gov.uk  
 
 

List of Background Papers:  PS1 and PS2 returns 
HM Treasury ‘Fixing the foundations – creating a 
more prosperous nation’ July 2015 
Improving Planning Performance: Criteria for 
Designation, MHCLG 2020 
  

 
Circulation of the Report:  Cllr Richard Chesterton 
     Members of Planning Committee  

Page 182



Planning Service 
Performance   

Target 17/18 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 

    Year Year Year Year Q1 

Major applications 
determined within 13 
weeks 

60% 82% 77% 81% 83% 91% 

Non Major applications 
determined within 8 
weeks 

65% 85% 73% 77% 85% 91% 

Other applications 
determined within 8 
weeks 

80% 90% 84% 95% 90% 95% 

Householder 
applications 
determined in 8 weeks 

85% 95% 89% 86% 95% 97% 

Listed Building 
Consents 

80% 84% 66% 84% 90% 81% 

Enforcement site visits 
undertaken within 15 
days of complaint 
receipt 

87% 92% 81% 95% 89% 63% 

Delegated decisions 90% 93% 94% 96% 96% 97% 

No of applications over 
13 weeks old without a 
decision  

(Less 
than 
45 
apps) 

44 75 76 79 118 

Major applications 
determined within 13 
weeks (over preceding  
2 years) 

More 
than 
60% 

74% 85% 72% 72% 86% 

Major applications 
overturned at appeal as 
% of all major decisions 
over preceding 2 years 
* 

Less 
than 
10% 

4% 3% 0% 5% 7.14% 

Non-major applications 
determined within 8 
weeks (over preceding 
2 years) 

More 
than 
70% 

79% 60% 85% 85% 95% 

Non-major applications 
overturned at appeal as 
% of all non-major 
decisions over 
preceding 2 years ** 

Less 
than 
10% 

<1% 0% 0% 2% 0.43% 

Determine all 
applications within 26 
weeks or with an 
extension of time (per 
annum –Government 
planning guarantee) 

100% 99% 99% 100% 100% 100% 

Building Regulations 
Applications examined 

95% 93% 94%  84% 99% 90% 

Page 183



within 3 weeks 

Building Regulation Full 
Plan applications 
determined in 2 months 

95% 96% 96%  99% 98% 100% 

 

Page 184


	Agenda
	2 HYBRID MEETING PROTOCOL
	5 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
	Minutes , 14/07/2021 Planning Committee

	8 THE PLANS LIST
	9 MAJOR APPLICATIONS WITH NO DECISION
	10 APPEAL DECISIONS
	11 PLANNING PERFORMANCE
	DMM report


